
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.

Children,Young People and 
Families Scrutiny Panel
20 June 2018

Time 6.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny

Venue Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Peter O'Neill (Lab)
Vice-chair Cllr Udey Singh (Con)

Labour Conservative

Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur
Cllr Obaida Ahmed
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar
Cllr Celia Hibbert
Cllr Asha Mattu
Cllr Beverley Momenabadi
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Clare Simm

Cllr Simon Bennett

Quorum for this meeting is four Voting Members.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team:

Contact Earl Piggott-Smith
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 551251 or earl.piggott-smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ 
Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 555046

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Page 2 of 2

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies 

2 Declarations of interest 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting ( 11 April 2018 ) (Pages 3 - 6)
[To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record]

4 Matters arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes]

DISCUSSION ITEMS

5 Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny Panel - draft work programme 
(Pages 7 - 10)
[Earl Piggott-Smith, Scrutiny Officer, to present the draft scrutiny panel’s work 
programme]

6 Children and Young People's Improvement Plan: 2017-2018 (Pages 11 - 120)
[Emma Bennett, Director for Children's Services,to present report]

PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY
[To give pre-decision scrutiny to the report

7 The Vision For School Organisation in Wolverhampton 2018-2020 (Pages 121 - 
178)
[Bill Hague, Head of School Organisation,to present report]



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes

Children,Young People and 
Families Scrutiny Panel
Minutes - 11 April 2018

Attendance

Members of the Children,Young People and Families Scrutiny Panel

Cllr Peter O'Neill (Chair)
Cllr Udey Singh (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Lynne Moran
Rosalie Watkins                                                   Catholic Church Representative
Cyril Randles                                                       Church of England Representative

Harnaik Singh Khun-Khun                                   Wolverhampton Youth Council
Amias Perry                                                         Wolverhampton Youth Council

Employees
Earl Piggott-Smith Scrutiny Officer
Emma Cleary Programme Manager
Meredith Teasdale, Director of Education HealthWatch Representative

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

1 Apologies
Apologies were received from the following members of the panel:

Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal
Cllr Mak Singh
John Dovey

Emma Bennett - Director for Children's Service

2 Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest recorded.

3 Minutes of the previous meeting ( 7 February 2017)
Discussion of this item was deferred to a future meeting.

4 Matters arising
Discussion of this item was deferred to a future meeting.

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes

5 Head Start Phase 3 - Progress and Impact Update
Emma Cleary, HeadStart Programme Manager, introduced the report and welcomed 
HeadStart Ambassadors Armani Osbourne and Emerson Morris to the meeting. 

The HeadStart Ambassadors commented on the positive impact on their lives of 
being involved in the programme and introduced a video which gave a summary of 
the main evaluation findings. The Ambassadors talked about the positive impact that 
their involvement in HeadStart has had on them particularly around gaining new skills 
and confidence. The panel thanked the HeadStart Ambassadors for their 
presentation. 

The HeadStart Programme Manager commented on the progress of the programme 
since the previous update report in July 2016. The HeadStart Programme Manager 
explained that the programme was aimed at developing and testing new ways of 
supporting children and young people with emotional mental health and wellbeing. 

The HeadStart Programme Manager briefed the panel on the five strategic outcomes 
of the programme and the links to other national policies aimed at ensuring at 
improving the mental health and wellbeing of the children and young people. The 
HeadStart Programme Manager gave further details of the progress of funded 
commissioned programmes and projects in the target areas. The main findings of the 
evaluation have been summarised in Appendix 1 of the report.

The HeadStart Programme Manager commented on the positive findings in table 5.1. 
which showed much higher levels of participation by young people than expected 
and the success of engaging a high number of professionals who have also 
benefitted from the programme.

The HeadStart Programme Manager outlined the options being considered to sustain 
the work of programme when the funding ends. An implementation plan will be jointly 
developed with young people, parents and professionals to explore opportunities to 
sustain the programme after the funding from Big Lottery ends in July 2021. The plan 
will be drafted by January 2019.

The panel discussed the methodology for assessing the number of young people 
who reported experiencing an emotional problem, who have been assessed has 
having benefited from the work of the programme. The HeadStart Programme 
Manager explained that the outcomes framework document details the methodology 
used to measure the success of the programme initiatives in meeting its strategic 
aims. The HeadStart programme provides support at four different intervention levels 
in the target area as detailed in the report.
 
The HeadStart Programme Manager explained that no formal assessment is done of 
a young person’s mental health condition. The HeadStart Programme Manager 
added that the programme is aimed at testing new ways of delivering early 
interventions and prevention projects that can support young people. The HeadStart 
Programme Manager added that HeadStart it is not a targeted programme, whereby 
assessment will be made on young people who many need more specialist support. 
However, HeadStart may help young people navigate that pathway.

The HeadStart programme is aimed at young people needing low level support. 

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes

The local and national evaluation will use a Local Evaluation Measure to assess 
changes over time in a person’s level of resilience. In addition, the HeadStart 
Partnership Board agreed to collect data against the indicators, with information 
available from April 2018.

The panel queried the membership of the HeadStart Partnership Board and the 
reporting and monitoring arrangements for the programme. The HeadStart 
Programme Manager explained that findings are reported to Children’s Trust Board 
and Health and Wellbeing Board. The Scrutiny Officer agreed to send details of the 
membership to panel members for information.

The panel queried the impact of the reduced allocation funding over a period of years 
as shown in para 7.2 of the report. The HeadStart Programme Manager explained 
that Big Lottery expect successful bidders to look at developing sustaining the 
programme beyond the funding period and secure funding to continue the delivery of 
successful projects. The HeadStart Programme Manager explained that this will 
present a challenge to HeadStart Partnership Board about how this can be done at a 
time of increased budget pressures.

The panel welcomed the progress made by the programme and agreed to receive a 
presentation on the sustainability plan presented to a future meeting of the panel.

Resolved:
1. The HeadStart Programme Manager present the findings of the 

sustainability plan to a future meeting of the panel with details of the 
options being considered.

2. The Scrutiny Officer to send panel members details of the membership 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Children’s Trust Board.

3. The panel congratulated the work of the HeadStart Wolverhampton in 
the positive progress made to meet the national five strategic outcomes 
and the impact locally on children and young people in target areas.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny Panel Draft Work Programme -
2018/19

The panel will have responsibility for scrutiny functions as they relate to: -

Children in need/child protection, Looked after children, Early help 0-5, Early help 5-18, 
Youth offending, Children’s commissioning, School planning and resources and Standards 
and vulnerable pupils.

Date of 
Meeting

Item Description Lead Report 
Author

Specific Questions 
for Scrutiny to 
consider

 Q4 Children’s 
Improvement Plan and 
the 18/19 plan

Emma 
Bennett, 
Director for 
Children’s 
Services

20.06.2018

 The Vision for School 
Organisation in 
Wolverhampton 2018-
2020

Emma 
Bennett, 
Director for 
Children’s 
Services

05.09.2018  Troubled Families Report Kate Lees - 
Strengthening 
Families 
Partnership 
Manager

 School exclusion action 
plan – briefing update

Emma 
Bennett, 
Director for 
Children’s 
Services

 Elective Home Education 
- DfE consultation: Home 
Education

Rachel King, 
Head of 
Service

• How effective 
is local authority 
monitoring of 
provision made for 
children educated at 
home? Which current 
approaches by local 
authorities represent 
best practice?
• If monitoring of 
suitability is not 
always effective, what 
changes should be 

Page 7

Agenda Item No: 5

https://www.lgiu.org.uk/briefing/dfe-consultation-home-education/?utm_source=LGiU+Subscribers&utm_campaign=5971959fa3-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2018_04_17&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_4e47157211-5971959fa3-199101229
https://www.lgiu.org.uk/briefing/dfe-consultation-home-education/?utm_source=LGiU+Subscribers&utm_campaign=5971959fa3-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2018_04_17&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_4e47157211-5971959fa3-199101229


made in the powers 
and duties of local 
authorities in this 
regard, and how 
could they best 
ensure that 
monitoring of 
suitability is 
proportionate?
• Should there 
be specific duties on 
parents to comply 
with local authorities 
carrying out 
monitoring if such LA 
powers and duties 
were created, and 
what sanctions 
should attach to non-
compliance?
• Is it necessary 
to see the child 
and/or the education 
setting (whether that 
is the home or some 
other place), in order 
to assess fully the 
suitability of 
education, and if so, 
what level of 
interaction or 
observation is 
required to make this 
useful in assessing 
suitability?
• What can be 
done to better ensure 
that the child’s own 
views on being 
educated at home, 
and on the suitability 
of the education 
provided, are known 
to the local authority?
• What are the 
advantages and 
disadvantages of 
using settings which 
are not registered 
independent or state 

Page 8



schools, to 
supplement home 
education? How can 
authorities reliably 
obtain information on 
the education 
provided to individual 
children whose 
education ‘otherwise 
than at school’ 
includes attendance 
at such settings as 
well as, or instead of, 
education at home?
• What are the 
advantages and 
disadvantages of 
using private tutors to 
supplement home 
education? How can 
authorities best obtain 
information on the 
education provided to 
individual children 
whose education at 
home includes private 
tuition, or who attend 
tuition away from 
home?
• Are there other 
matters which 
stakeholders would 
wish to see 
considered in this 
area?

 Early Help Strategy 
2018-2022

Denise 
Williams - 
Head of 
Service Early

 Children’s Trust Board 
14.11.2018  Wolverhampton 

Safeguarding Children 
and Adults Board Annual 
Report

Dawn 
Williams 
(Head of 
Safeguarding)

16.01.2019 School Exclusions Report Emma 
Bennett, 
Director for 
Children’s 
Services

27.03.2019 TBC

Page 9



Long list of topics - dates for presentation and method of scrutiny to be agreed

1. Supporting Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children – pre-suggested item
2. Mental Health Issues/CAMHS (Emma Bennett/CCG) – pre-suggested item
3. Youth homelessness – pre-suggested item
4. Unregistered independent schools and out of school settings

Page 10



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Children, Young People and 
Families Scrutiny Panel
20 June 2018

Report title Children and Young People Service 
Improvement Plan: 2017-2018 - Update on 
Progress and 2018-2019 Improvement Plan

Referring body City of Wolverhampton Council
Councillor to present 
report

Councillor Paul Sweet

Wards affected All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Paul Sweet

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Director for Children’s Services, People

Originating service Children and Young People

Louise Haughton, Principal Social Worker
Tel 01902 555534

Accountable employee

Email Louise.Haughton@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

People Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

14 May 2018
5 June 2018

Recommendation(s) for action:

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel is recommended to:

1. Consider and challenge progress on delivery and completion of the 2017-2018 Children 
and Young People Service Improvement Plan.

2. Support the completion of the Ofsted recommendations with those not yet completed 
transferring to the 2018-2019 Improvement Plan.

3. To comment on the 2018-2019 Children and Young People Service Improvement Plan.

Page 11

Agenda Item No: 6



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 This report provides a progress update on delivery against the 2017-2018 Children and 
Young People Service Improvement Plan including the Ofsted recommendations 
(Appendix One). A performance report is also attached (Appendix Two).

1.2 This report also includes the 2018-2019 Children and Young People Service Key 
Priorities (Appendix Three) Improvement Plan (Appendix Four). The panel is invited to 
comment on the plans for panel comment.

2.0 Background

2.1 Our vision for Children and Young People Services is to develop respectful and 
empowering relationships with children, young people and families, to ensure children 
are at the centre of everything that we do and to have high aspirations and high 
expectations of our staff and the families with whom we work. 

2.2 The Children and Young People Service Plan 2017-2018 and associated Improvement 
Plan was approved by Strategic Executive Board on 16 May 2017 and Scrutiny Panel for 
Children and Young People on 14 June 2017.

2.3 The plan is broken down by service area and each area’s Head of Service has overall 
responsibility for delivering the actions identified for their area. Progress against delivery 
of the plan is monitored and reported on a quarterly basis to the Children and Young 
People Management Team, Transforming Children’s Services Programme Board, 
People Leadership Team and Strategic Executive Board.  

2.4 Scrutiny Panel has been provided with an update of the progress against the plan during 
the first and second quarters of 2017-2018.

2.5 The Children and Young People Service Improvement Plan also includes actions which 
directly respond to recommendations from the 2017 Ofsted inspection. A separate 
progress report on Ofsted recommendations is presented on a six-monthly basis to 
Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children Board and Children’s Trust Board for 
comment/approval. It is proposed thisAction Plan should besigned off as complete, with 
any outstanding actions being transferred into the 2018-2019 Improvement Plan.

2.6 The Children and Young People Management Team have developed and agreed the 
Improvement Plan for 2018-2019. 

2.7 Progress against delivery of the plan will be reported to Scrutiny Panel in January 
(Quarter Two) and June 2019 (Quarter four). 

3.0 Progress Against 2017-2018 Improvement Plan (Appendix 1)

3.1 Throughout the year, significant progress has been made in delivering actions contained 
within the plan. The majority of actions and milestones have been completed (blue) 

Page 12



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

however there are a few actions which either require further time to evidence impact or 
require further development (green or amber).

3.2 The Ofsted Action Plan have been completed with the exception of three areas. The 
Ofsted Action Plan has now been signed off and any actions not complete will be 
incorporated into the 2018-2019 Children and Young People Service Improvement Plan.

 Improving the quality of supervision (Ofsted 1.2 and Ofsted 1.5)
 Improving the quality of assessments and care plans (Ofsted 5.3)
 Improved prominence of the voice and experience of the child (Ofsted 6.2)

3.3 The service has a robust workforce development plan that ensures social workers have 
access to training on assessment, analysis and planning. The service offers a range of 
training opportunities that incorporate the importance of the voice of the child, including 
restorative practice.

3.4 The recruitment and retention of high quality social workers is a key function that 
supports the delivery of good and safe social work practice. Effective recruitment and 
retention enables the development of a stable workforce which, in turn, can improve the 
quality of work undertaken with children, families and adults with additional needs. A 
stable workforce is an integral part of any improvement journey as it allows the Council 
the opportunity to train staff, set expected standards of practice and establish these 
practices across the whole system. 

3.5 It is recognised that a number of factors impact upon good recruitment and retention of 
social workers. Community Care research, “What do social workers want when they look 
for a new job”? (2016) found that “The top draw of any job is its work-life balanced and, 
compared with two years ago, more social workers are now looking for jobs that will have 
less stress and lower caseloads. Many are also keen to work for an employer with a good 
reputation”.

3.6 The Children and Young People Service has achieved a “Good” Ofsted judgement and 
has a Recruitment and Retention Strategy that includes targeted work to reduce 
caseloads, increased leadership support to frontline workers and promotes clear career 
pathways that enable social workers to plan their career development within the City 
Council. 

3.7 The City of Wolverhampton’s Children and Young People Service has experienced a 
slight increase in social work turnover over the last twelve months. It is believed that this 
is largely due to some senior management changes and difficulties that were 
experienced in recruiting first line social work managers. Both of these factors impact 
slightly on the stability of frontline teams and created some reliance on agency staff. 
Nationally the demand for permanent, experienced workers significantly outstrips 
supply (children’s social work is now on the national occupational shortage list). Regional 
data published by the Association of Directors of Children’s Services also identifies staff 
turnover as a regional challenge with most local authorities in the region experiencing 
similar turnover rates.

Page 13



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.8 Some areas of the wider Improvement Plan which have not been progressed have been 
impacted by the delay in the implementation of the new social care system, Eclipse. Both 
of these areas have bene reviewed by senior management and interim solutions are in 
place:

 Production of a new data quality strategy (PMQA 1.2) – There has been a “light touch” 
data quality strategy and a full strategy will be developed once timescales for the 
development of Eclipse are known.

 Making the recording of ethnicity a required field (PMQA 2.1) – This has been put on 
hold until the implementation of Eclipse, during which time it is envisioned that 
ethnicity can be made a mandatory field. 

3.9 Areas which have been include in the 2018-2019 plan in order to allow time to 
measure impact or allow for further redevelopment include:

 Early Intervention production of local area profiles (EI 2.1 and EI 2.2) – Profiles have 
been developed for all of our eight Strengthening Families Hubs. These profiles have 
been incorporated into the business plans and priorities for 2018-2019. The Quarter 
three assessment of impact is now underway. However, it will take some time to 
review overall impact.

 Ensure Wolverhampton is fully compliant with the changes outlined in the Children and 
Families Bill, now the Children and Social Work Act 2017 (LAC 5) – All work to ensure 
we are compliant has been completed except for the Care Leaver Offer which will be 
finalized and launched in September 2018. This will be included in the 2018-2019 
Improvement Plan.

3.10 Other areas, such as PMQA 7.3, EI 3.3, and IS 3, still require further development 
or more time to measure impact, but these will be included in local action plans and 
developed as business as usual. These will be monitored by via the Children and 
Young People Management Team and Heads of Service. 

4.0 2018-2019 Key Priorities (Appendix 3) and Improvement Plan (Appendix 4)

4.1 The 2018-2019 Key Priorities and Improvement Plan have been developed in line with 
the self-evaluation that was submitted to Ofsted in February 2018. The plan itself has 
been slightly revamped to encourage more of a focus on the impact of the actionsin the 
identified areas. This plan now includes a column titled “Evidence of Impact”, which 
includes key indicators for how we will know that we are making a difference for children 
and young people, and be assured of the embedding of the actions long term.

4.2 In addition to what has been listed above, key priorities for the new year include:

 To bring together performance and quality assurance information to allow greater 
insight and analysis of the quality of frontline practice.  

 To continue to embed restorative practice across the workforce.
 To improve the reflective and continued professional development functions within 

supervision.
 Establishing the Regional Adoption Agency.

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Increasing the number of Troubled Families identified who have made significant and 
sustained outcomes.

 Increasing the use of and engagement with family group conferencing to prevent 
family breakdown and reduce reliance on services.

 Building capacity within schools to identify and provide effective support for children 
and young people with social, emotional and mental health needs.

 To ensure that children with a disability have up to date reviews and are visited on a 
regular basis.

 To increase the Out of Court offer to young people to reduce the number who reoffend 
and formally enter the Criminal Justice System.

 Ensuring that the HeadStart programme reaches the expected number of 
children/young people in Wolverhampton.

 Narrowing the educational attainment gap between Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers, and their peers. 

5.0 Financial implications

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any costs associated 
with the Improvement Plan are contained within existing budgets within the overall 
approved budget for Children and Young People.  

 [AS/31052018/Q]

6.0 Legal implications

There are no direct legal implications arising from the report.

[TC/25052018/D]

7.0 Equalities implications

The Children and Young People Service provides support to the whole community, 
including the full range of diverse groups. The Improvement Plan highlights how the City 
of Wolverhampton will ensure that the workforce is highly skilled and has the knowledge 
and resources needed provide a high-quality service to the community. 

8.0 Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications arising from this report. 

9.0 Human resources implications

There are no human resources implications arising from this report. 

10.0 Corporate Landlord implications

There are no Corporate Landlord implications arising from this report.

11.0 Schedule of background papers

Page 15



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

11.1 Report to Scrutiny—6 September 2018; Children and Young People Service 
Improvement Plan: Update on Progress - Quarter One 2017-2018

11.2 Report to Scrutiny (distributed outside of Panel)—November 2018; Children and Young 
People Service Improvement Plan: Update on Progress - Quarter Two 2017-2018

12.0 Appendices

12.1 Appendix 1: 2017-2018 Children and Young People Service Improvement Plan

12.2 Appendix 2: Quarter Four Performance Report

12.3 Appendix 3: 2018-2019 Key Priorities Plan on a Page 

12.4 Appendix 4: 2018-2019 Children and Young People Service Improvement Plan

Page 16



Page 1 of 66

Appendix One – Quarter Four Update

2017-2018 Children and Young People
Improvement Plan

P
age 17



Page 2 of 66

  How will we know?
   The table below outlines what success would look like.  This will be measured through a range of qualitative and quantitative measures.

What does making a difference look like?
Child Children are safer and will be helped earlier. Children will have their voice heard. We will carry out audits to ensure that this is 

happening. We will ask children and young people for their direct feedback and engage them in shaping services. We will monitor 
engagement of children and young people in their assessments, their participation in reviews and the timeliness in which we see them.

Parents and 
carers

We will work to build parents’ capacity in order to enable change where needed. Parents and carers will have their views taken into 
account. They will see a coherent early help offer and be able to work with a range of agencies to access support at an early stage to 
avoid issues escalating. 

Our Partners Agencies work in partnership to support families to resolve issues and achieve improvements in outcomes that safely prevent family 
breakdown.  The Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children’s Board (WSCB) will be recognised as being effective.

Children’s 
Workforce

All professionals working with children will be well trained and supported to achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young 
people. They will receive regular and effective supervision and will be supported to work effectively with children and young people and 
families.

Front Line 
managers

Front Line Managers will actively use performance information to drive change to improve services.  They will provide effective 
management oversight and opportunities for reflective practice which contribute to better outcomes for children and young people.

Senior 
Management 

Senior Managers will actively use performance information to drive change to improve services. They will ensure performance is 
regularly monitored and that improvements are having a positive impact. They will develop effective relationships with partners to ensure 
the system works effectively for children and young people.

Councillors Councillors will fully understand their role and responsibilities and hold Senior Managers to account.  

P
age 18



Page 3 of 66

  What will we measure?
Quality & 
Effectiveness of 
Practice

Number of case audits undertaken
Outcome of case audits undertaken
Outcome of quarterly evaluation
Outcome of monthly dip sampling across services

Workforce Number of agency staff
Staff turnover and average sick days
Average caseloads
Comparison with other Local Authorities as per the Children’s Social Care Workforce Return
% of the workforce trained in Restorative Practice
% of Early Intervention and Social Workers attended Child and Family Training in 2017/18
% of Social Workers completing domestic violence training

Early Help Number of Early Help Assessments 
Number of Early Help Assessments held by partner agencies
Number of Outcome Stars commenced and progress made
Number of children taking up Terrific for Two’s funding
Proportion of cases stepped up and down to/from social care
Troubled families identified who have made significant and sustained outcomes

Specialist 
Support Service

Number of families worked with by Intensive Family Support Team and % of those becoming LAC
Number and outcomes for young people accessing services at Upper Pendeford Farm
Number of missing return interviews and timeliness of interviews
Number who are home educated who have been visited and assessed
Number of exclusions and provision of alternative education
Outcome from MASE meetings and reduction in risks associated with individual young people
Number of young people identified as being at significant or serious risk of CSE
Number prosecuted for non-school attendance and the outcomes

Children in 
Need/Child 
Protection

Number of safeguarding referrals 
Number of enquiries rated: red; amber; green; or no further action
Number of repeat enquiries/referrals
Timeliness of MASH responses
Number of Section 47 and conversion to Initial Child Protection Conference
Children in Need seen within 5 working days of the referral
Number of unallocated cases
Proportion of disabled children that are the subject of CiN, CP or who are LAC
Number of short breaks

P
age 19



Page 4 of 66

Looked After 
Children (LAC)

Number and rate of LAC
% of LAC visits carried out within timescales
Proportion of LAC reviews on time
Placement stability (fewer than 3 placements in the last two years)
Number and proportion of in-house foster placements
Number and proportion of children placed with parents who have a care order
Number of privately fostered children known to the Council
Education of LAC
Health of LAC 

Inclusion 
Support

Number of children who have an Education, Health and Care Plan
Number of school exclusions 
Take-up of Inclusion Support Training offer

HeadStart % change in young people wellbeing self-report scores
% engaging with online self-help resources
Number of decommissioned services in subsequent years
Number of young people in HeadStart targeted provision
Number of young people accessing tier 3

Adoption A1 – Average time between a child entering care and moving in with adoptive family
A10 – As per A1 but where the child is adopted by their foster carer, time between entering care and moving in with the foster carer
A2 – Average time between receiving a placement order and a match to an adoptive family being decided
A3 - % of children who wait less than 16 months between entering care and moving in with their adoptive family
Number of children waiting to be adopted 
Number of potential adoptive families currently being assessed
Number of approved adoptive families waiting for a match
Number of children who are subject of a Special Guardianship Order

Care Leavers Proportion of care leavers with a pathway plan
Quality of pathway plans
Proportion of care leavers that are in Education, Employment or Training
Proportion of care leavers in suitable accommodation
Proportion of care leavers who are ‘staying put’

Youth Offending 
Team

Rate of youth offending and re-offending
Engagement of YOT young people in Education, Training and Employment

Safeguarding Number of victims of domestic violence where children are associated with the household
Number of victims of female genital mutilation
Number of victims of honour based violence
IRO/CP Conference Chairs role in improving social work practice
Engagement of parents in LAC reviews
Timeliness of Child Protection Conferences and Review Meetings

P
age 20



Page 5 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

OFSTED ACTION PLAN
Ofsted 1.1

Bi-monthly audits to 
review practice as per 
audit process

Bi-monthly All Heads of Service          
Louise Haughton

Bi-monthly audit taking 
place as per Quality 
Assurance Framework.

Quarterly reports are 
produced and presented to 
Children and Young People 
management team and 
Transforming Children’s 
Services Board.
Audit Champions continue 
to embed a consistent 
approach to auditing.

Ofsted 1.2

Dip samples to look at 
the quality of 
supervision will take 
place twice each year

Quarterly All Heads of Service           
Louise Haughton

Auditing activity throughout 
the year evidences that the 
recording of supervision 
remains inconsistent. A dip 
sample was undertaken in 
February 2018 and shows 
that this remains an area for 
development. 

The quality of supervision is 
an ongoing improvement 
area and will be picked up 
as part of the CYP 
Improvement Plan for 2018-
19.

Ofsted 
Recommendation 1

Ensure management 
oversight at the 
frontline is 
appropriately 
challenging and 
consistent and that 
frontline managers are 
able to use the case file 
audit tool effectively 

Ofsted 1.3

Audit Champions to 

31st March 2018 All Heads of Service          
Louise Haughton

Audit Champions have 
agreed an action plan. Audit 
the Auditor is underway. 

P
age 21



Page 6 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

agree a programme of 
support with frontline 
managers to ensure 
challenge and 
consistency of 
approach

This has shown more 
consistency in overall 
judgements between 1st 
and 2nd auditors.  
Continued work will take 
place in ascertaining service 
user feedback. This will be 
an ongoing part of the Audit 
Champion Action Plan.

Ofsted 1.4

Implementation of 
Leadership 
Programme for 
frontline managers

30th September 
2017

All Heads of Service          
Louise Haughton

The programme was 
launched in September 
2017.

The programme for the 
SWUM’s is still running.
Impact will be measured by 
a coaching element where 
by the external coach, 
manager and their manager 
spend 75 minutes to sit and 
reflect on what impact the 
coaching has had. This will 
be completed in June 2018 
(at which point the 
leadership team are 
auditing the learning logs of 
all delegates)

The strengthening families 
managers (who attended 
the programme modules 1-4 
but not coaching) have their 
coaching start in June until 
December.  In total 53 

P
age 22



Page 7 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

managers are undertaking 
the programme.

Ofsted 1.5

Ensure the 
competency-based 
supervision policy is 
applied in practice

31st May 2017 All Heads of Service        
Louise Haughton

ACTION TO NOW FORM 
PART OF THE 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
2018/19 

We have not fully 
embedded a competency-
based tool in practice. We 
have now set up a task and 
finish group to develop a 
new policy. This will be a 
new action in the 
Improvement plan for 
2018/19.

Ofsted 2.1

Daily updates 
accessible to the 
Director of Children 
Services and Service 
Director

28th February 
2017

Helena Kucharczyk Director of Children 
Services and Service 
Director have daily access 
to performance information 
through Insight and 
Performance SharePoint

Ofsted 2.2

Children Service’s 
Dashboard presented 
to SEB/Cabinet 
Member monthly

31st May 2017, 
monthly thereafter

Helena Kucharczyk Dashboard has been 
developed and is now being 
presented to Strategic 
Executive Board/Cabinet 
monthly.

Ofsted 
Recommendation 2

Strengthen the line of 
sight which senior 
managers, leaders and 
elected members have 
on frontline practice by 
providing detailed 
information about 
children in need whose 
cases are being held by 
team managers, or 
managed on duty, prior 
to being allocated to a 
named social worker

Ofsted 2.3

Weekly report to be 

30th June 2017 Helena Kucharczyk Weekly reports started 
week of 17 July 2017.

P
age 23



Page 8 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

directly provided to 
Director of Children 
Services and Service 
Director on unallocated 
cases
Ofsted 3.1

Looked After Children 
performance report to 
include monthly 
information on out of 
city health 
assessments

31st May 2017 Helena Kucharczyk This is in place and is part 
of the LAC and CYP 
monthly performance 
management reports.

Ofsted 3.2
Ensure robust process 
is in place for spot 
purchasing 
assessments for 
children over 50 miles 
out of city

30th September 
2017

Alison Hinds The Looked After Children 
Health Steering Group is 
overseeing progress. 
Impact is currently being 
monitored. 

Ofsted 
Recommendation 3

Ensure that looked after 
children who are living 
at a distance from 
Wolverhampton receive 
the same level of health 
and educational 
support as children 
living closer to home

Ofsted 3.3 

Improved educational 
attainment for out of 
city Looked After 
Children

31st July 2018 Alison Hinds A Dedicated Education 
Support Worker is now in 
post to focus on out of city 
Looked After Children 
(LAC). ‘Welfare Call’ have 
been commissioned to 
provide daily 
attendance/exclusions 
monitoring and termly 
attainment data for out of 
city cohort. 

Out of city LAC have 

P
age 24



Page 9 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

achieved better than in 
2016. The cohort of out of 
city children are much 
closer to in city children with 
regard to attainment in Key 
Stage 4. Out of city LAC 
have achieved better in 
math at Key Stage 1 than 
their peers in the city. See 
Virtual Headteachers 
Report 2017/18.

Ofsted 4.1 

Review the Unable to 
Live with Birth Parents 
Policy including the 
development of a 
flowchart to inform 
decision making

30th June 2017 Rachel Warrender 
Louise Haughton 
Alison Hinds

Guidance briefed to Social 
Workers on 18th July 2017.

Unable to live with birth 
parent’s procedure agreed 
by the Children and Young 
People’s Management 
Team on Friday, 20th 
October 2017.

Workshops have been held 
with the final sessions being 
delivered early May.

Ofsted 
Recommendation 4

Ensure that when 
children and young 
people are placed with 
family and friends, 
social workers are clear 
about what actions 
must be completed to 
assess and formalise 
those arrangements in 
line with
placement regulations 

Ofsted 4.2

Audit of all child 
protection cases where 
children are not living 
with their parents to 
clarify whether it is a 
private family 
arrangement or 
connected persons

31st May 2017 Alison Montgomery An audit has been 
completed. A report and 
action plan was presented 
to the Children and Young 
People Service Director and 
Children and Young People 
Management Team on 27th 
July 2017.

P
age 25



Page 10 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Ofsted 4.3

All social work 
managers are clear in 
relation to statutory 
and regulatory 
requirements re. 
placements with family 
& friends

31st May 2017 Alison Montgomery
Alison Hinds

Workshops have been 
developed and all Social 
Workers and Social Work 
Managers should have 
participated in this by the 
end of February 2018. This 
will include Independent 
Reviewing Officers, Senior 
Social Work Managers, and 
Heads of Service. 

In addition, any children 
living in these 
circumstances should be 
discussed at admission to 
care panel by the end of 
February. This will allow us 
to be confident that all open 
cases which are considered 
a “friends and family 
placement” have been 
identified. 

Ofsted 
Recommendation 5

Ensure that all 
assessments include a 
consistently robust 
analysis of risks and 
protective factors, 
resulting in child in 
need and child 
protection plans which 
are specific, 
measurable and easy 
for children and parents 

Ofsted 5.1

Implementation of 
Leadership 
Programme for 
frontline managers

30th September 
2017

Louise Haughton The programme was 
launched in September 
2017.

The programme for the 
SWUM’s is still running.
Impact will be measured by 
a coaching element where 
by the external coach, 
manager and their manager 
spend 75 minutes to sit and 
reflect on what impact the 

P
age 26



Page 11 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

coaching has had. This will 
be completed in June 2018 
(at which point the 
leadership team are 
auditing the learning logs of 
all delegates)

The strengthening families 
managers (who attended 
the programme modules 1-4 
but not coaching) have their 
coaching start in June until 
December.  In total 53 
managers are undertaking 
the programme.

Ofsted 5.2

Dates secured for 
assessment, planning, 
analysis, and 
permanence training 
2017/18 

31st May 2017 Louise Haughton Child and Family Training 
have adjusted their 
programme of training to 
reflect Wolverhampton’s 
training needs and will 
deliver four cohorts by the 
end of March 2018.

Four cohorts of training 
have been delivered with 
130 employees having 
received training at the end 
of April 2018.

Six new cohorts have been 
developed which begin in 
May 2018 and will run until 
Feb 2019. 

to understand

Ofsted 5.3 Monthly dip Louise Haughton

P
age 27



Page 12 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Improvement in 
assessment and care 
plans to be monitored 
via audit activity

sampling and 
audits

ACTION TO NOW FORM 
PART OF THE 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
2018/19

Quarter 4 auditing activity 
has shown similar results to 
the 3rd quarter when 
considering the quality of 
care plans. However, this 
was much higher in 2nd 
quarter. The last three 
quarterly audit results have 
shown an improvement over 
the 1st Quarter (52% judged 
as being SMART in 4th 
Quarter vs 58% in 34d 
Quarter, 64% in the 2nd 
Quarter and 30% in the 1st 
Quarter). Work needs to 
continue in order for greater 
progress to be made.

There has been consistency 
in the quality of 
assessments. There is a 
slight trend toward 
improvement being made 
as 40% in quarter 4 and 
39% of audits being rated 
as “Good” or “Outstanding” 
in this area in Quarter 3 vs 
29% in Quarter 2 and 30% 
in Quarter 1. Work around 

P
age 28



Page 13 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

the quality of assessments 
continues and this is 
included in the 2018/19 
improvement plan.

Ofsted 5.4

Care Planning action to 
be in all Advanced 
Practitioner Action 
Plans 

31st May 2017 Louise Haughton Completed - July 2017

Ofsted 6.1

Ensure a greater focus 
is given to voice of the 
child in training 

31st March 2018 Louise Haughton Specific conversations have 
taken place with Child and 
Family Training and 
Restorative Practice to 
ensure this is in practice. 
Any required training will 
take place to ensure this is 
a prominent element. 

Ofsted 
Recommendation 6

Ensure that greater 
prominence is given in 
case files to the 
thoughts, wishes and 
feelings of children and 
young people, so that 
the child’s voice is 
clearly recorded and 
understood Ofsted 6.2

Improved prominence 
of the voice and 
experience of the child 
demonstrated through 
audits

31st March 2018 Heads of Service
Louise Haughton

ACTION TO NOW FORM 
PART OF THE 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
2018/19

This is a long-term action 
and there are multiple ways 
the voice of the child is 
measured during case file 
audits. Voice of the child 
continues to be varied and 
this remains an identified 
area for development.

Quarter 4 auditing activity 

P
age 29



Page 14 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

showed evidence of the 
voice of the child 49% of the 
time which is consistent with 
Quarter 3 at 48% and 
Quarter 2 at 51%. Quarter 1 
auditing showed evidence 
of voice of the child 44% of 
the time.

Voice of the child remains 
quite high during Looked 
After Child Reviews but 
remains an area for 
development in Child 
Protection Conference.

It is anticipated the planned 
migration to Eclipse will 
enable us to review records 
to show greater prominence 
of the child’s voice.

Ofsted 6.3

Toolkit developed to 
support improved 
practice in relation to 
voice and experience 
of children

30th September 
2017

Louise Haughton A resource folder has been 
developed and a hard copy 
is in every unit. An 
electronic copy is being 
developed.

Ofsted 
Recommendation 7

Strengthen advocacy 
arrangements to ensure 
that children in need of 
help and protection and 
their parents and 

Ofsted 7.1

Child in Need/Child 
Protection and Looked 
After Children 

30th June 2017 Alison Montgomery
Alison Hinds

All young people requesting 
an advocate have been 
assigned. Of the young 
people who have an 
advocate, 4 are open to 
Child in Need Planning, 1 is 

P
age 30



Page 15 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Management Teams to 
receive regular reports 
on uptake of advocacy 
services

open to Child Protection 
Planning, and 1 is a Care 
Leaver. There are 13 in city 
LAC, and 5 out of city LAC, 
2 who have disabilities.

Ofsted 7.2

Ensure case recording 
captures reasons for 
no take-up of advocacy

31st March 2018 Alison Montgomery          
Alison Hinds

CareFirst is now enabled to 
measure whether advocacy 
services are promoted. 
However, the text box to 
support actions behind this 
will be developed as part of 
the migration to Eclipse. 
Timescale to be changed in 
line with this.

This continues to be 
monitored through contract 
meetings and agreement for 
additional spot purchase of 
advocates is considered as 
and when required. Dip 
sampling completed end of 
December 2017 to ensure 
this is being done. 

Ofsted 7.3

Ensure all staff are 
aware of the revised 
process re: recording 

31st March 2017 Alison Hinds Completed.  Staff briefed in 
December 2017

children looked after 
are enabled to make a 
meaningful contribution 
to child in need and 
child protection 
processes and children 
looked after reviews

Ofsted 7.4
Review current 
contracts re: provision 
of advocacy services to 

30th June 2017 Alison Hinds The review was completed 
and an action plan has 
been developed between 
the Local Authority and 
provider to improve take-up.

P
age 31



Page 16 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

ensure that they 
respond to local need
Ofsted 8.1

Ensure all staff are 
aware of referral 
process

30th June 2017 Alison Hinds The Independent Visitor 
Service is in the process of 
moving in house.  Referral 
process has been 
discussed and this will be 
progressed through the 
drafting of a policy.  Meeting 
arranged for 16/04/2018 to 
begin considering this.

Ofsted 
Recommendation 8

Ensure that children 
looked after who would 
benefit from one have 
access to an 
independent visitor

Ofsted 8.2

Changes to be made to 
Looked After Children 
review report to ensure 
this has been 
considered where 
appropriate

31st March 2018 Alison Hinds This has been completed.

Ofsted 9.1 

Implementation of the 
electronic Personal 
Education Plan

30th September 
2017

Alison Hinds The new electronic personal 
education plan was 
launched on 1st November 
2017. Designated Teachers, 
LAC social workers and all 
SWUMS have had training 
and a user guide has been 
circulated. Initial examples 
of completed PEP are very 
positive and show a clear 
improvement on many 
paper versions.

Ofsted 
Recommendation 9

Ensure that all Personal 
Education Plans (PEPs) 
are specific, 
measurable and easy 
for children and young 
people to understand

Ofsted 9.2 Termly audits Alison Hinds A report on the quality of 
Personal Education Plans 

P
age 32



Page 17 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Improved quality of 
Personal Education 
Plans to be monitored 
via termly audits 
undertaken by the 
Corporate Parenting 
and Education (COPE) 
Team

was presented to the 
Children and Young People 
Management Team on 2nd 
November 2017 and reports 
will continue to be 
presented on a quarterly 
basis. 

DiP samples have shown a 
continuing improvement in 
the quality of PEPs but 
further improvements till 
need to be made. The 
electronic PEP will now 
allow us to report on 
whether SMART targets are 
improving.

Ofsted 10.1

Training to be 
delivered to all staff in 
transition team to 
ensure improvement 
in pathway planning 

31st March 2017 Alison Hinds Workshop for transition 
team took place on 22nd 
March 2017

Ofsted 
Recommendation 10

Ensure that all pathway 
plans include targets 
which are specific, 
measurable and written 
in such a way that there 
is no room for 
ambiguity about who 
needs to do what by 
when, to ensure that 
care leavers are able to 
make a successful 
transition to 
independence

Ofsted 10.2

Dip sampling of 
pathway plans to 
ensure improvement 
in practice

This to be 
monitored and 
repeated every 6 
months

Alison Hinds Dip sampling completed in 
May 2017 and results 
improved from Requires 
Improvement to Good. 
Process to be repeated 
every 6 months.

Ofsted 
Recommendation 11

Ensure that once 
children are placed with 
adoptive families there 

Ofsted 11.1

Adoption applications 

30th September 
2017

Alison Hinds Activity has now been 
created on CareFirst and 
being monitored on the 

P
age 33



Page 18 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

to be made 10 weeks 
after a child is placed 
in prospective adoptive 
household

monthly tracker. 

Previous performance was 
poor, but a dip sample 
completed in January 2018 
has shown an improvement 
and indicates that this is 
now being used 
consistently.

Ofsted 11.2

Annex A’s to be 
completed by the 
child’s social worker 
and lodged with the 
court at the same time 

30th September 
2017

Alison Hinds As above

is no unnecessary 
delay in applying for an 
adoption order

Ofsted 11.3

CareFirst activity to be 
utilised to ensure 
timescales are met

30th September 
2017

Alison Hinds This is now monitored as 
part of Adoption pipeline. 

Activity is available but is not 
being utilized appropriately.  
The Children’s Adoption 
Team have now moved into 
the LAC Team and 
performance of this will be 
managed via this Team

Annex A activity is being 
used on all cases.  All 
placements made have 
dates identified for annex’s to 
be completed allowing time 
to QA reports.

P
age 34



Page 19 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Ofsted 11.4

Dip samples to take 
place to ensure 
adoption applications 
and Annex A’s are 
being lodged at 10 
weeks

30th September 
2017

Alison Hinds A dip sample and Briefing 
Note were complete in 
March 2018, this evidenced 
that the CareFirst activity is 
being used on all cases 
where the child is placed for 
adoption.  However, this 
also evidenced that whilst 
there is an improvement in 
timescales for application 
and filing of Annex A, these 
are still not being done 
consistently at the 10-week 
point.  An Action Plan has 
been created and 
disseminated to LAC 
SWUM’s and a further dip 
sample will be completed in 
June 2018.

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

P
age 35



Page 20 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

AREA: PMQA        PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT AND QUALITY ASSURANCE
PMQA 1.1

Performance 
Management 
Framework to be 
produced to include 
development of 
dashboards for 
frontline managers; 
schedules for reporting 
including to the 
Director of Children 
Services and Cabinet 
Member

30th September 
2017

Helena Kucharczyk The performance framework 
is now in place for Children’s 
services. The next stage in 
this development is to look 
at linking performance and 
quality data, which has been 
made a priority in the 
2018/19 Improvement Plan.  

PMQA 1 Produce a Performance 
Management Framework 
and a Data Quality 
Strategy

PMQA 1.2

Data Quality Strategy 
to be produced and 
briefed to staff

31st March 2018 Helena Kucharczyk In light of the suspension of 
the Eclipse development 
programme, a light touch 
data quality strategy will be 
produced for sign off at the 
June CYP performance 
board. The full strategy 
development will be picked 
up again when the Eclipse 
development is known.

PMQA 2 Improve recording in 
relation to ethnicity and 
CiN

PMQA 2.1

Make the recording of 
ethnicity a mandatory 
field and ensure that 
the options support 
accurate recording

31st March 2018 Alison Hinds (CFUG) 
Helena Kucharczyk

This action has been 
explored and is not possible 
in the current social care 
system. The recording of 
Ethnicity will continue to be 
managed through data 
quality reports. The 
implementation of Eclipse 

P
age 36



Page 21 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

has been placed on hold. It 
is hoped this can be a 
mandatory field in the new 
social care system next 
year. 

PMQA 2.2
Introduce Child in 
Need Plan as a 
separate classification 
on CareFirst

31st May 2017 Alison Hinds (CFUG) 
Fiona Cozens

Completed

PMQA 3 Improve compliance in 
relation to 1st visit within 
5 days

PMQA 3.1

100% of 1st visits will 
be completed within 5 
days. 

30th September 
2017

Alison Montgomery 60.1% of visits have taken 
place within 5 days, which is 
higher than it has ever been. 
As of 19/4/2018 
approximately 73% of cases 
have a single assessment 
completed within 45 days, 
during which time these 
children would have been 
seen. 

PMQA 7.1

All staff trained on use 
of the toolkit

31st March 2017 Louise Haughton Strategy and tool was 
presented to all staff in 
October 2016. 

PMQA 7.2

Thematic audit of 
neglect across 
Children’s Services to 
be commissioned

30th September 
2017

Louise Haughton This has been completed 
and has been presented to 
Children and Young People 
Management Team.
 
A Neglect action plan will be 
developed.

PMQA 7 Embed the Neglect 
Strategy and Toolkit 
across the workforce

PMQA 7.3 31st October 
2017

Dawn Williams The Self-Assessment for the 
JTAI themes of Domestic 

P
age 37



Page 22 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Self-assessment 
process completed 
using the Joint 
Targeted Area 
Inspection Neglect 
Framework (JTAI)

Abuse and CSE are being 
developed. The previous 
timescale of October 2017 
was for the theme of 
Neglect. As themes change, 
this is an ever-changing 
timescale in order to allow 
for a self-assessment for 
each theme. This will be 
incorporated as part of the 
new Wolverhampton 
Safeguarding Children 
Board Business Plan.

AREA: EI                EARLY INTERVENTION
EI 2.1

Production of local 
area profiles

30th June 2017 Denise Williams Profiles have been 
developed for all 8 SF areas. 
These profiles have been 
incorporated into the 
business plans and priorities 
for 2018/19.

The Quarter 3 assessment 
of impact is now underway. 
However, it will take some 
time to review overall 
impact. 

EI 2 Embed the targeted early 
help offer and strengthen 
knowledge and 
understanding of local 
needs to assist in 
identifying families who 
require targeted early 
help

EI 2.2

Production of local 
action plan for each 
area

30th November 
2017

Denise Williams As Above

EI 3 Delivering the Early 
Years Strategy

EI 3.1 31st March 2017 Denise Williams Completed

P
age 38



Page 23 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Strategy formally 
approved by Cabinet
EI 3.2

Approval of the 
Implementation Plan at 
Scrutiny Board

31st July 2017 Denise Williams Implementation plan was 
presented to Scrutiny Board 
on 4th September 2017 and 
was approved.
 

EI 3.3

Increase in the number 
of children achieving a 
good level of 
development

31st March 2018 Denise Williams We will potentially have 
provisional local data in 
July/August 2018. However, 
National Data will not be 
published until November 
2018 to allow for 
comparison. Therefore, this 
will not be able to be 
determined until all data is 
received and a comparison 
of local and national data 
can take place.  

AREA: SSS            SPECIALIST SUPPORT SERVICE
All Actions Complete

AREA: CiN/CP       CHILDREN IN NEED/CHILD PROTECTION
All Actions Complete

AREA: IS                 INCLUSION SUPPORT
IS 3 Implementation of 

sexually harmful 
behaviour action plan to 
improve services for 
children and young 
people who display 
sexually harmful 
behaviour

This has been 
extended from 
July 2018 to 
September 2018 
to allow for 
training to be 
completed.  

Rob Hart The practice guidance has 
been developed and was 
approved by WSCB Policies 
and Procedures in April 
2018. Multi-agency training 
has been commissioned to 
be delivered between June 
and September 2018. 

P
age 39



Page 24 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

IS 4.1

Undertake review of 
existing training offer 
and identified needs, 
and identify associated 
workforce development 
needs within Inclusion 
Support.

September 2017 Rob Hart This has been completed 
and a report on impact is 
being compiled. 

IS 4.2

Produce brochure of 
training offer and 
schedule of training 
events for 2018/9

December 2017 Rob Hart This has been completed. 

IS 4 Develop Inclusion 
Support training offer for 
Children and Young 
People workforce, 
schools and trading 
externally

IS 4.3

Develop performance 
framework and 
stakeholder group to 
monitor progress and 
service development

31st March 2018 Rob Hart A special interest group 
within Inclusion Support has 
been set up with this as a 
priority.

IS 5.1

Action plan produced

30th September 
2017

Rachel King 
Rob Hart

The action plan was signed 
off as completed with the 
Education Board in 
December 2017. 

IS 5 Reduce the number of 
exclusions

IS 5.2

Implementation Group 
to be established to 
oversee the delivery 
and impact on 
reduction of 

31st May 2017 Rachel King 
Rob Hart

Please see Milestone IS 5.3
This has been completed. 

P
age 40



Page 25 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

exclusions. 
IS 5.3

A summit will take 
place involving the 
Director of Education 
and schools to share 
best practice in 
reducing exclusions.

31st July 2018 Rob Hart This is still applicable and 
will be completed by 31st 
July 2018. This will be 
carried forward to the 
2018/19 Improvement Plan. 

AREA: HS                HEADSTART
All Actions Complete

AREA: LAC            LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN
LAC 1.1

Cabinet to approve 
establishment of the 
Regional Adoption 
Agency (RAA)

30th June 2017 Emma Bennett
Alison Hinds

Cabinet approved report to 
establish Regional Adoption 
Agency on 19th July 2017. 

LAC 1.2

Cabinet to approve 
detailed
service specification for 
the Regional Adoption 
Agency 

Timescale moved 
from February 
2018 to Winter 
2018.

Emma Bennett Cabinet approved the 
detailed service proposals 
for the RAA in March 2018.  
Unfortunately, Sandwell and 
Dudley are yet to get 
approval whilst there is a 
number of other outstanding 
pieces of work required in 
order to progress ‘Go Live’ 
including the back-office 
services and Ofsted 
registration. Go Live has 
now been deferred to Winter 
2018.

LAC 1 Continue to lead on the 
development of the 
Regional Adoption 
Agency

LAC 1.3 31st July 2018 Emma Bennett Adoption as Heart front door 

P
age 41



Page 26 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Regional Adoption 
Agency go live 
(Adoption at Heart)

went live on 1st March 2018. 
However, the full go live date 
has been deferred to 1st 
October 2018.

LAC 2 Increase the number of 
Special Guardianship 
Orders (SGO)

LAC 2.1

Increase in the number 
of Special 
Guardianship Orders 
through the delivery of 
Special Guardianship 
Order Action Plan

31st March 2018 Alison Hinds The number has not 
increased, it has stayed the 
same. However, we have 
tighter tracking and have 
increased the financial 
support package. We are 
aiming to increase numbers 
next year as we now have 
mechanisms in place to 
achieve this. This will form 
part of the 2018/19 
Improvement Plan.

AREA: CL               CARE LEAVERS
All Actions Completed

AREA: YOT           YOUTH OFFENDING TEAM
YOT 4 Increase the engagement 

of Youth Offending Team 
young people in 
Education training and 
employment

YOT 4.2

Achieve target (80%) 
of young offenders 
engaged in 
employment, education 
and training by 31st 
March 2018

31st March 2018 Sally Nash 
Darren Martindale

In 2017/18, 73% of school 
aged pupils involved with the 
YOT were engaged in full 
time education at the end of 
their order.  For post-16 this 
was 52%.  Overall for 
2017/18 this results in a 
combined engagement rate 
of 61% a 9% increase on 
last year. The biggest 
improvement is with school 
aged pupils, 73% overall this 
year, a 16% increase on last 

P
age 42



Page 27 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

year.  
YOT 4.3

Embedding of the 
Youth Employment 
Initiative delivery in the 
Youth Offending Team 

31st March 2018 Sally Nash 
Darren Martindale

Youth Employment Initiative 
funding is due to come to an 
end in June 2018.  However, 
there is a potential for a 
further 3 years of funding 
from Department for Work 
an Pensions.

YOT 4.4
Review of Youth 
Offending Team 
Education, Training 
and Employment 
processes and action 
plan

30th June 2018 Sally Nash 
Darren Martindale

Action plan completed and 
was reviewed at CYP 
Management Team 19th 
October 2017.

AREA: COM           COMMISSIONING
COM 1.1

Produce terms of 
reference for the 
review and timeline for 
the work and present 
to the next meeting of 
the Joint 
Commissioning Board 

28th February 
2017

Alison Hinds Terms of reference have 
been developed.

COM 1 External Placements 
Panel – joint review of 
the pooled budget for 
external placements 
between City of 
Wolverhampton Council 
and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group in 
order to ensure value for 
money COM 1.2

Review completed and 
proposals presented 
back to the Joint 
Commissioning Board

31st August 2017 Alison Hinds This is currently on hold as 
agreed with the CCG.

COM 2 Review and 
recommission Domestic 
Violence Support 

COM 2.1

Tender agreed. 

30th June 2018 Sarah Smith This is out to tender. A new 
contract commences June 
2018 and has been included 

P
age 43



Page 28 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Services Tendering process 
commenced, and a 
new service will be in 
place from June 2018.

in the 2018/19 Plan.

COM 3.1

Options paper on 
commissioning 
intentions taking into 
account 
recommendations. 

30th November 
2018

Sarah Smith The contract has been 
extended until 30 November 
2018. This provision will be 
jointly reviewed by 
People/Place as it has been 
identified as a cross council 
priority as part of the 
development of a wider 
housing strategy.  
Timescales may change as 
a result of this decision.  
There is an option to extend 
the current contract for a 
further 12 months.

This has been included in 
the 2018/19 Plan.

COM 3 Review and re-
commission supported 
accommodation

COM 3.2

Market warming
Tendering process 
commenced. New 
service in place

31st March 2018  Sarah Smith
Complete

AREA: SG              SAFEGUARDING
SG 2 Improve engagement of 

parents in the Looked 
After Child review 
process

SG 2.1

Introduction of an 
annual audit of 
parental participation 

October 2017 Dawn Williams A limited audit of parental 
participation has been 
completed and it is apparent 
that there is an opportunity 
to progress further utilising 

P
age 44



Page 29 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

across the range of 
Looked After Child 
reviews is completed

Mind of My Own (MOMO). 
The MOMO work has stalled 
and is being resurrected as 
Mandy Lee is working with 
operational colleagues to 
encourage wider use. The 
IROs have been 
encouraging the use of 
MOMO but this is not 
enough. Parent involvement 
is part of a wider 
participation annual audit led 
by Mandy Lee and Nicola 
Hale.

This work could be 
completed through the Mind 
of My Own (MOMO) project 
due to the complexities of 
gathering and analysing the 
information within the 
services. Parents continue to 
have the opportunity to 
complete a consultation form 
for every review where some 
of this information is 
captured. However, this is 
not electronic.

This will form part of the 
2018/19 Improvement Plan.

SG 2.2

Introduction of new 

30th June 2017 Dawn Williams Leaflet now in use.

P
age 45



Page 30 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

Looked After Child 
information leaflet for 
parents
SG 2.3

SW staff updated on 
expectations of 
parental involvement in 
Looked After Child 
reviews

31st May 2017 Dawn Williams Actioned via regular 
safeguarding and Social 
Work Unit Manager 
Meetings

SG 3.1

Petch tool is 
embedded across the 
partnership

31st March 2018 Dawn Williams The Petch tool is regularly 
used and continues to be 
promoted. The Petch tool 
continues to be promoted in 
training and the CSE 
coordinator and the MASH 
challenge when the age 
appropriate screening tool is 
not used. The introduction of 
the regional screening tool 
for 13+ has significantly 
aided in professionals 
identifying which tool to 
utilise. On average 8-10 
screening tools are being 
completed each month.

SG 3 Review the use of the 
Petch Screening Tool 
and understand impact

SG 3.2

Where the risk of Child 
Sexual Exploitation is 
identified, children 12 
years and under, have 
appropriate plans in 

31st May 2017 Dawn Williams The MASE process now 
ensures that the age 
appropriate MASE plans are 
completed to support under 
12 s and this has 
significantly impacted on the 
focus of Base 25 input and 

P
age 46



Page 31 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

place outcomes for these children.
SG 3.3

Scheduled Audit of 
completed Petch Tools 
in place and regularly 
reported to Children 
and Young People 
Management Team & 
Sexual Exploitation 
Missing & Trafficked 
Committee

30 June 2018 Dawn Williams Sandeep Kaur is 
progressing a Petch Audit in 
June 2018.

This will be incorporated into 
the 2018/19 Improvement 
Plan.

SG 5.1

Think Family is 
embedded within 
interventions where 
Domestic Violence is a 
presenting feature.

June 2017 Karen Samuels Action plan completed

BST Protocol has been 
reviewed and updated. BST 
screening now links closely 
with adult MASH. 

SG 5.2

Children and Young 
People Domestic 
Violence Improvement 
Plan reflects 
safeguarding priorities 
for children.

January 2018 Karen Samuels This was not submitted to 
Children and Young People 
Management Team as 
expected. This action will be 
led by Karen Samuels as the 
Domestic Abuse lead and 
this will be progressed. This 
action will be incorporated 
into the 2018/19 
Improvement Plan. 

SG 5 Working closely with the 
Domestic Violence 
Forum to deliver the 
Children and Young 
People Domestic 
Violence Improvement 
Plan and an effective 
Barnardo’s Screening 
Tool process which 
reflects ‘Think Family’ 
and improves outcomes 
for those affected

SG 5.3

Audit of Impact of 
Domestic Violence 

January 2018 Karen Samuels Audit tool developed and 
audit was undertaken in 
October 2017. 

P
age 47



Page 32 of 66

Action 
Number

Action Milestones Timescale Lead 
Officers

Progress

framework for children 
and young people is 
completed and 
reported on.

Turn from green to blue

SG 5.4
Review of Barnardo’s 
Screening Tool 
redesign is in place 
which reflects 
improved information 
sharing, increased 
adherence to the of 
seeking consent, a 
think family approach 
and better outcomes 
for those impacted by 
Domestic Violence

September 2017 Karen Samuels Barnardo’s Screening Tool 
process has been reviewed 
and framework has been 
agreed. Police are piloting in 
Walsall single agency pre-
screening with view to roll 
out across Wolverhampton 
and Walsall and this was 
rolled-out in September 
2017.

This has been completed. 

AREA: WFD           WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT
All Actions Completed

P
age 48



Page 33 of 66

COMPLETED ACTIONS

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

CA 1 Review Children and Young 
People Management Team 
monthly performance 
management meetings to 
ensure performance and 
quality assurance are jointly 
reviewed and responded to

Introduce an action 
log from each 
performance 
management meeting

Principle Social Worker 
invited to attend future 
meetings

31st March 2017 Emma Bennett ACTION COMPLETED

CA 2 Produce an improvement 
plan for CareFirst and 
Guardian

Produce an action 
plan to ensure all 
issues with Guardian 
and CareFirst are 
resolved

30th April 2017 Alison Montgomery ACTION COMPLETED

CA 3 Ensure that young people 
get swift access to 
appropriate education 
provision and reduce delay 
between school place 
allocation and the date of 
admission

Reduce % of Children 
Missing Education 
investigations that are 
as a result of young 
people delayed by the 
admission process

System developed 
where school 
admissions record the 
date schools are told 
about the admission 
and produce reports 
showing the date they 
go on to roll

31st March 2018 Rachel King 
Bill Hague

ACTION COMPLETED

CA 4 Extend NEET action plan to 
include those not available to 
the labour market (NALM)

NEET action plan 
updated and presented 
to CYP Management 
Team

30th April 2017 Alison Hinds ACTION COMPLETED

CA 5 To implement the action plan 
arising from the Joint 

Quarterly review of 
progress by the YOT 

31st March 2017 Sally Nash ACTION COMPLETED

P
age 49



Page 34 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

Inspection

Ensure the findings from 
evaluation of interventions 
are understood and adopted

Management Board

Achieve target (63%) 
of young offenders 
engaged in 
employment, education 
and training by 31st 

March 2017
CA 6 To continue to improve the 

monitoring of elective home 
education (EHE) 
arrangements to ensure 
children are safeguarded

Deliver the EHE 
Improvement Plan – 
SIGNED OFF AND 
COMPLETE

31st March 2017 Rachel King ACTION COMPLETED

CA 7 Extending the use of Upper 
Pendeford Farm to prevent
placement breakdown

Approval for extended 
use of Upper 
Pendeford Farm to 
support foster care 
respite

31st March 2017 Rachel King ACTION COMPLETED

CA 8 Improve the relationship 
between panel and managers

Agency Decision 
Makers to observe 
panel at least once a 
year

Undertake the Panel 
chair’s appraisal in a 
timely way

Schedule meetings 
between the Panels 
and the Adoption 
Team

31st March 2017

31st March 2017

31st March 2017

Emma Bennett 
Alison Hinds

Emma Bennett 
Alison Hinds

ACTION COMPLETED

CA 9 Review the workforce 
development plan to ensure 
it reflects the priority areas 
for action identified through 
the Ofsted process and 

2016/17 Plan to be 
signed off and 
2017/18 Plan to be 
approved

31st March 2017 Susan Serventi 
Louise Haughton

ACTION COMPLETED

P
age 50



Page 35 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

supports the development of 
a capable and competent 
workforce

CA 10 Commission Child and 
Family Training to deliver a 
programme of training for all 
social workers and 
strengthening families 
workers

Training specification to 
be produced which 
focuses on:

- Revised assessment 
procedures

- Reinforcing pathways
- Good quality 

chronologies
- Voice of the child
- Reflective practice
- Consistency of plans 

and assessments
- Family conversations
- Recording
- SMART and YP 

friendly targets

31st March 2018 Louise Haughton
Susan Serventi

ACTION COMPLETED

CA 11.1
Review the single 
assessment form and 
build in a date that the 
child has been seen 

31st March 2017 Alison Hinds (CFUG) 
Helena Kucharczyk

ACTION 
COMPLETED—JULY 
2017
Form has been updated

CA 11.2
Establish a local 
performance indicator 
of 5 working days for 
time taken for children 
to be first seen

31st May 2017 Emma Bennett 
Helena Kucharczyk

Report now developed 
and part of CYP 
performance dashboard.

CA 11 Improve recording in relation 
to date when child is first 
seen

CA 11.3
Single Assessment 
Procedure to be 
updated and 
briefed to staff 

14th May 2017 Louise Haughton
Alison Montgomery 

Completed and taken to 
the Social Work briefing 
on 18th July 2017

P
age 51



Page 36 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

CA 12 Each Head of Service ensure 
that at least one day per 
month all staff are in the 
office updating recording on 
case files

Heads of Service to 
schedule dates for 12 
months April ’17 – 
March ‘18

31st March 2017 Heads of Service ACTION 
COMPLETED—JULY 
2017

Tidy Fridays are now 
embedded in every day 
practice across CYP 
service area. 

This has been evidenced 
through case file audits 
where case file recordings 
being up to date has been 
evidenced. 

CA 13 Undertake a review of 
services for children and 
young people who display 
sexually harmful behaviour

Review completed 
and action plan 
produced

30th September 
2017

Rob Hart ACTION 
COMPLETED—JULY 
2017

Audit completed and 
action plan produced. Both 
signed off Strengthening 
Families Board in June 
2017.

5 priority areas-
 Workforce Development
 Pathway and Policy 

development
 Commissioning of 

specialist services
 Data collection

Promotion of safe 
relationships and 
behaviors through 
universal services

CA 14 Develop and deliver the 
2017/20 Sufficiency Strategy

Sufficiency Strategy 
2017/20 produced and 

30th June 2017 Paul Smith ACTION 
COMPLETED—JULY 

P
age 52



Page 37 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

approved 2017

Approved at cabinet on 
19th July 2017

CL 1 Increase the number of 
vulnerable 16+ engaged in 
education, employment and 
training (EET)

CL 1.1

Deliver the Not in 
Employment, 
Education or Training 
(NEET) Action Plan 

Reduction in NEET

31st March 2018 Alison Hinds ACTION 
COMPLETED—
OCTOBER 2017

19% of Care Leavers (40 
Young People) were 
NEET at 17th October 
2017 compared with 40% 
at 31st March 2016 and 
39.5% in March 2017. 

WFD 1.1

Review workforce data 
collection mechanisms 
and ensure that 
accurate and 
consistent reporting 
can be produced for 
managers at all levels 

31st March 2017 Jo Farley
Louise Haughton

ACTION 
COMPLETED—
OCTOBER 2017

A dashboard has been 
developed and is shared 
with Senior Management 
monthly. This includes 
sickness, appraisals, 
staff turnover, and 
mandatory training 
completion. 

WFD 1.2

Monthly updates to 
Executive Director and 
Service Director 

31st March 2017 Jo Farley
Louise Haughton

Specific meeting 
arranged for 10th May 
2017 between Service 
Director and HoS to 
review use of agency 
workers

WFD 1 Establish a stable workforce 
and reduce reliance on 
agency staff

WFD 1.3

Regular recruitment 

31st March 2017 Jo Farley
Louise Haughton

Rolling recruitment 
process with quarterly 
interviews

P
age 53



Page 38 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

processes for grade 7, 
8 and 9 social workers
WFD 1.4

Recruitment of a post 
to focus on recruitment 
and retention 

31st March 2017 Jo Farley
Louise Haughton

Recruitment and 
Retention Officer 
recruited internally, to 
commence the end of 
May 2017

WFD 1.5

Reduction in numbers 
and spend on agency 
social workers

31st March 2018 Jo Farley
Louise Haughton

Informed by recruitment 
and retention action plan.

Work with final year 
students on statutory 
placements in ongoing in 
order to match against 
vacancies. There has 
been reduction in spend 
and therefore this 
milestone is complete.

LAC 3.1

Commission 
iMPOWER to work with 
the team to identify 
areas of improvement 
and new ways of 
working

31st March 2017 Alison Hinds ACTION COMPLETE—
DECEMBER 2017

Recommendations of 
iMPOWER review 
accepted at People 
Leadership Team and 
Strategic Executive 
Board and project has 
been established to 
progress 
recommendations.

LAC 3.2

iMPOWER to produce 
a report outlining 
findings and next steps

31st May 2017 Alison Hinds Project plan is in place. 
The targets for 
2017/2018 is 30

LAC 3 Increase the number of 
internal foster carers

LAC 3.3 31st March 2018 Alison Hinds The steering group 
continues to monitor this 
project and we are 

P
age 54



Page 39 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

Deliver the Foster 
Carer action plan to 
increase the number of 
foster carers 

currently performing 
above the Family Values 
target.   

SG 1.1

Improved decision 
making and planning 
within Child Protection 
Conferences

31st May 2017 Dawn Williams ACTION 
COMPLETED—
DECEMBER 2017

The revised Child 
Protection Conference 
process has been rolled 
out across 
Wolverhampton and 
partners are aware of 
their responsibilities 
within this.

SG 1.2

Improved parental and 
young people’s 
participation. 

31st May 2017 Dawn Williams A Revised parental 
feedback questionnaire 
(introduced in July 2017) 
shows a very high % 
agrees or strongly agrees 
that they can make 
suggestions about what 
should be in the plan.

Child attendance at 
conference has 
increased

SG 1 Embed the Child Protection 
Conference model and 
enhance by drawing on 
Restorative Practice 
approaches

SG 1.3

A 6-monthly progress 
report of Child 
Protection conference 
framework is 
completed which 
includes participation, 
impact and outcomes.

30th September 
2017

Dawn Williams Report presented to 
steering group June 
2017.

P
age 55



Page 40 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

SG 1.4
Conference Contributor 
survey is completed

31st December 
2017

Dawn Williams The survey has been 
completed and 
information obtained is 
being compiled. 

SG 1.5

6 monthly audits of 
quality of Outline Child 
Protection Plans

31st July 2017 Dawn Williams Audits are completed 
monthly as part of an 
oversight of CP Chair 
activity and supervision. 
This is Business as 
Usual.

PMQA 8.1

Advanced practitioner 
to meet with 
compliments and 
complaints, Adoption, 
Fostering and the 
participation officer to 
ensure feedback from 
service users is fully 
incorporated into the 
Quality Assurance 
Framework

30th September 
2017

Heads of Service 
Louise Haughton

ACTION COMPLETED --
JANUARY 2018
This has been completed

PMQA 8 Ensure feedback from 
service users is captured, 
analysed and used to inform 
service improvement

PMQA 8.2

Review processes in 
individual service areas 
for: collecting and 
analysing service user 
feedback; and how this 
informs service 
improvement

30th September 
2017

All Heads of Service This has been embedded 
throughout Children’s 
Services in 
Wolverhampton. 
Examples include:

Service User Feedback 
is embedded in the audit 
process for CiN/CP and 
LAC. Feedback is also 
obtained through other 
means, such as Care 
Leaver Questionnaires, 
Fostering Forum and 
Child in Care Council 

P
age 56



Page 41 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

HeadStart use multiple 
avenues, such as Mini 
Ambassadors, Quality 
Assurance evaluations, 
HeadStart Shadow Board 
and qualitative studies. 

The Youth Offending 
Team are currently 
holding Service User 
Interviews which will 
result in learning and 
development of practice 
around reducing 
offending. 

Upper Pendeford Farm 
has set up a Young 
Persons Forum where 
the views of Young 
People have shaped 
service provision, for 
example, Young People 
having regular respite 
have requested their own 
bedding, which has been 
actioned. 

PMQA 8.3

Ensure service user 
feedback is an integral 
part of the audit 
process social work 
service.  

31st March 2017 Louise Haughton Completed

COM 6 Review the current Child 
Sexual Exploitation contract 
with a view to ensure this 

COM 6.1

Present a review and 

30th September 
2017

Sarah Smith This action is being 
deleted as 
Commissioning are not 

P
age 57



Page 42 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

service is delivered going 
forward.  

options paper to 
Children and Young 
People Management in 
September 2017.

responsible for 
commission this contract. 

PMQA 4.1

Review Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) performance 
information against the 
Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
pathway and re-
produce the reporting 
template ensuring that 
reports are clear and 
tell the performance 
story accurately

31st March 2018 Helena Kucharczyk More work has been 
completed on MASH 
Reporting and this is more 
developed. More work 
needs to be completed on 
the Barnardo’s Screening 
Tool, but this is currently 
being reviewed. 

PMQA 4 Ensure accurate and relevant 
information is regularly 
available to inform 
understanding of 
performance and quality in 
the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub

PMQA 4.2

Introduce a 12-month 
dip sampling schedule 
aligned with 
understanding of 
performance and 
extend dip sampling to 
review action carried 
out 

30th April 2017 Alison Montgomery
Helena Kucharczyk

Dip sampling schedule 
produced, informed by 
available performance 
information

PMQA 5.1

Revise Family 
Meetings Policy and 
Procedure and review 
the process. 

30th June 2017 Rachel Warrender Review of family meetings 
procedure was presented 
and approved on 13th July 
2017 at Children and 
Young People 
Management team.

PMQA 5 Review family meetings 
ensuring that there is a 
robust procedure in place for 
recording them

PMQA 5.2

To ensure Family 

31st March 2018 Rachel Warrender
Alison Hinds (CFUG) 
Denise Williams

This was on hold until 
Eclipse was in place. 
However, now that Eclipse 

P
age 58



Page 43 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

meetings are recorded 
and reportable on 
CareFirst and Early 
Intervention System in 
order to monitor 
performance

has been put on hold the 
“meeting” form on 
CareFirst now has a drop-
down option for family 
meetings. This means that 
family meetings are now 
recordable and reportable 
on Care First. 

Family meetings are 
recordable and reportable 
on EIS. 

PMQA 6.1

Ensure audit tools are 
available for all service 
levels across children’s 
services

30th June 2017

Fostering and 
Adoption Target: 
31st March 2018

Louise Haughton Formal audit 
arrangements now exist 
within all service areas. 
This has resulted in a 
greater level of information 
about the quality of 
frontline interventions 
being available to 
managers. 

Further work will continue 
under business as usual 
to embed audit tools in 
more teams in 2018-19.

PMQA 6.2

Ensure restorative 
practice is reflected in 
the revised framework 

31st March 2017 Louise Haughton Completed.

PMQA 6 Ensure quality assurance 
tools and processes are 
embedded at all services 
levels

PMQA 6.3

Produce a monthly 
timetable/schedule 
outlining the focus of 
dip samples across the 
service 

31st March 2017 Heads of Service Dip sampling has been 
reviewed as this takes 
place in response to 
immediate need or issues 
identified through 
performance data. QA 
Framework has been 

P
age 59



Page 44 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

revised in line with this 
review.

PMQA 6.4

Produce a timetable of 
the bi-monthly audits 
and themes for peer 
evaluation 

31st March 2017 Louise Haughton This has been completed 
and all managers are 
provided with dates of 
scheduled audits in 
advance. 

PMQA 6.5

Advanced Practitioner 
lead for quality and 
improvement to meet 
with each Head of 
Service 

31st May 2017 Louise Haughton Strengthened Quality 
Assurance across wider 
areas of Children and 
Young People, including 
Intensive Family Support 
and Educational 
Psychology. 

Advanced Practitioner for 
Quality Assurance has 
reviewed the audit tools 
for Early Intervention and 
Social Work Teams and 
these are being used. 

EI 1 To review the impact of the 
team around the family 
process

EI 1.1

Review to take place 

30th September 
2017

Denise Williams This was presented in 
August 2017 to the 
Children and Young 
People (CYP) 
Management Team. A 
Supporting Families 
Pathway has been 
devised as part of the 
thresholds document.  An 
Early Help Scorecard has 
been developed and 
progress against elements 
of this are reported 
monthly i.e. Early Help 
Assessments, Family 
Meetings, Team Around 

P
age 60



Page 45 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

the Family and Reviews. 
EI 1.2

Action plan produced 
to respond to review 
findings

30th September 
2017

Denise Williams The Early Help Scorecard 
is used as the basis for 
exception reporting, 
discussed at monthly 
performance surgeries 
which is driving 
improvements in this area.

EI 4.1

Implementation of re- 
commissioned service 
for the healthy child 
programme.

31st March 2018 Andrew Wolverson
Neeraj Malhotra

A new contract has been 
awarded and was in effect 
from 1st April 2018. 

EI 4 Improve universal contact 
with families through 
integration of a range of 
partner agencies

EI 4.2

Increased use of Early 
Help Assessments by 
partner agencies

31st March 2018 Denise Williams There has been an 
increase in the number of 
partner agencies trained 
and we are seeing an 
increase in Early Help 
Assessments taking place. 
Since the launch of the 
Threshold in November 
2017, there has been an 
increase in Early Help 
Assessments from partner 
agencies of 17%. This is 
very positive, but this 
trend needs to continue.

EI 5.1

Increase in the number 
of outcome star 
assessments 
completed

31st March 2018 Denise Williams Outcome Star has now 
been built into the Early 
Help Assessment in 
Eclipse. This will result in 
an Outcome Star Measure 
for every assessment 
completed.

EI 5 To embed the use of the 
outcome star assessment in 
order to evidence distance 
travelled and outcomes for 
families

EI 5.2

Evidence of distance 

31st March 2018 Denise Williams The Eclipse System has 
now been adapted to 
ensure that all 

P
age 61



Page 46 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

travelled assessments require 
management oversight 
and approval. This will 
allow distance travelled to 
be better assessed. 

EI 6.1

Project plan in place

30th June 2017 Denise Williams This is now launched as a 
formal project and a plan 
is in place.

EI 6.2

Annual target achieved 
for numbers identified 
and engaged: 2532 
total.

31st March 2018 Denise Williams The new target set by 
DCLG is 2532 families 
engaged since the 
beginning of the program. 
This is the total number of 
families expected to be 
accepted and engaged on 
the programme by March 
2018. 

We have engaged 2585 
families onto the 
programme and currently 
claim for 687. This is 28% 
of total claims required up 
to the end of the 
programme in 2020. The 
national average claim 
rate in 21%.

This will be incorporated 
into the 2018/19 
Improvement Plan.

EI 6 Continuing to refine the 
processes for the 
identification and 
engagement of families that 
fit the troubled families 
criteria focusing specifically 
on ensuring significant and 
sustained outcomes

EI 6.3

Annual target for 
Payment by Results—
390 by October 2017 
and additional 642 by 
March 2018

31st March 2017 Denise Williams See Above

We have engaged 2585 
families onto the 
programme and currently 
claim for 687. This is 28% 
of total claims required up 

P
age 62



Page 47 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

to the end of the 
programme in 2020. The 
national average claim 
rate in 21%.

This will be incorporated 
into the 2018/19 
Improvement Plan.

EI 7 Review and refresh Early 
Intervention Strategy

EI 7.1

The strategy is 
produced and agreed 

31st March 2018 Denise Williams This was signed off at 
Cabinet on 25 April 2018.

SSS 1.1

Missing return 
interviews completed 
on time

31st March 2018 Rachel King Performance around the 
missing/return interviews 
is consistently high. In the 
4th Quarter, 45 young 
people went missing, 
totaling 89 incidents. 90% 
of the episodes were 
followed up with a return 
interview with 70% of 
these being completed 
within 72-hour timescale.  
Reasons for young people 
not engaging in a return 
interview are always 
recorded and the most 
common reasons are that 
they cannot be contact or 
go missing again.

SSS 1 Ensuring the information 
gathered via missing return 
interviews is shared 
effectively to contribute to 
casework planning and risk 
management plans

SSS 1.2

Information from 
missing return 
interviews is shared 
with relevant 
professionals and use 
to inform casework 

31st March 2018 Rachel King The missing/return officer 
has implemented a policy 
where they have a 
telephone conversation 
with social workers 
following a return, in order 
to agree a support plan for 
the young person. 

P
age 63



Page 48 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

planning and risk 
management. 

Ongoing use of 
information from return 
interviews will be 
considered in a follow-up 
audit in July 2018. 

SSS 1.3

Reduction in repeat 
missing incidents for 
first time missing 
children and reduction 
in the number of prolific 
missing children

31st March 2018 Rachel King We are now tracking the 
percentage of young 
people who have repeat 
missing episodes within 
each quarter.

Q1
I episode – 75%
2 episodes – 8%
3+ episodes – 13%
6+ episodes – 4%
10+ episodes – 0%

Q2
I episode – 63%
2 episodes – 10%
3+ episodes – 19%
6+ episodes – 6%
10+ episodes – 2%

Q3
1 episode – 71%
2 episodes – 10%
3+ episodes – 15%
6+ episodes – 4%
10+ episodes – 0%

Q4
1 episode – 67%
2 episodes – 13%
3+ episodes – 13%
6+ episodes – 7%
10+ episodes – 0%

P
age 64



Page 49 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

Where there are prolific 
missing episodes 
individual follow-up is 
being initiated.
However, the July 2018 
audit should ensure that 
caseworkers have regard 
to risks around young 
people going missing and 
that the multi-agency 
response is designed to 
disrupt the missing 
episodes.  

SSS 2.1

Increased occupancy 
of Upper Pendeford 
Farm

30th June 2017 Rachel King Statement of Purpose 
amended and approved 
by Ofsted enabling Upper 
Pendeford Farm to offer 
short breaks to Looked 
After Children young 
people to prevent 
placement breakdown.

Occupancy continues to 
increase and was 82% in 
August 2017.

SSS 2 Increasing occupancy of 
Upper Pendeford Farm and 
ensuring the resource is 
most effectively used to 
prevent family breakdown

SSS 2.2
Delivery of Ofsted 
Improvement Plan 

31st March 2017 Rachel King Ofsted undertook an 
interim monitoring 
inspection on
22.3.17. The action plan 
was signed off and there 
was one minor action 
following the interim 
inspection which has now 
been completed.

Upper Pendeford Farm 
were inspected again on 

P
age 65



Page 50 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

30-31st August 2017. 
Improvements were 
recognized and a 
judgement of “good” was 
awarded. 

SSS 2.3

Evaluation report 
produced to 
understand long term 
impact of specialist 
support interventions, 
particularly the impact 
on prevention of family 
breakdown

31st October 
2017

Rachel King During Q4 90% of IFS, 
UPF and FGC cases so 
far have remained out of 
care following the edge of 
care intervention. 

SSS 3.1

Development plan for 
Family Group 
Conferencing produced

30th April 2017 Rachel King We have launched and 
promoted the Mandatory 
offer for Unborn babies on 
a CP Plan and young 
people accessing Short 
Breaks. Referrals to FGC 
have increased 16%. This 
is now a recorded action 
from Admission to Care on 
the outcome form. We are 
piloting the use of FGC in 
some DV cases.

SSS 3 Extending the use of family 
group conferencing (FGC)

SSS 3.2

Increased take-up of 
Family Group 
Conferencing (FGC) to 
maximise available 
resources

31st March 2018 Rachel King The mandatory offer of 
Family Group 
Conferencing (FGC) for all 
unborn children subject to 
a CP plan and all young 
people accessing short 
break support from Upper 
Pendeford Farm (UPF) 
continues to be promoted. 
Data suggests that 20% of 
families referred to FGC 

P
age 66



Page 51 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

refuse to either consent or 
engage with the offer. We 
are liaising with other LA’s 
about how to better 
engage reluctant families. 

SSS 3.3

Extended use of 
Family Group 
Conferencing for 
targeted cohorts

31st March 2018 Rachel King There were 49 FGC 
referrals in Jan 2018, 16 in 
Feb 2018, and 16 in Mar 
2018 – a total of 81 for 
Quarter 4.  

See SSS 3.1
SSS 4 Ensuring Multi-Agency 

Sexual Exploitation (MASE) 
meetings are effectively 
chaired and discussions 
focus specifically on risks 
and this is accurately 
recorded

SSS 4.1

Monthly dip sampling 
and update report to 
Children and Young 
People Management 
Team

31st October 
2017

Rachel King We have completed an 
audit and recommended 
that plans need to be 
SMART and incorporated 
into other plans (i.e. CiN 
and CP Plans). This will 
be audited again in July 
2018.

CiN/CP 1.1

To deliver the Multi-
Agency Safeguarding 
Hub Improvement Plan 
including working 
towards a whole family 
approach

31st March 2018 Alison Montgomery A Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) improvement plan 
has been developed and 
is monitored via MASH 
Strategic board. 

There are robust 
processes in place.

CiN/CP 1 Ensure that there are robust 
and timely processes in the 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub (MASH) for assessments 
and clear protocols for 
transfer into localities

CiN/CP 1.2

Ensure sufficient 
capacity is in place in 
the Child Assessment 
Team (CAT) to 
undertake all 
assessments

30th April 2017 Alison Montgomery 
Rachel Warrender

The Child Assessment 
Team is close to fully 
staffed. Assessments are 
timely and work to 
improve quality is ongoing. 

P
age 67



Page 52 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

CiN/CP 1.3

Develop procedures for 
assessment and in 
particular, the role of 
the Social Worker in 
Strategy discussions
Commission Children 
& Family training re. 
assessments and 
transfer processes 

30th April 2017 Alison Montgomery 
Louise Haughton

Relevant procedures 
completed and briefed to 
staff.

CiN/CP 1.4

Develop transfer 
protocol for cases from 
the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub into 
localities

30th April 2017 Alison Montgomery
Rachel Warrender

Signed off by Children and 
Young People 
Management Team. As of 
the end of Quarter 3 there 
is a new transfer 
procedure in place.

CiN/CP 1.5

Review all unallocated 
cases 

Monthly Alison Montgomery There is no longer 
unallocated work in the 
MASH.

CiN/CP 1.6

Establish a dedicated 
duty worker in each of 
the teams and review 
this after 3 months

28th February 
2017

Alison Montgomery This has been superseded 
by the new arrangements 
for the Child Assessment 
Teams. 

CiN/CP 1.7

Produce a clear policy 
on the expectations re. 
unallocated cases 
regarding oversight, 
prioritisation, 
escalation, etc.

28th February 
2017

Alison Montgomery
Rachel Warrender

This has been approved 
and briefed out to all staff.

P
age 68



Page 53 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

CiN/CP 1.8

Introduce template 
letters that come out 
from the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub as 
cases are transferred 
and one which is 
completed by the 
locality to say that they 
have received it and 
what they are going to 
do with it. This can also 
be used to feedback to 
referrers

31st May 2017 Alison Montgomery
Rachel Warrender

The template has been 
introduced in MASH. The 
use of these letters will be 
embedded as business as 
usual. 

CiN/CP 2.1

Review and refresh 
Disabled Children and 
Young People Carers’ 
Strategy

31st March 2018 Alison Montgomery This report has been 
completed and was 
presented to People 
Leadership Team in 
February 2018.

CiN/CP 2.2

Clear offer for carers in 
place

31st March 2018 Alison Montgomery This has been created and 
is now on the website.

CiN/CP 2 Improving the offer for carers 
in response to both Children 
and Families Act 2014 and 
Care Act 2014

CiN/CP 2.3

Agree clear criteria for 
cases within Disabled 
Children and Young 
People Team.

30th September 
2017

Alison Montgomery This has been completed 
and the criteria has been 
agreed. 

CiN/CP 3 Ensure thresholds within the 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub are being applied 
consistently and 
appropriately

CiN/CP 3.1

Copies of the threshold 
document available on 
all desks within the 
Multi-Agency 

31st March 2017 Alison Montgomery The threshold document 
has been refreshed and 
roll-out started on 6th 
November 2017.

P
age 69



Page 54 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

Safeguarding Hub
CiN/CP 3.2

Deliver a training 
session with all staff in 
the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
focusing on thresholds 
and consent.  Use real 
referrals as examples. 

30th April 2017 Alison Montgomery Training sessions have 
taken place with Multi-
Agency Safeguarding Hub 
Managers and all staff.

Further training will take 
place on a continuous 
basis. 

CiN/CP 3.3 

Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
Manager to have 
regular discussions 
with partner agencies 
in the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub re. 
thresholds, identifying 
examples where they 
are incorrect.

5th May 2017 Alison Montgomery The Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) manager and 
partner agencies within 
the MASH now have 
regular discussions 
regarding thresholds and 
identify examples where 
they are incorrect. This is 
now business as usual. 

CiN/CP 3.4

Commission multi-
agency audit of 
thresholds in the Multi-
Agency Safeguarding 
Hub

31st March 2018 Alison Montgomery The report was presented 
to Children and Young 
People Management 
Team in November 2017 
and we are now confident 
about threshold decisions. 
Dip samples of threshold 
decisions will continue into 
next year.

CiN/CP 3.5

Implement quality 
rating of referrals into 
the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub and 

31st January 
2018

Alison Montgomery
Denise Williams

This has been introduced 
and is business as usual. 
If a Multi-Agency Referral 
Form(MARF) is not of 
good quality this is picked 
up and, if not resent, the 

P
age 70



Page 55 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

provide feedback to 
partner agencies for 
follow-up

MARF is chased after 10 
days. 

CiN/CP 3.6

Agree process for 
consent for referrals 
into the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub

31st May 2017 Emma Bennett Consent guidance 
approved at 
Wolverhampton 
Safeguarding Children 
Board Exec group on 11th 
May and Wolverhampton 
Safeguarding Children 
Board on 14th June 2017. 
Presented to head 
teachers on 13th July 
2017. This is being 
embedded within the new 
thresholds to support 
document.

IS 1 Develop the Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health 
Plan

IS 1.1

Plan Produced and 
formally agreed

30th September 
2017

Rob Hart The plan was updated and 
presented to Transforming 
Children’s Board in March 
2018. This has been 
agreed. Guidance for 
schools has been 
developed and training 
offered. Review of 
alternative provision is 
underway and will be 
completed in July 2018.

IS 2 Ensure assessments are 
provided to support transfer 
of statements to Education 
Health and Care Plans in line 
with local Special 
Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) transition 
plan

IS 2.1

To support 444 transfer 
reviews

31st March 2018 Rob Hart All transfers of statements 
to an Education, Health 
and Care Plan were 
completed in advance of 
31st March 2018 deadline.

HS 1 Deliver the HeadStart 
Programme

HS 1.1 28th February 
2018

Kevin Pace Following the last quarter 
review (February 2018) 

P
age 71



Page 56 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

Review of performance 
against forecast spend 
(as reported in Verto or 
Quarterly report, 
whichever comes first, 
at the time of review)

with Big Lottery Fund, the 
HeadStart programme 
was reporting as on track 
with its forecast spend. It 
is likely the programme 
will be reporting slippage 
into the next financial 
year, but this will be 
reviewed with Big Lottery 
Fund at the Annual 
Review in May when the 
reprofiled budge is 
agreed. 

Total slippage amount will 
not be known until the 
close of accounts at year 
end (April 2018). 

HS 1.2

Review of performance 
against forecast reach 
figures (as reported in 
Verto or Quarterly 
report, whichever 
comes first, at the time 
of review)

28th February 
2018

Kevin Pace Following the last quarter 
review (February 2018) 
with Big Lottery Fund, the 
HeadStart programme 
was reporting as on track 
with its reach figures. 

Two interventions did not 
reach their forecast 
affecting the overall reach 
figure for ‘parents 
benefitting from the 
HeadStart programme’. 
These were; Work with 
Parents (Universal 
Contract) and Digital 
Family Sessions. The 
Work with Families 
contract was operational 
at the end of the reporting 

P
age 72



Page 57 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

year, later than expected 
due to an extended tender 
period as request by the 
VSC sector. 

The Digital Family 
Sessions are run over an 
academic year and not a 
financial year (which is the 
standard window for 
reporting) so therefore 
there are still 3 months 
remaining to deliver this 
intervention which could 
see an increase in the 
reach numbers.

This will be reported to the 
Big Lottery Fund at the 
Annual Review in May and 
next year’s reach figures 
reforecast to reflect 
delivery.   

HS 1.3

Review of performance 
against forecast 
milestones achieved 
(as reported in Verto or 
Quarterly report, 
whichever comes first, 
at the time of review)

31st January 
2018

Kevin Pace Following the last quarter 
review (February 2018) 
with Big Lottery Fund, the 
HeadStart programme 
was reporting as on track 
with its forecast 
milestones. 

All milestones have been 
met with the exception of 
two which will roll over into 
the next reporting year; 
Sustainability planning 
and empowerment tool 
kits. 

P
age 73



Page 58 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

The first of two tool kits 
are almost complete and 
are just waiting for some 
design work, these will be 
live in May.

Sustainability planning has 
been delayed in line with 
the evaluation so that the 
evidence gathered as part 
of the programme can be 
used to plan what is and 
isn’t sustainable.

This will be reported to the 
Big Lottery Fund at the 
Annual Review in May and 
next year’s milestones 
reforecast.

HS. 1.4

Projected reach to 
1,539 young people by 
end of March 2018.

31st March 2018 There were 2,383 young 
people benefitting from the 
HeadStart Programme as 
reported in the February 
review. 

LAC 4.1

To deliver the Private 
Fostering Action Plan

31st March 2018 Alison Hinds Action plan in place and 
progress is overseen by 
Children and Young 
People Management 
Team.

LAC 4 Increase awareness and 
reporting of private fostering

LAC 4.2

Increase in numbers of 
private fostering 
arrangements in the 
City

31st March 2018 Alison Hinds Although numbers have 
not increased, the LA is 
assured that all 
awareness raising 
opportunities have been 
perused and will continue 
to be pursued in the 

P
age 74



Page 59 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

coming year.  
LAC 4.3

Annual report to be 
presented to 
Wolverhampton 
Safeguarding Children 
Board in September 
2017.

30th September 
2017

Alison Hinds Local multi-agency forum 
has been established to 
promote champion roles in 
partner organizations.

Annual report was 
completed and presented 
to WSCB in September 
2017. 

LAC 5 Ensure Wolverhampton is 
fully compliant with the 
changes outlined in the 
Children and Families Bill

LAC 5.1

Action Plan to be 
produced

31st March 2018 Rachel Warrender       
Alison Hinds

All work to ensure we are 
compliant has been 
completed except for the 
Care Leaver Offer which 
will be finalized and 
launched in September 
2018. This will be included 
in the 2018/19 
Improvement Plan. 

CL 2 Ensure all care leavers are 
provided with a health 
summary

CL 2.1

100% care leavers 
provided with a health 
summary

31st March 2018 Alison Hinds Every new care leaver is 
having a health summary, 
but this will take some 
time to get up to 100%. 
Once completed these are 
recorded on CareFirst.

YOT 1.1

Adherence to the 
Youth Justice Board 
National Standards

31st July 2017 Alison Hinds                 
Sally Nash

There is now joint 
attendance at meetings 
and systems are 
communicating with each 
other. 

Looked After Children 
Team will ensure 
accommodation needs of 
young people are 
addressed in time for ten-
day pre-release meeting.

YOT 1 Ensuring earlier and 
improved joint planning 
between social care and 
Youth Offending Team for 
young people released from 
tier 4 and custody

YOT 1.2 Dates as per the Alison Hinds                      A workshop with Youth 

P
age 75



Page 60 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

Implement actions in 
the Looked After 
Children Team/Youth 
Offending Team 
working more 
effectively together 
action plan

plan 31st July 
2017

Sally Nash Offending Team and 
Transitions staff took 
place in June 2017 which 
contributed to joint action 
planning and protocol.

Action plan is in place and 
is regularly reviewed by 
CYP Management Team. 

YOT 1.3

Develop a joint working 
protocol between 
Youth Offending Team 
and Social Care

July 2017 Alison Hinds                         
Sally Nash

This is in place and staff 
has been trained. More 
joint working is now taking 
place.

YOT 2.1

Re-establish Youth 
Crime Prevention 
Steering Group

31st May 2017 Andrew Wolverson 
Sally Nash

Group has reconvened 
with regular meetings, 4 
took place over summer. 
A modest program of 
diversionary activities was 
offered through the 
summer. The Youth Crime 
Prevention Action Plan 
was formulated and 
shared at Strengthening 
Families Board and this 
will guide future work. 

YOT 2 Review the work delivered 
locally across the Children 
and Young People Service in 
support of the Gangs 
Strategy

YOT 2.2

Children and Young 
People Service to 
develop an action plan 
re. response to gangs

31st July 2017 Andrew Wolverson 
Sally Nash

Gang and Youth Violence 
action plan has been 
developed and is progress 
is being monitored through 
CYP management team.

YOT 3 To reduce reoffending within 
the Youth Offending Team 

YOT 3.1

Implement the 

31st March 2018 Sally Nash Use of the reoffending 
toolkit is now embedded 
within the YOT and 

P
age 76



Page 61 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

reoffending toolkit performance is being 
monitored on a quarterly 
basis via the YOT 
management board.  
Information gathered via 
the Reoffending toolkit will 
enable more up to date 
figures around 
reoffending.  

During 2017/18 a total of 
129 young people have 
been recorded in the 
toolkit.   This provides a 
baseline on which to 
measure performance 
going forward.

YOT 3.2

Ensure the findings 
from evaluation of 
interventions are 
understood and 
adopted

30th September 
2017

Sally Nash A report has been 
received by the YPT 
detailing the research 
conducted around YOT 
interventions. These 
recommendations are now 
being implemented.  In 
addition, YOT staff are 
being trained in ALTAR 
(Abuse, Loss, Trauma, 
Attachment, Resilience). 

This will increase 
knowledge & skills to 
develop trauma informed 
practice and interventions.  
Monitoring the progress of 
this will be carried forward 
to the 18/19 plan

COM 4 Review specification of 
Merridale Street West in 

31st March 2018 Sarah Smith Merridale Street West 
have tuped over and the 

P
age 77



Page 62 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

order to meet city’s needs  building has been handed 
back to the Council. Staff 
are currently receiving an 
induction. Registration 
with Ofsted is progressing 
and will be submitted the 
first week of May 2018. 

COM 5 Develop and progress 
sufficiency strategy action 
plan

March 2020 Sarah Smith An action plan has been 
agreed and is being 
monitored through 
Children’s Transformation 
Board. 

Monitoring of this has 
been included in the 
2018/19 plan.

COM 7.1

Establishment of pulled 
budget under Better 
Care Fund (BCF)

31st March 2018 Sarah Smith The Better Care Fund 
pooled budget has been 
agreed and the Section 75 
has been signed off.

COM 7 Work with Clinical 
Commissioning Group in 
delivering Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health 
(CAMHS) transformation 
program. COM 7.2

Develop a specification 
and lead on the 
tendering process for a 
Tier 2 Service

31st March 2018 Sarah Smith This went out to tender 
and a contract was 
awarded in April 2018.

SG 4 Ensuring the role of the 
Independent Reviewing 
Offers/Child Protection 
Conference Chairs plays a 
key role in improving social 
work practice

SG 4.1

Social Work 
responsibilities/actions 
surrounding Child 
Protection and Looked 
After Children 
processes are 
improved

Dawn Williams Independent Reviewing 
Officers regularly meet 
with managers and staff to 
inform and encourage 
awareness and 
implementation of Child 
Protection and Looked 
After Children processes. 
This is business as usual.

This is business as usual

P
age 78



Page 63 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

SG 4.2

Care planning is 
SMART and drift and 
delay for children and 
young people is 
minimised

Dawn Williams Care Plans are subject of 
regular audit by the 
Safeguarding Manager 
(CHILDREN)

This is now business as 
usual. IRO’s are clear in 
their responsibilities 
regarding drift. Where 
inaction is identified in 
respect of the chairs this is 
escalated and challenged. 

SG 4.3

Audit of CareFirst to 
ensure recording 
demonstrates 
challenge and support 
by Independent 
Reviewing Officers and 
Child Protection 
Conference Chairs.

31st July 2017 Dawn Williams This continues to be 
audited through regular 
case file audits. 

SG 4.4

Quality Assurance 
activity is regularly 
reported from CareFirst 
to enable practice 
improvement

Dawn Williams 
Helena Kucharczyk 

QA data is now available 
and reported in the 
Quarterly IRO Report to 
CYP Managers meetings

SG 4.5

Independent 
Reviewing Officers and 
Child Protection 
Conference Chairs 
have evidenced active 
involvement in Social 

30th September 
2017

Dawn Williams Independent Reviewing 
Offices and Child 
Protection Conference 
Chairs are involved in 
Social Work development 
activities e.g. induction, 
team briefings, and 
presentations. The impact 
of this requires review.

P
age 79



Page 64 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

Work development 
activities This is business as usual. 
WFD 2.1

Development Plan to 
be produced and 
presented to Children 
and Young People 
Management Team

31st May 2017 Louise Haughton 
Susan Serventi

This program was 
launched 18th September 
2017 and managers have 
started to attend modules 
and coaching. This now 
includes Social Work Unit 
Managers and 
Strengthening Families 
Delivery Managers. 

Impact of Programme will 
be measured through 
delegate feedback and 
audit.

WFD 2.2

Commission a 
development
programme for 
managers

31st September 
2017

Louise Haughton
Susan Serventi

Same as above

WFD 2 Produce a development plan 
for Social Work Managers 
and use this to inform a 
development programme to 
include a mixture of internal
and external facilitators and 
coaching/mentoring.
Programme to be mandatory

WFD 2.3

Improvement in quality 
and consistency of 
frontline managers

31st March 2018 Louise Haughton
Susan Serventi

Leadership program was 
approved by management 
team in June 2017 and will 
commence in September 
2017. The programme will 
run for 9 months and 
include 1:1 coaching. 

WFD 2.4 

Supervision Procedure 
to be developed and 
launched.

31st March 2018 Louise Haughton Competency based 
supervision has not been 
embedded consistently in 
practice across all social 
work teams in CYP. 

There is now a task and 
finish group made up of 
frontline managers who 

P
age 80



Page 65 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

are reviewing the tool and 
the supervision procedure 
sis being simplified. 

Supervision is an ongoing 
area for development and 
will be addressed in the 
2018-19 plan

WFD 2.5

Supervision dip sample 
to measure impact

31st June 2018 Louise Haughton Dip sample was 
completed in February 
2018. Actions around 
supervision are being 
carried over to the 2018-
19 Improvement Plan. 

WFD 3.1

Restorative Practice 
Training to be 
delivered

31st March 2018 Louise Haughton Training is on schedule 
but the original deadline 
was extended during the 
1st quarter due to new 
staff and extension of train 
the trainer. Restorative 
Practice will continue to be 
delivered by our internal 
trainers. 

During 2017/2018 uptake 
of RP Training has been:
125 one-day awareness 
training
133 managers
380 frontline practitioners
Train the Trainer—16

WFD 3 Roll-out Restorative Practice 
Training across Children 
Services Workforce

WFD 3.2 

Impact/Evaluation 
Report

31st March 2018 Louise Haughton Phase 1 report has been 
received from the 
University of 
Wolverhampton and has 
been seen by managers. 
Phase 2 is on track and 
will take place in the next 

P
age 81



Page 66 of 66

ACTION 
NUMBER

ACTIONS MILESTONES TIMESCALES LEAD 
OFFICERS

PROGRESS

fiscal year.

The evaluation found that 
RP is beginning to change 
culture and the workforce 
are talking about how “we” 
work in Wolverhampton. 
The workforce spoke 
positively about RP in 
supervision and when 
working with families.

KEY: 

Significant Risk that it will not be achieved 
 

Some risk that it may not be achieved although this may be corrected by remedial action       

On target to complete on or before its target date 

Completed     

P
age 82



City of Wolverhampton Council - Children's Services Summary Up to 31st March 2018
Referral Rate per 10,000

707.3

2016/17
CWC - 1013

WM - 654
SN - 732

ENG - 548

MASH & Early Help
All figures shown above are year to date figures with a direction of travel indicator compared to the last reporting period

C
h

il
d

re
n

kn
o

w
n

353.9 398.3 488.6 402.5 407.3 419.3 413.5 414.5 228.8

361

380
369

359

333

409

443

413

448 448

332
346

337 338 338

CiN per 10,000 Population aged 0-17

Wolverhampton West Midlands
Statistical Neighbours England

43.6 41.8 50.3 26.1 49.5 60.0 66.4 69.5 65.2

42
45 46

43 43

52

56 56 55 55

38
42 43 43 43

CP per 10,000 Population aged 0-17

117.0 136.0 135.0 112.0 110.5 110.7 113.3 112.3 111.4

72 73 75 73 74

81 82 83 83 83

60 60 60 60 60

LAC per 10,000 Population aged 0-17

1083

1243

1749

1421 1438 1446
1360 1354 1331

244 236 290
151

288
349 386 404 379

655
769 778

653 643 644 659 653 648

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

CiN, CP and LAC Numbers CiN CP LAC

i

2016/17
CWC - 24.3%
WM - 23.40%
SN - 22.97%

ENG -h

Repeat Referral Rate

18.30%

119

National 
Rank

i
Trend 2016/17

CWC -
86.00%

WM - 84.30%
SN - 82.29%h

Assessments in 45 
Working Days

84%

60

National 
Rank

h
Trend 2016/17

CWC -
80.40%

WM - 78.80%
SN - 79.63%i

ICPCs in 15 days

50%

82

National 
Rank

i
Trend 2016/17

CWC - 49.5
WM - 45.3
SN - 55.58
ENG - 43.3

ICPCs per 10,000 
i

Trend

Referrals and Assessments Child Protection

71.2%

77.0%

81.6%
79.4%

83.3%

73.6% 73.2%

2015/16 2016/17 Nov 2017 Dec 2017 Jan 2018 Feb 2018 Mar 2018

Percentage of assessments completed within 45 working days 

90%
98% 95% 91% 92% 90% 87%

44%
34% 34% 36% 36% 36% 36%

75% 79% 78% 77% 73% 72% 73%

2016/17 Oct 2017 Nov 2017 Dec 2017 Jan 2018 Feb 2018 Mar 2018

CP Visits 
CP with up to date visits CP with all visits up to date Visits completed on time

1500% 15 20 26 20 32 39

95% 96% 95% 93% 95%
90% 90%

2016/17 Oct 2017 Nov 2017 Dec 2017 Jan 2018 Feb 2018 Mar 2018

Length of time open 
CP Plans open more than 15 months CP Plans open <15 months

First visits within 5 days 
(monthly)

55%

Nov-17

57%

Dec-17

53%

Jan-18

61%

Mar-18

First visits within 5 days 
(year to date) NYA

60%

Feb-18

Repeat CP in last 2 
years

Repeat CP ever

CP with up to date plan

2016/17
Dec 
2017

Jan 
2018

Trend
Feb 
2018

Mar 
2018

7.0% h3.0% 2.0% 2.0% 3.0%

20.0% h17.0% 15.0% 17.0% 19.0%

88% h78% 72% 67% 72%

557

386

531 528
487

332
374

415 430
384

549

456 445

95
58

95 78 67
38

64 85 106
57

100
62 47

256
206

247
218 209

184 183 205 216 225 237
200 182206

122

189
232 211

110 127 125 108 102

212 194 216

Mar-17 Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

MASH Contacts 
MASH Contacts Red RAG Amber RAG Green RAG

50.0% 49.0% 47.5% 41.4% 35.9% 28.7% 28.3%

36.4% 36.0% 39.7%
38.3% 47.5%

46.7%
56.0%

11.4% 13.9% 11.3% 20.1% 12.2%
20.4%

13.7%
2.3% 2.9% 1.5% 4.4% 4.2% 2.0%

2016/17 Rolling 12 Nov 2017 Dec 2017 Jan 2018 Feb 2018 Mar 2018

MASH Outcomes 
Referred to Social Care Referred to Early Help NFA Other

EH Assessments 
initiated

EH Assessments open

2015/16 2016/17
Nov 
2017

Trend
Dec 
2017

Jan 
2018

2401 h3115 407 311 455

1523 h2023 1529 1563 1672

346

495

312
382

265

357 363
434

386 390

242 225

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

P
age 83



City of Wolverhampton Council - Children's Services Summary Up to 31st March 2018
Short term placement 

stability

84%

2016/17
CWC - 87%
WM - 90%
SN - 90%

ENG - 90%

LAC Placements
All figures shown above are year to date figures with a direction of travel indicator compared to the last reporting period

F
o

s
te

ri
n

g
 &

 A
d

o
p

ti
o

n

i

2016/17
CWC - 69%
WM - 68%
SN - 67%

ENG - 68%

i

Long term placement 
stability

69%

56

National 
Rank

n
Trend 2016/17

CWC - 16%
WM - 14%
SN - 17%

ENG - 14%

i

Percenatge of LAC placed 
more than 20 miles from 

home
14%

80

National 
Rank

n
Trend 2016/17

CWC - 56%
WM - 46%
SN - 46%

ENG - 50%

h

Care Leavers in 
Education, Employment 

and Training
60%

37

National 
Rank

h
Trend 2016/17

CWC - 90%
WM - 82%
SN - 82%

ENG - 84%n

Care Leavers in Suitable 
Accommodation

88%

h
Trend

LAC Assessments Care Leavers

11 13
20

16 17 14
21 19 18

14

28 26
13

21
27 24

36

16

29
33

26
18

44

34

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Care Applications 
Number of Care Applications Number of children subject of Care applications

36

46

38 39
36

50

27

50

38

32
35

30 29 29 30 30 29 29
31

29

33
30

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Timeliness of Care Applications 
Wolverhampton #REF! UK Average

UASC <5

2015/16

10

Current

n

Trend

% LAC in Good or 
Outstanding 

Childrens Homes
N/A 80.0% n

35%

31%

12%

7%

7%

3%

3%

1%

0%

0%

0%

0% 20% 40%

Fostering - Agency

Fostering - LA

Fostering - Family /…

Placed with Parents

Children's Home / School

Placed for Adoption

Independent Living

Other

NHS / Family Centre

YOI / Prison / Secure

Residential School

LAC Placements

Trend

n
National 

Rank

117

National 
Rank

37

Up to date visits

Up to date assessments

Up to date reviews (1 
strike)

Up to date reviews (all 
reviews)

2016/17 Dec-17 Jan-18 TrendFeb-18 Mar-18

87% i82% 88% 89% 84%

98% h71% 71% 82% 80%

86% n95% 94% 92% 92%

86% n92% 92% 91% 91%

82%

91%
88% 88%

84%

92%

87% 85%
83% 82%

90%

76% 77%

82%
80%

2016/17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

% Up to Date Health Visits Dental PEPS

% of Care Leavers with up 
to date pathway plans

2016/17 Dec-17 Jan-18 TrendFeb-18 Mar-18

94% i89% 92% 91% 88%

41%

56%

61% 60% 60%

75% 74% 75%

2015/16 2016/17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Care Leavers in Education, Employment and Training
EET (national definition) EET (local - exc NALM) SN West Mids Eng

13

52

37

16

16

39

15

2

6

F1 Full-time Higher Ed

F2 Full-time Not Higher Ed

F3 Full-time Training/Employ

P3 Part-time Training/Employ

G4 NALM - Illness / Disability

G5 NEET - Other Reasons

G6 Pregnant / young mother

G7 Custody

NULL

Care Leavers EETS

51

62

47

35

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

Adoptions

6
16

6
53

5
74

5
47

4
10

5
18

4
83

4
51

1
96

2
38

2
19

2
65

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Adoption Timeliness
A1 - Wolves A10 - Wolves
A2 - Wolves A1/A10 Target (426)
A2 Target (121)

22 29 4 18

Adoption Pipeline
Best Interest Decision Placemement Order Granted Matched but not Placed Placed for Adoption

11

7

7

1

2016/17

2017/18

Special Guardianship Orders
SGO (LAC) SGO (Other)

2 8 2

Foster Carers Pipeline
Referral Stage 1 Stage 2 (Awaiting approval)

22

20

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

Foster Carers Approved

278 217 242 242 227

2015/16 2016/17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

Timeliness of Foster Care Approval
Average Number of Days Target (244 days)

P
age 84



Appendix 3

Our Vision for Children and Young People Services is:
 To develop respectful and empowering relationships with children, young people and families
 To ensure children are at the centre of everything we do
 High aspirations, high expectations

We will deliver this by:
 Investing in a stable and skilled workforce
 Ensuring consistent, high quality practice specifically with regard to assessment, analysis, SMART plans and the voice of the child
 Creative and innovative approaches to supporting children, young people and their families
 Ensuring services are provided at the earliest point of identified need
 Working with our partners to keep children safe and protect them from harm
 Supporting families to stay together where it safe to do so
 Reducing youth offending
 Ensuring our looked after children are healthy, happy and have access to good quality education and employment
 Listening to children and young people and providing a range of opportunities for them to participate in co-designing services

Service Level Priorities 2018/19: 
 Continuing to support the corporate financial position and ensuring that services for children and young people are being 

successfully delivered and commissioned in the most cost-effective way
 Transforming the way that we work, providing the workforce with the tools and training to be agile and productive
 Delivering consistent and quality services to children, young people and families
 Embedding the culture of participation and ensuring feedback from service users is captured, analysed and used to inform service 

improvement
 Working effectively in partnership with other statutory and voluntary agencies to develop and deliver integrated approaches and 

improved outcomes for children and young people
 Ensure that the service is in a good position to respond to the SEND Inspection
 Continue to provide good services for children, young people and families in Wolverhampton

Children and Young People Service Plan 2018/19 
Summary of Key Priorities

P
age 85



EARLY INTERVENTION – PRIORITIES 2018-2019:
 Embed the whole family approach.
 Embed the use of Early Help processes and tools across

the whole system.
 Develop communities as assets.
 Ensure parents have the skills, confidence and networks to parent 

appropriately. 
 Increase the number of children achieving a good level of 

development.
 Develop an integrated locality support service to provide targeted Early 

Help to children and families.
 Increasing the number of Troubled Families identified who have made 

and sustained improved outcomes.

CHILDREN IN NEED/CHILD PROTECTION – 
PRIORITIES 2018-2019:

 Ensure Interventions within CiN/CP occur at the right level, 
at the right time.

 To ensure that Children with a Disability have up to date 
reviews and are visited on a regular basis.

 To ensure that permanency is sought at the earliest 
opportunity, when children cannot live with their parents.

 Further develop the quality and timeliness of pre-
proceedings work.

YOUTH OFFENDING TEAM – PRIORITIES 2018-2019:

 Increase the Out of Court offer to young people to reduce the number 
who reoffend and formally enter the Criminal Justice System.

 Increasing the engagement of YOT young people in Education training 
and employment with specific focus on post 16 support.

 Co-ordinating the multi-agency work across the city related to gangs 
and youth violence.

 Implementation of the findings from the ALTAR (Abuse, Loss, Trauma, 
Attachment, Resilience) research project to increase knowledge & 
skills to develop trauma informed practice and interventions.

 Increasing the participation of YOT young people by ensuring their 
views are heard and used to shape future service provision.

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SERVICE 
COMMISSIONING – PRIORITIES 2018-2019:
 Monitoring the 2017/20 Sufficiency Strategy.
 Ensuring that Wolverhampton families who experience domestic 

abuse have timely and appropriate support by recommissioning 
the domestic violence support services.

 Establishing Regional Adoption Agency.
 Ensuring that those who require supporting accommodation have 

access to this by developing and retendering supported housing 
options.

 Ensuring a range of placement options are available for looked 
after children via regional commissioning arrangements.

INCLUSION SUPPORT – PRIORITIES 2018-2019:
 Embedding person-centred approaches to planning for 

children and young people with special educational needs 
or disabilities, so that support is tailored to achieve 
meaningful and aspirational outcomes.

 Building capacity within schools to identify and provide 
effective support for children and young people with social, 
emotional and mental health needs.

 To reduce the number of children and young people being 
excluded from schools, or otherwise being removed from 
school rolls.

SAFEGUARDING – PRIORITIES 2018-2019:

 Improve the quality of social worker intervention regarding key 
safeguarding priorities.

 Ensure the Voices of Children are clearly evident within LAC reviews.
 Improve engagement of parents in the Looked After Child review 

process.
 Increased understanding of Criminal and Sexual Exploitation within the 

context of gangs, county lines and transitions.
 Effective liaison with Safeguarding Leads across the city.
 Embedding thresholds across partner agencies to ensure a whole 

family approach and accurate application of thresholds.
 Working closely with the Domestic Violence Forum to deliver the 

Children and Young People Domestic Violence Improvement Plan and 
an effective Barnardo’s Screening Tool process which reflects ‘Think 
Family’ and improves outcomes for those affected.

 Review the use of the Petch Screening Tool and understand impact.

LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN – PRIORITIES 2018-
2019:

 Enabling children/young people to safely live within families 
without ongoing social work intervention. 

 Continuing to improve timeliness of placing children for 
adoption. 

 Narrowing the attainment gap between Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers, and their peers. 

 Increase the number of internal fostering placements to 
enable children to live locally within their community.

 Increasing the number of vulnerable 16+ engaged in 
education, employment and training.

 Embedding services to care leavers to 18-25-year olds.

HEADSTART – PRIORITIES 2018-2019:
 Ensuring the HeadStart Delivery Plan is effectively 

implemented
 Ensuring that the HeadStart reaches the expected number 

of children/young people in Wolverhampton
 Ensuring that the HeadStart remains within forecasted 

budget
 Ensuring that the HeadStart program is delivered within 

agreed milestones

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT AND QUALITY 
ASSURANCE – PRIORITIES 2018-2019:
 Bring together performance and quality assurance 

information to allow greater insight and analysis of the 
quality of frontline practice.  

 Ensuring the social care recording system supports 
accurate and consistent recording and reporting

 Promote a consistent understanding of what good looks 
like across the management structure. 

 Managers will be able to access data and management 
information on the self-serve basis.

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE WORKFORCE – 
PRIORITIES 2018-2019:
 Reviewing the workforce development plan to ensure it supports the 

development of a capable and competent workforce
 Continue to embed Restorative Practice across the workforce
 Improve the reflective and CPD functions within supervision
 Improve our response to Neglect by embedding the Neglect Strategy and 

Toolkit across the workforce
 Embed the skills and knowledge described in the KSS to ensure the 

workforce is ready for accreditation (include voice of child and Assessment 
and Analysis).

 Strive toward a stable and appropriately skilled Children’s Workforce.
 To improve social work recruitment and retention.

SPECIALIST SUPPORT – PRIORITIES 2018-2019:
 Increasing the use and engagement with family group conferencing to 

prevent family breakdown and reduce reliance on services
 Focusing on reducing the number of women who have a ‘repeat 

removal’ of a child 
 Ensuring information gathered via missing return interviews 

contributes to casework planning and risk management plans
 Developing and expanding the use of the contact centre to generate 

income
 Opening of an in-house assessment children’s home aimed at 

supporting vulnerable and complex adolescents to improve future 
placement stability

P
age 86



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 1 of 33

Children & Young People Service 
Improvement Plan 2018-2019

P
age 87



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 2 of 33

  How will we know?
   The table below outlines what success would look like.  This will be measured through a range of qualitative and quantitative measures.

What does making a difference look like?
Child Children are safer and will be helped earlier. Children will have their voice heard. We will carry out audits to ensure that this is 

happening. We will ask children and young people for their direct feedback and engage them in shaping services. We will monitor 
engagement of children and young people in their assessments, their participation in reviews and the timeliness in which we see them.

Parents and 
carers

We will work to build parents’ capacity in order to enable change where needed. Parents and carers will have their views taken into 
account. They will see a coherent early help offer and be able to work with a range of agencies to access support at an early stage to 
avoid issues escalating. 

Our Partners Agencies work in partnership to support families to resolve issues and achieve improvements in outcomes that safely prevent family 
breakdown.  The Wolverhampton Safeguarding Children’s Board (WSCB) will be recognised as being effective.

Children’s 
Workforce

All professionals working with children will be well trained and supported to achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young 
people. They will receive regular and effective supervision and will be supported to work effectively with children and young people and 
families.

Front Line 
managers

Front Line Managers will actively use performance information to drive change to improve services.  They will provide effective 
management oversight and opportunities for reflective practice which contribute to better outcomes for children and young people.

Senior 
Management 

Senior Managers will actively use performance information to drive change to improve services. They will ensure performance is 
regularly monitored and that improvements are having a positive impact. They will develop effective relationships with partners to ensure 
the system works effectively for children and young people.

Councillors Councillors will fully understand their role and responsibilities and hold Senior Managers to account.  

P
age 88



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 3 of 33

  
  How will we know?

Quality & 
Effectiveness of 
Practice

Number of case audits undertaken
Outcome of case audits undertaken
Outcome of self-evaluation
Outcome of regular dip sampling across services

Workforce Number of agency staff
Staff turnover and average sick days
Average caseloads
Comparison with other Local Authorities as per the Children’s Social Care Workforce Return
% of the workforce trained in Restorative Practice

Early Help Number of Early Help Assessments 
Number of Early Help Assessments held by partner agencies
% of Early Help cases that have a Family Meeting
% of Early Help cases that have Team Around the Family Meetings
Number of children taking up funded two and three-year-old nursery placements
Number of Troubled families identified who have made significant and sustained outcomes

Specialist 
Support Service

Number of families worked with by Intensive Family Support Team and % of those becoming LAC
Number and outcomes for young people accessing services at Upper Pendeford Farm
Number of missing return interviews and timeliness of interviews
Number who are home educated who have been visited and assessed
Number of exclusions and provision of alternative education
Outcome from MASE meetings and reduction in risks associated with individual young people
Number of young people identified as being at significant or serious risk of CSE
Number prosecuted for non-school attendance and the outcomes

Children in 
Need/Child 
Protection

Number of safeguarding referrals 
Number of enquiries rated: red; amber; green; or no further action
Number of repeat enquiries/referrals
Timeliness of MASH responses
Number of Section 47 and conversion to Initial Child Protection Conference
Children in Need seen within 5 working days of the referral
Number of unallocated cases
Proportion of disabled children that are the subject of CiN, CP or who are LAC
Number of short breaks

Looked After 
Children (LAC)

Number and rate of LAC
% of LAC visits carried out within timescales
Proportion of LAC reviews on time
Placement stability (fewer than 3 placements in the last two years)
Number and proportion of in-house foster placements
Number and proportion of children placed with parents who have a care order

P
age 89



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 4 of 33

Number of privately fostered children known to the Council
% of LAC with an up to date PEP
% of LAC with up to date Health check or Dental check

Inclusion 
Support

Number of children who have an Education, Health and Care Plan
Number of school exclusions 
Take-up of Inclusion Support Training offer

HeadStart % change in young people wellbeing self-report scores
Numbers engaging with top 3 topics on the following online self-help resources; HeadStart Online, ZUMOS and Kooth
Number of recommissioned services/programmes tested by HeadStart in subsequent years
Number of young people accessing Emotional Health and Wellbeing Service
% change in young people accessing tier 3

Adoption A1 – Average time between a child entering care and moving in with adoptive family
A2 – Average time between receiving a placement order and a match to an adoptive family being decided
Number of children waiting to be adopted 
Number of children who are subject of a Special Guardianship Order

Care Leavers Proportion of care leavers with a pathway plan
Quality of pathway plans
Proportion of care leavers that are in Education, Employment or Training
Proportion of care leavers in suitable accommodation

Youth Offending 
Team

Rate of youth offending and re-offending
Engagement of YOT young people in Education, Training and Employment

Safeguarding Number of victims of domestic violence where children are associated with the household
Number of victims of female genital mutilation
Number of victims of honour-based violence
IRO/CP Conference Chairs role in improving social work practice
Engagement of parents in LAC reviews
Timeliness of Child Protection Conferences and Review Meetings

P
age 90



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 5 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

AREA: PMQA        PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT AND QUALITY ASSURANCE
PMQA 1.1
Quarterly audit report 
will reflect the self-
evaluation framework 
and incorporate 
performance data.

31 July 2018

Louise Haughton

Audit reports will support 
social workers and 
managers throughout the 
system to gain a clear 
picture of how services 
are improving outcomes 
for children by analysing 
statutory compliance 
data and qualitative 
information gathered 
through the audit 
process. 

This will contribute to 
improved practice and a 
greater number of audits 
achieving a ‘Good’ 
judgement. 

PMQA 1.2
The monthly 
performance report will 
reference relevant audit 
findings. 

31 July 2018

James Amphlett

The performance report 
will evidence work that 
has been undertaken to 
improve services and 
demonstrate the impact 
of this work to ensure the 
feedback loop is closed. 

PMQA 1 Bring together performance and 
quality assurance information to 
allow greater insight and analysis 
of the quality of frontline practice.  

PMQA 1.3
Meet with Heads of 
Service to incorporate a 
qualitative review of 
practice into all 
performance meetings.

Proposal to 
performance meeting in 
June 2018.

Louise Haughton
James Amphlett

Heads of Service will 
have opportunities to 
discuss case work and 
develop a shared 
understanding of what 
practice looks like and 
what needs to happen to 

P
age 91



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 6 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact
improve the quality of 
services for children and 
young people.

PMQA 1.4
Embed senior 
management practice 
days.  

30 June 2018

Louise Haughton

Senior managers have a 
firsthand understanding 
of what frontline practice 
in their area of service is 
like.

Employees experience 
greater senior 
management presence 
and are able to discuss 
cases and practice in an 
informal setting. This will 
result in improved 
relationships between 
senior managers and 
frontline workers as 
evidenced in employee 
surveys.

PMQA 1.5
Review performance 
framework against new 
priorities and the self-
evaluation to ensure 
managers have clear 
line of sight to frontline 
practice

30 June 2018

James Amphlett

Senior managers have 
the information they 
need to be provided with 
assurance that frontline 
practice is safe and 
improves outcomes for 
children.

PMQA 2 Ensuring the social care recording 
system supports accurate and 
consistent recording and 
reporting.

PMQA 2.1
The new social care 
system to be 
implemented and will 
allow more consistent 
recording and reporting. 

Still awaiting date for 
the implementation of 
Eclipse

Alison Hinds

Social workers feel the 
case recording system 
has helped them spend 
less time in front of 
computers and support 
them to record 
effectively.

P
age 92



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 7 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact
The new social care 
system will support the 
collection of data for 
national returns as well 
as local performance 
information.

PMQA 3.1
Audit Champions will 
meet bi-monthly to 
moderate audits 
completed. An “audit the 
auditor” tool will be used 
which will compare 
audits against Ofsted 
Standards and learning 
will be briefed to 
managers. 

31 March 2019

Louise Haughton

There will be 
consistency between 
the audit findings of 1st 
and 2nd auditors during 
case file audits. 

Audit the auditor 
sessions will find that 
there is an agreement in 
the audit findings.

PMQA 3 Promote a consistent 
understanding of what good looks 
like across the management 
structure. 

PMQA 3.2
An updated Quality 
Assurance Framework 
and new audit tool will 
be briefed out to all 
managers. 

May 2018

Louise Haughton

There will be 90% 
completion rate with 
audit on a monthly basis 
to account for leave and 
sickness.

Audit tools will be 
completed fully and 
accurately in 100% of 
audits returned.

PMQA 4 Managers will be able to access 
data and management information 
on the self-serve basis. 

PMQA 4.1
Power BI will be 
implemented

31 March 2019

James Amphlett

First line managers will 
be better equipped to 
manage performance 
within their teams, 
resulting in greater 
compliance around key 
performance indicators. 

P
age 93



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 8 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

AREA: EI                EARLY INTERVENTION
EI 1 Embed the whole family

approach.
EI 1.1
All services will consider 
the impact of influencing 
factors from significant 
family members on the 
presenting needs of a 
child and how these can 
be addressed in
any plans developed.

31 March 2019

Denise Williams

Audits, including dip 
samples, will show this 
is considered in plans 
which have been 
developed.

EI 2 Embed the use of Early Help
processes and tools across
the whole system.

EI 2.1
Timely, high quality 
assessments and plans 
leading to better 
engagement and 
improved, sustained 
outcomes.

31 March 2019

Denise Williams

Increased numbers of 
early help assessment 
being completed across 
the partnership from 346 
in 2017/18.

EI 3 Develop communities
as assets. 

EI 3.1
Continue to build on
programmes such as 
parent champions which 
support and
sustain families within 
their local area rather 
than requiring
services.

31 March 2019

Denise Williams

Number of 
mentors/champions.

Increased number of 
young people taking an 
active role in the 
delivery of Early Help.

Quarterly review of spot 
purchase/commissioned 
support to determine 
increase in social 
capacity / community 
capacity via Locality 
Commissioning.

EI 4 Ensure parents have the
skills, confidence and networks to 
parent appropriately.

EI 4.1
Partners will work 
together provide the 

31 March 2019

Denise Williams

Take up of funded 2 & 
3-year-old nursery 
places.

P
age 94



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 9 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

right support, at the right 
time.

There will be a range of 
self-help
and support options 
available.

Increase in skills and 
employment.

Reduction in families 
facing 
homelessness/eviction.

EI 5 Increase the number of children 
achieving a good level of 
development.

EI 5.1
Children will have 
increased Good Level of 
Development at the 
Early Years Foundation 
Stage and will attain in 
line with National
Expectations.

31 March 2019

Denise Williams

% improvement in good 
level of development.

More children are at an 
expected level and the 
gap has diminished.

EI 6.1
Services are within or
aligned to the Hub and 
support our Early Help 
offer, through reshaping
specifications, and
identifying opportunities 
to recommission
on a shared basis.

31 March 2019

Denise Williams

Services that have been 
co-commissioned with 
children, young people, 
parents & carers.

No’s of services co-
located/co-delivered.

Delivery of range of 
services that are jointly 
commissioned. 

EI 6 Develop an integrated locality 
support service to provide 
targeted Early Help to children 
and families.

EI 6.2
Build the capacity of 
parents, carers and 
communities to
provide support and 
Early Help to their 
friends, neighbours and 
their community.

31 March 2019

Denise Williams

As above

P
age 95



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 10 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

EI 7 Increasing the number of 
Troubled Families identified who 
have made and significant 
sustained improved outcomes.

EI 7.1

We will continue to 
provide a good level of 
support to families who 
meet the “Troubled 
Families” criteria in 
order to empower them 
to make and sustain 
improved outcomes.

31 March 2019

Denise Williams

There will be a reduction 
in re-referrals for the 
families who have been 
identified as making 
significant improved 
outcomes. 

AREA: SSS            SPECIALIST SUPPORT SERVICE
SSS 1.1
Ensure all frontline staff 
and managers attend an 
update briefing on the 
use of family meetings 
and family group 
conferencing.

31 May 2018

Rachel King

Number of Family 
meeting workshops 
delivered.

Number of staff who 
have attended a family 
meeting workshop.

Number of family 
meetings held to 
evidence increase in 
use.

SSS 1 Increasing the use and 
engagement with family group 
conferencing (FGC) to prevent 
family breakdown and reduce 
reliance on services.

SSS 1.2
Work with the pre-birth 
assessment team to 
embed the mandatory 
offer of FGC for all 
unborns on a CP plan.

31 December 2019

Rachel King

Percentage of all 
unborns on a CP plan 
who have been referred 
for FGC.

Percentage of all 
unborns on a CP plan 
who have engaged with 
FGC.

To be reported quarterly

P
age 96



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 11 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

SSS 1.3
To work with Upper 
Pendeford Farm to 
increase the level of 
engagement with the 
mandatory FGC offer.

31 December 2018

Rachel King

Percentage of all young 
people accessing short 
breaks at UPF who have 
been referred for FGC.

Percentage of all young 
people accessing short 
breaks at UPF who have 
engaged with FGC.

To be reported quarterly
SSS 1.4
To pilot the safe use of 
FGC in cases where 
there are issues of 
domestic violence.

31 December 2018

Rachel King

Number of DV cases 
who have engaged with 
FGC.

Outcome of domestic 
abuse cases following 
FGC intervention.

SSS 1.5
To continue to gather 
good practice from other 
local authorities around 
the positive and 
effective use of FGC.

30 September 2018

Rachel King

Regular briefing note 
updates from FGC 
coordinator.

SSS 2.1
Expand the remit of the 
Intensive Family 
Support team to support 
parents who have a 
child removed from their 
care.

30 September 2018

Rachel King

Number of women 
supported following a 
removal.

Percentage of women 
supported who have 
repeat removal within 2 
years.

SSS 2 Focusing on reducing the number 
of women who have a ‘repeat 
removal’ of a child.

SSS 2.2
Work with Public Health 
colleagues to extend the 
Partnering Families 

30 September 2018

Rachel King

Number of vulnerable 
pregnant women 
support by the PFT.

P
age 97



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 12 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

team contract to include 
support for pregnant 
women of all ages at 
risk of having their child 
removed.

Percentage of women 
supported who have 
child removed from their 
care.

SSS 3.1
TUPE Staff across from 
Cambian Care and 
induct into the Council.

30 April 2018

Rachel King

Staff transferred into the 
local authority.

SSS 3.2
Appoint staff to the new 
staffing structure.

30 June 2018

Rachel King

Staffing structure 
agreed and in place.

SSS 3.3
Successfully register the 
new provision with 
Ofsted.

31 August 2018

Rachel King

Ofsted registration 
achieved.

SSS 3.4
Develop and implement 
relevant policies and 
procedures.

30 June 2018

Rachel King

Policies and Procedures 
approved by Ofsted as 
part of the registration 
process.

SSS 3 Opening of an in-house 
assessment children’s home 
aimed at supporting vulnerable 
and complex adolescents to 
improve future placement 
stability.

SSS 3.5
Develop a system to 
monitor the impact of 
the service.

31 August 2018

Rachel King

Number of young 
people accessing 
Merridale Street West 
(MSW).

Outcomes for young 
people following a 
placement at MSW.

Placement stability of 
young people who have 
accessed MSW.

SSS 4 Ensuring information gathered via 
missing return interviews is used 
to inform casework planning and 

SSS 4.1
Repeat a dip sample 
audit of missing from 

31 December 2018

Rachel King

Audit findings presented 
to CYP management 
team.

P
age 98



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 13 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

risk management. home/ care case files to 
evidence whether return 
interview information is 
being utilised.

Percentage of overall 
cases audited judged as 
‘good’ or ‘Noutstanding’.

SSS 5.1
Facilitate a planning 
session to discuss 
future use of the contact 
centre.

31 May 2018

Rachel King

Meeting held to discuss 
the future of the contact 
centre.

SSS 5.2
Produce a development 
plan for the contact 
centre.

30 September 2018

Rachel King

Development plan in 
place with progress 
overseen at CYP 
management team.

SSS 5 Developing and expanding the 
use of the contact centre to 
generate income.

SSS 5.3
Implement contact 
centre development 
plan.

31 March 2019

Rachel King

Income generated as a 
result of the contact 
centre developments.

AREA: CiN/CP       CHILDREN IN NEED/CHILD PROTECTION
CiN/CP 1 Ensure Interventions within 

CiN/CP occur at the right level, at 
the right time.

CiN/CP 1.1
A quarterly review of all 
CiN/CP cases, led by 
Senior Social Work 
Managers, will take 
place to ensure 
intervention is 
appropriate. 

Quarterly until 
31 March 2019

Lead: Alison 
Montgomery and all 
Senior Social Work 
Managers in CiN/CP

A reduction in the 
number of children 
subject to a CP plan for 
3 months.

Audit feedback 
evidences correct 
threshold.

CiN/CP 2.1
This will continue to be 
reviewed quarterly.

Quarterly until 
31 March 2019

Performance data 
evidences the increase 
in children being seen 
12 weekly when in 
receipt of a short break.

CiN/CP 2 To ensure that Children with a 
Disability have up to date reviews 
and are visited on a regular basis.

CiN/CP 2.2
The frequency of visiting 
has now been changed 
to a minimum of three 

30 April 2018

Alison Montgomery

Same as CiN/CP 2.1

P
age 99



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 14 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

monthly to ensure that 
these children are 
receiving a good quality 
support service and that 
their needs can be 
regularly assessed. 

CiN/CP 3 To ensure that permanency is 
sought at the earliest opportunity, 
when children cannot live with 
their parents.

CiN/CP 3.1
Permanence options will 
be discussed and 
considered from the 
time a child/young 
person becomes LAC. 
This will include:
 Appropriate use of 

the redesigned 
Admission to Care 
Panel form

 Adoption manager 
will continue to sit on 
Admission to Care 
Panel to support 
permanency 
discussion at start of 
LAC episode.

 Permeance will be 
considered at Head 
of Service 
Placement 
Oversight Panel 
(HOSPOP). This is 
triggered at: 6-
weeks from 
admission, 12-
weeks from 
admission and 2-

31 December 2018

Alison Montgomery 
Alison Hinds

Increase the numbers of 
children who achieve 
early permanence from 
3 in 2018 to 7 by end of 
2019.

P
age 100



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 15 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

weeks before final 
evidence is 
submitted.

CiN/CP 3.2
A presentation is being 
delivered across all 
social work teams, 
including senior 
managers, to ensure 
that all staff are aware 
of different permanency 
options and 
expectations around 
each. 

30 June 2018

Alison Montgomery

Presentations have 
been delivered across 
most social work 
areas as well as Early 
Intervention 
managers and the 
designated teachers 
forum. There are 
approximately four 
more presentations 
required and these 
will be complete by 
mid-May 2018.

Reviews of cases will 
show that children who 
are privately fostered or 
in a connected person 
placement are 
appropriately identified. 

CiN/CP 4 Further develop the quality and 
timeliness of pre-proceedings 
work.

CiN/CP 4.1
Process re: admission 
to care has been 
tightened up to clear on 
process and tracking 
has been established to 
ensure that timescales 
are met. The impact of 
these changes will be 
evaluated after six 
months. 

1 November 2018

Alison Montgomery

Reviews of impact will 
show that processes are 
followed, and timescales 
are met for pre-
proceedings work. 

AREA: IS                 INCLUSION SUPPORT
IS 1 Embedding person-centred 

approaches to planning for 
children and young people with 
special educational needs or 
disabilities, so that support is 
tailored to achieve meaningful and 
aspirational outcomes.

IS 1.1
Use PATH or alternative 
person centred process 
in transitional year 
reviews for Year 9 
onwards. 

31 July 2019

Rob Hart

Number of person 
centred transition 
reviews completed. 
Young person/ parent 
feedback on process

P
age 101



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 16 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

IS 1.2
Develop person centred 
approach for 
contributing to 
neurodevelopmental 
assessments. 

31 December 2018

Rob Hart

New approach in place. 
Young person/ parent 
feedback on 
involvement.

IS 2.1
Train all Wolverhampton 
schools in the “Getting it 
Right” approach.

31 December 2018

Rob Hart

Number of schools 
trained. Delegate 
evaluations. Increased 
identification of SEMH 
needs

IS 2.2
Work with outreach 
service to develop 
service capacity and 
SEMH offer.

31 March 2019

Rob Hart

Number of CYP 
supported by Outreach 
with SEMH needs. 
Improvements in ratings 
before and after 
involvement. 

% of CYP remaining in 
mainstream settings 
after involvement.

IS 2 Building capacity within schools 
to identify and provide effective 
support for children and young 
people with social, emotional and 
mental health (SEMH) needs.

IS 2.3
Scoping of outreach 
support from Pupil 
Referral 
Units/alternative 
provision to improve 
reintegration.

30 September 2018

Rob Hart

Successful bid to DfE 
AP innovation fund. 
Development of STAR 
(supporting transition 
and reintegration) 
project. Long-term aim – 
increase % successful 
reintegration from 
PRUs/AP

IS 3 To reduce the number of children 
and young people being excluded 
from schools, or otherwise being 
removed from school rolls.

IS 3.1
Embed Restorative 
Practice as part of the 
exclusion prevention 
meetings. 

31 March 2019

Rob Hart

Reduction in numbers of 
exclusions

P
age 102



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 17 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

IS 3.2
Working with school 
improvement to improve 
monitoring of exclusion 
data and provide 
challenge and support 
to schools who show 
high levels of exclusion. 

31 March 2019

Rob Hart

Reduction in numbers of 
exclusions

IS 3.3
Engage school leaders 
to develop agreed 
protocols for avoiding 
exclusions.

31 March 2019

Rob Hart

Stakeholder-run 
processes in place.

Reduction in numbers of 
exclusions

IS 3.4
A summit will take place 
involving the Director of 
Education and schools 
to share best practice in 
reducing exclusions.

31st July 2018

Rob Hart

The summit will take 
place and evidence of 
effective practice in 
reducing exclusions will 
be shared. 

AREA: HS                HEADSTART
HS 1.1
Review of performance 
against forecast spend 
(as reported in Verto or 
Quarterly report, 
whichever comes first, 
at the time of review).

Every quarter until 31 
March 2019

Emma Cleary

Spend is on target. HS 1 Ensuring the HeadStart Delivery 
Plan is effectively implemented in 
order to provide a quality service 
to the children and young people 
in Wolverhampton.

HS 1.2
Review of performance 
against forecast reach 
figures (as reported in 
Verto or Quarterly 
report, whichever comes 
first, at the time of 
review).

Every quarter until 31 
March 2019

Emma Cleary

Reach figures are as 
expected.

P
age 103



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 18 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

HS 1.3
Review of performance 
against forecast 
milestones achieved (as 
reported in Verto or 
Quarterly report, 
whichever comes first, 
at the time of review).

Every quarter until 31 
March 2019

Emma Cleary

Number of milestones 
reported as on track at 
time of reporting.

Number of missed 
milestones at time of 
reporting.

HS 1.4
Projected reach to 1932 
young people by end of 
March 2019.

31 March 2019

Emma Cleary

The service reaches 
1932 young people by 
31 March 2019.

AREA: LAC            LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN
LAC 1.1
Increasing the number 
of applications for 
special guardianship 
orders to 30 in the year. 

31 March 2019

Alison Hinds

There will be 30 Special 
Guardianship Orders in 
year

LAC 1.2
Continuing to improve 
timeliness of placing 
children for adoption 
(improvements in A1 
and A2 measures). 

31 March 2019

Alison Hinds

A1--487 days
A2--121 days 

LAC 1 Enabling children/young people to 
safely live within families without 
ongoing social work intervention.  

LAC 1.3
Continue to revoke Care 
Orders for children 
placed with parents 
when it is no longer 
required for them to 
remain in care.

31 March 2019

Alison Hinds

There will be at least 20 
revocations by 31 March 
2019.

LAC 2 The educational attainment gap 
between Looked After Children 
and Care Leavers, and their peers, 
needs to be narrowed. 

LAC 2.1
We will ensure that 
children and young 
people have a good 

31 December 2018

Alison Hinds

Audit activity will show 
that there is improved 
evidence of SMART 
PEP’s.

P
age 104



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 19 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

quality, SMART PEP 
which will support 
progress in their 
education. 

Educational outcomes 
for LAC will improve.

LAC 2.2
All Looked After 
Children access to 
suitable education 
provision which meets 
their needs. 

31 August 2019

Alison Hinds

All LAC will be enrolled 
in suitable educational 
provision.

LAC 3 Increase the number of internal 
fostering placements to enable 
children to live locally within their 
community.

LAC 3.1
Continue to work with 
the Family Values 
Project to improve 
recruitment and 
retention and have a net 
gain of 26 internal foster 
carers. 

31 March 2019

Alison Hinds

There will be a net gain 
of 26 internal foster 
carers.

LAC 4.1
Develop and launch the 
Care Leaver Offer.

31 October 2018
Alison Hinds

This will be in place.LAC 4 Embedding services to care 
leavers to 18-25-year olds

LAC 4.2
Monitor and review 
take-up of care leaver 
services for young 
people aged 21-25. 

31 March 2019

Alison Hinds

All care leavers will be 
offered the opportunity 
to take up this service.

LAC 5 Increasing the number of 
vulnerable 16+ engaged in 
education, employment and 
training (EET).

LAC 5.1
Implement EET Action 
Plan.

31 March 2019

Alison Hinds

Care leavers post 18 –  
80% EET (local 
indicators); 
70% EET (national 
indicators).

LAC in year 12/13 (age 
16-18) - 90% EET.

P
age 105



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 20 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact
Care Leavers in year 
12/13 - 80% EET.

AREA: YOT           YOUTH OFFENDING TEAM
YOT 1.1
Delivery of Community 
Resolution (CR) 
workshops and ensuring 
young people who have 
received an OOCD 
undergo assessment & 
an offer of a programme 
were appropriate.

30 March 2019

Peter Madden/Toni 
Finlayson

Reduce levels of re-
offending and entry into 
the criminal justice when 
compared to 2017/18.

Assessment & 
interventions increased 
for CR and YC, 
compared to 2017/18

YOT 1 Increase the Out of Court (OOC) 
offer to young people to reduce 
the number who reoffend and 
formally enter the Criminal Justice 
System.

YOT 1.2
Implement step down 
into Early Help for any 
on-going needs to be 
addressed.

30 June 2018

Celia Payne/Rachel 
King

Evidence of Seamless 
transition to Early Help 
on exit from YOT 
services, when ongoing 
needs assessed.

Evidence of on-going 
needs being met within 
the Early Help Service.

YOT 2.1
PNIFTD & Post 16 
panels to scrutinize 
NEET.

30 March 2019

Peter Madden/Celia 
Payne/Rachel King

Increase school age 
engagement (25 hours) 
at the end of an order 
compared to 2017/18.

Increase post 16+ 
engagement (16 hours) 
at the end of an order 
compared to 2017/18.

YOT 2 Increasing the engagement of 
YOT young people in education 
training and employment (ETE) 
with specific focus on post 16 
support.

YOT 2.2
Coordinated targeting of 
resources to mentor 
young people into 
education, training and 

30 March 2019

Peter Madden/Celia 
Payne

Increased young people 
being able to access 
mentoring resources.
 
Increased engagement 

P
age 106



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 21 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

employment. rates with ETE 
compared to 2017/18.

YOT 2.3
Virtual Head to support 
identification of 
alternative placements.

30 March 2019

Darren Martindale

Increase range of 
alternative placements 
available for young 
people.

Improve the 
engagement rate of 
young people in 
alternative placements 
when compared with 
2017/18.

YOT 2.4
Identification of 
additional support for 
young people with 
Special Educational 
Needs (SEN)/Education, 
Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP).   

30 March 2019

Darren Martindale/Chris 
Wood/Rachel King 

Accurate identification of 
all young people with 
SEN/EHCP involved 
with YOT.

ETE placement suitable 
for identified 
SEN/EHCP.

Increase ETE 
engagement for 
SEN/EHCP identified 
young people compared 
to 2017/18.

YOT 3.1
Coordinate and review 
outcomes against action 
of the Youth Violence & 
Gang Action Plan. 

30 October 2018

Celia Payne

Action plan will review 
outcomes to evidence 
greater co-ordination in 
Children Services work 
with Youth Violence and 
gang affected young 
people & families.

YOT 3 Co-ordinating the multi-agency 
work across the city related to 
gangs and youth violence.

YOT 3.2 30 March 2019 Evidence of teams using 

P
age 107



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 22 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

Continue six-weekly 
Gang Profiling 
meetings.

Celia Payne
profiling information to 
inform practice and 
interventions.

Effective information 
sharing between Police 
& Social Care.

Identification of gang 
patterns and areas of 
risk.

YOT 3.3
Refine the Gang 
Screening Guidance 
Tool & embed use 
within YOT & Children 
Services.

30 September 2018

Celia Payne

The screening 
guidance tool has 
been created and is 
in use. There should 
be evidence that this 
has been fully 
embedded by end of 
September 2018.

Development of 
screening guidance.

Evidence of use in all 
Children Services 
teams.

Evidence that young 
people are being 
identified at the earliest 
opportunity.

YOT 4.1
YOT staff attendance on 
ALTAR training and 
assessment research.
10 cases have been 
identified and a review 
of the research findings 
will be completed.

30 March 2019

Celia Payne

Training and research 
assessments completed 
on 10 cases.

Evidence from research 
used to review current 
practice.

Evidence that 
assessment, 
intervention & delivery 
incorporates principles 
of ALTAR.

YOT 4 Implementation of the findings 
from the ALTAR (Abuse, Loss, 
Trauma, Attachment, Resilience) 
research project to increase 
knowledge & skills of to develop 
trauma informed practice and 
interventions.

YOT 4.2 30 March 2019 ONSET & ASSETPLUS 

P
age 108



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 23 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

Review of existing 
practice and processes 
and the implementation 
of new trauma informed 
practices & resources.

Celia Payne
evidences trauma/ACE 
informed assessments.

Intervention Plans 
evidences effective 
techniques to work with 
trauma affected young 
people.

YOT 5.1
Development of a YOT 
Participation Action Plan 
which will include the 
identification of a 
participation lead YOT 
officer. 

30 March 2019

Peter Madden / Lindy 
Taylor

Clarity in the 
development & co-
ordination of practice to 
ensure young people’s 
voices are heard within 
YOT.

Evidence of practice 
development in 
response to feedback.

Evidence of practice 
improvement in 
response to feedback.

YOT 5 Increasing the participation of 
YOT young people by ensuring 
their views are heard and used to 
shape future service provision.

YOT 5.2
Implementation of 
Viewpoint system as the 
tool to collect the views 
of young people and 
provide feedback 
reports to shape service 
practice. This will 
incorporate 30% of the 
caseload. 

30 March 2019

Peter Madden / Lindy 
Taylor

30% of caseload 
completed e-survey.

Specific questionnaires 
for Youth Violence 
developed & completed 
on viewpoint.

Viewpoint outcome 
reports completed & 
included in YOT 
performance reports.
Evidence that Viewpoint 
reports impact and 

P
age 109



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 24 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact
improve practice.

AREA: COM           Commissioning 
COM 1 Monitoring the 2017/20 Sufficiency 

Strategy.
COM 1.1
Ongoing monitoring of 
the delivery of the 
Sufficiency Strategy to 
ensure sufficiency of 
provision for children 
and young people.

31 March 2020

Alicia Wood

Report to Transforming 
Children’s Board will 
show that the strategy is 
being delivered as 
agreed.

COM 2 Ensuring that Wolverhampton 
families who experience domestic 
abuse have timely and appropriate 
support by recommissioning the 
domestic violence support 
services.

COM 2.1
Completion of tender 
process and 
mobilization of the new 
services.

30 June 2018

Alicia Wood

New services will be in 
place from June 2018.

COM 3 Establishing Regional Adoption 
Agency (RAA).

COM 3.1
RAA will go live.

31 March 2019

Emma Bennett
Alicia Wood

The RAA will be in 
place.

COM 4 Ensuring that those who require 
supporting accommodation have 
access to this by developing and 
retendering supported housing 
options. 

COM 4.1
A joint strategy will be 
developed by Place and 
People to ensure that 
those who require 
supported 
accommodation have 
access to this.

31 March 2019

Kate Martin 
Sarah Smith

The development of a 
supported 
accommodation strategy 
will be agreed as a joint 
priority for Place and 
People.

COM 5 Ensuring a range of placement 
options are available for looked 
after children via regional 
commissioning arrangements. 

COM 5.1
There will continue to be 
a range of placement 
options for looked after 
children, both in and out 
of city.  

31 March 2018

Jas Kakkar

Sufficiency of 
placements for looked 
after children.

AREA: SG              SAFEGUARDING

P
age 110



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 25 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

SG 1.1
Roll Out and 
Safeguarding ‘lunch and 
learn’ sessions to 
Children’s Social Care 
staff.

31 December 2018

Dawn Williams

Sessions of lunchtime 
events attended by 
frontline staff and 
delivered.

SG 1.2
Create written advisory 
practice notes on sexual 
exploitation; NRPF; 
Distorted belief systems; 
Modern Slavery.

31 March 2019

Dawn Williams
Mandy Lee
Sandeep Gill

Practice notes available 
and disseminated.

SG 1.3
Embed induction 
training for New workers 
regarding LAC reviews 
and CP conferences.

31 December 2018

Mandy Lee
Nicola Hale

IROs/CPCs involved in 
induction of new staff 
and delivered 
advise/learning.
Increased 
understanding of roles 
and responsibilities.

SG 1 Improve the quality of social 
worker intervention regarding key 
safeguarding priorities.

SG 1.4 
Roll out toolkit on 
Intergenerational sexual 
abuse.

30 September 2018

Dawn Williams
Mandy Lee

Toolkit complete and 
available to all staff, 
including a launch 
event.

SG 2.1 
Development of an 
increased child centered 
review process.

31 January 2019

Mandy Lee
Nicola Hale

New LAC review 
process will be in place.

SG 2.2 
Creation of 
documentation to 
support 2.1.

31 January 2019

Mandy Lee
Nicola Hale

New LAC 
documentation will be in 
place.

SG 2 Ensure the Voices of Children are 
clearly evident within LAC 
reviews.

SG 2.3 
To continue to promote 
MOMO across the LAC 
social care workforce.

31 January 2019

Mandy Lee

MOMO is in use and 
evidenced via audit of 
improved consultation.

P
age 111



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 26 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

SG 3 Improve engagement of parents in 
the Looked After Child review 
process.

SG 3.1
We will encourage and 
support parents to 
participate fully in the 
looked after reviews for 
their children. 

31 March 2019

Dawn Williams

Annual audit activity on 
participation completed 
by the Safeguarding 
Manager will evidence 
increased parental 
engagement. 

SG 4.1 
Work in partnership with 
West Midlands Police 
and the SWP to devise 
a pathway by which 
information can be 
shared to inform 
operational practice in 
Wolverhampton. 

31 October 2018

Dawn Williams

A sexual exploitation 
information pathway will 
be in place.

SG 4.2 
Implement and promote 
the Adults Resource 
Panel to Children Social 
Care staff working in 
transitions with young 
people who do not meet 
the criteria for Adult 
Social Care intervention 
but, do require 
additional support.

31 December 2018

Dawn Williams

Effective Resource 
Panel created.

Early identification of 
support to young adults.

SG 4 Increased understanding of 
Criminal and Sexual Exploitation 
within the context of gangs, 
county lines and transitions.

SG 4.3 
Create a Problem 
Profile to enhance 
awareness, improve 
intervention and inform 
allocation and 
identification of 
resources.

31 March 2019

Dawn Williams
Karen Samuels

Problem Profile will be 
created which reflects 
sexual and criminal 
exploitation within 
Wolverhampton.

SG 5 Effective liaison with Designated SG 5.1 31 December 2018 DSL event in place.

P
age 112



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 27 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

Embed the DSL network 
for schools. Dawn Williams Feedback from 

participants.

Safeguarding Leads (DSL) across 
the city.

SG 5.2 
Extend the remit of the 
Children’s Home forum 
to include Supported 
provision.

30 September 2018

Dawn Williams
Jo Hicklin (WMP) 

New Terms of 
Reference.

Regular Forum Meeting.

Accessible Briefings 
accessible on the 
WSCB website.

SG 6.1 
Provide regular briefings 
to staff across the City. 

31 March 2019

Dawn Williams
Sian Jones

Regular briefings 
established.

Reduction in contacts 
that translate to no 
further action (NFA).

Higher % of referrals 
that translate into 
assessments.

Increased Early Help 
Assessments.

SG 6.2
Provide Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) workshops to 
enable exploration of 
decision making.

July 2018
Nov 2018
March 2019

Dawn Williams

Established MASH 
workshops.

Improved decision 
making in MASH.

SG 6 Embedding thresholds across 
partner agencies to ensure a 
whole family approach and 
accurate application of 
thresholds.

SG 6.3
Contribute to 
Safeguarding Board 
Multi-Agency Case File 
Audit (MACFA) and 

31 March 2019

Dawn Williams
Mandy Lee

Learning from MACFA is 
disseminated.

Practice improvement is 
demonstrated via 
internal audit.

P
age 113



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 28 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

ensure learning is 
shared and informs 
operational practice.

SG 7 Working closely with the 
Domestic Violence Forum to 
deliver the Children and Young 
People Domestic Violence 
Improvement Plan and an 
effective Barnardo’s Screening 
Tool process which reflects ‘Think 
Family’ and improves outcomes 
for those affected.

SG 7.1

Children and Young 
People Domestic 
Violence Improvement 
Plan reflects 
safeguarding priorities 
for children.

31st December 2018

Karen Samuels

The improvement plan 
will be agreed and audit 
activity will evidence that 
actions have been put 
into practice. 

SG 8 Review the use of the Petch 
Screening Tool and understand 
impact.

SG 3.3

Scheduled Audit of 
completed Petch Tools 
in place and regularly 
reported to Children and 
Young People 
Management Team & 
Sexual Exploitation 
Missing & Trafficked 
Committee.

30 June 2018

Dawn Williams

Sandeep Kaur, CSE 
Coordinator, is 
progressing a Petch 
Audit in June 2018.

AREA: WFD           WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT
WFD 1.1
Development plan to be 
created for 2018-2019 
that will equip staff to 
practice at a good or 
outstanding level.

31 March 2018

Louise Haughton
Fiona Burton

This has been 
completed and 
agreed at People 
Leadership Team. 

Social workers will 
report high satisfaction 
with CPD opportunities.

Pathways will be 
understood by the whole 
workforce.

Staff turnover will 
reduce.

WFD 1 Reviewing the workforce 
development plan to ensure it 
supports the development of a 
capable and competent workforce.

WFD 1.2 31 May 2018 Increase in the number 

P
age 114



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 29 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

Ensure detail is in place 
to support a robust 
programme of training to 
support early 
permanence planning of 
a high standard to 
include:
 Early permanence 

planning
 Pre-birth 

assessments
 Sibling assessments
 Writing good Child 

Permeance reports
 Assessing the 

impact trauma on 
the development of 
children and 
possible future 
impact

Louise Haughton
Fiona Burton

of permanence planning 
meetings held.

QA sheet used by panel 
advisor finds child’s 
permanence reports are 
consistently of a good 
standard.

Pre-birth assessments 
are completed early and 
to a good standard 
resulting in less 
emergency mother and 
baby placements.

WFD 1.3
Develop an approach to 
working with teenagers 
in Wolverhampton and 
ensure employees 
across the whole 
workforce receive 
relevant training. 

30 April 2018

Rob Hart
Louise Haughton
Fiona Burton

Fewer teenagers 
become looked after.

Work undertaken with 
children and young 
people reduces/stops 
missing episodes for 
individual children.

Early intervention 
services help to prevent 
the behaviors of children 
escalating to criminal or 
risky actions.

WFD 2 Continue to embed Restorative WFD 2.1 31 December 2018 % increased use of 

P
age 115



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 30 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

Each team to have a 
team coaching and 
embedding day with an 
experienced RP 
practitioner.

Fiona Burton
family meetings. 

% increase in 
participation of family 
members found in audit.

% increase in strength-
based approaches 
being evidenced in case 
records.

WFD 2.2
PLT to receive a 
strategic 
training/coaching day on 
restorative practice.

31 December 2018

Louise Haughton

PLT to gain knowledge 
of how RP can be used 
at strategic level to drive 
service improvements.

Practice across the workforce.

WFD 2.3
RP project team to 
focus on embedding the 
three obsessions that 
relate to RP across the 
service
 Voice of the child
 Family Meetings
 Supervision

31 March 2019

Louise Haughton

% increase in use of 
family meetings.

% increase in 
supervisions found to be 
good in audit.

% increase in Social 
workers reporting good 
supervision.

% increase if good 
judgments for voice of 
the child in audit.

WFD 3 Improve the reflective and CPD 
functions within supervision

WFD 3.1
Supervision procedure 
to be reviewed and co-
produced with frontline 
managers.

31 July 2018

Louise Haughton

% increase in 
practitioners reporting 
good supervision.

% increase in 
supervisions found to be 

P
age 116



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 31 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact
good in audit.

WFD 3.2
Early intervention and 
social work supervision 
procedure to be aligned.

31 July 2018

Louise Haughton
Denise Williams

% increase in 
practitioners reporting 
good supervision.

% increase in 
supervisions found to be 
good in audit.

WFD 3.3
Video of use of RP in 
supervision and family 
meetings to be 
produced.

30 June 2018

Louise Haughton

% increase in the 
number of family 
meetings being held.

% increase in 
practitioners reporting 
good supervision.

% increase in 
supervisions found to be 
good in audit.

WFD 3.4
Supervision training to 
be delivered to all Social 
Work Unit Managers.

30 September 2018

Louise Haughton

% increase in 
practitioners reporting 
good supervision.

% increase in 
supervisions found to be 
good in audit.

WFD 4.1
New Neglect action plan 
to be created.

31 December 2018

Louise Haughton
Alison Montgomery
Dawn Williams

% increase in the 
number of neglect 
audits found to be 
‘good’.

WFD 4 Improve our response to Neglect 
by embedding the Neglect 
Strategy and Toolkit across the 
workforce

WFD 4.2
Neglect tool to be 
embedded across the 
workforce

31 March 2019

Louise Haughton
Alison Montgomery

% increase in the use of 
the neglect tool.

P
age 117



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 32 of 33

Ref. 
Number

Area for Development What Will We 
Do?

Timescale and 
Lead Officer(s)

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

WFD 5.1
Imbed use of KSS 
capabilities in 
supervision procedure 
(as above). Dip sample 
new supervision 
template to monitor 
effective use of KSS 
capability matrix.

31 October 2018

Louise Haughton

100% of social workers 
have a skilled audit 
against the KSS on 
record.

Evidence of progress 
against the KSS is 
evidenced in 
supervision records. 

WFD 5 Embed the skills and knowledge 
described in the Knowledge and 
Skills Statement (KSS) to ensure 
the workforce is ready for 
accreditation (include Voice of 
Child and Assessment and 
Analysis).

WFD 5.2
Map workforce 
development plan 
against the KSS and 
ensure information 
about training includes 
which areas of the KSS 
are being addressed.

31 May 2018

Fiona Burton

Workforce will report 
being clear about how 
training relates to the 
KSS.

WFD 6 Strive toward a stable and 
appropriately skilled Children’s 
Workforce.

WFD 6.1
We are currently in the 
process of implementing 
a restructure which will 
support this.

31st March 2019

Emma Bennett

There will be less 
reliance on agency staff.

There will continue to be 
training opportunities to 
ensure that staff across 
the service have the 
skills they require to do 
their jobs well. 

WFD 7 To improve social work 
recruitment and retention.

WFD 7.1
A recruitment plan is 
being developed which 
will result in recruiting 
staff who are skilled and 
enthusiastic about 
Social Work in 
Wolverhampton.

31st March 2019

Louise Haughton

There will be less 
turnover of staff which 
will result in less 
reliance on agency staff.

P
age 118



Children and Young People Improvement Plan 2018/19

Page 33 of 33

COMPLETED “AREAS FOR DEVELOPMENT”
Ref. 
Number

Area for 
Development

What Will We 
DO?

Timescale 
and Lead 
Officer

Progress Evidence of 
Impact

KEY: 

Significant Risk that it will not be achieved 
 

Some risk that it may not be achieved although this may be corrected by remedial action       

On target to complete on or before its target date 

Completed     

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Children, Young People and 
Families Scrutiny Panel
20 June 2018

Report title The Vision for School Organisation 2018-2020: 
City of Wolverhampton Education Place 
Planning

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Lynne Moran
Education

Wards affected All

Accountable director Meredith Teasdale, Director of Education

Originating service School Planning and Resources

Accountable employee(s) Bill Hague
Tel
Email

Head of School Organisation
01902 556943
Bill.hague@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by Education Leadership Team

Strategic Executive Board
Cabinet

26 February 2018
24 April 2018
12 September 2018

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Scrutiny Panel is recommended to:
 
To conduct pre-decision scrutiny on The Vision for School Organisation 2018-2020: City of 
Wolverhampton Education Place Planning and refer comments to Cabinet. 

Recommendations for noting:

The Scrutiny Panel is asked to note:

1. The outcome of external consultation on The Vision for School Organisation 2018-2020: 
City of Wolverhampton Education Place Planning

2. The reduction in the recommended secondary surplus from 6% to 5%
3. The impact of the demographic uplift on demand for schools in the City

Page 121

Agenda Item No: 7



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4. The need to identify and develop appropriate solutions to meet anticipated demand for 
primary and secondary educational provision in the future

5. The Regional Schools Commissioner is responsible for determining if academies can 
expand. The Council is not in full control of all the factors relating to the effective and 
timely supply of school places.

Page 122



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To review The Vision for School Organisation 2018-2020: City of Wolverhampton 
Education Place Planning (please see Appendix 1) prior to seeking Cabinet approval on 
12 September 2018.

1.2 This item is being considered is pre-decision scrutiny and will therefore not be
available to call in once a decision is made by the Executive.

2.0     Background

2.1     The Vision for School Organisation in Wolverhampton 2018-2020; City of Wolverhampton 
Education Place Planning outlines the framework for decision making regarding primary 
and secondary school places across the City of Wolverhampton. The Vision highlights 
the impact of demographic uplift on demand for schools across the City and the need to 
identify and develop appropriate solutions to meet anticipated demand for primary and 
secondary educational provision in the future.

2.2      Previously the Primary and Secondary School Sufficiency Strategies have been 
developed as two separate documents. The documents have been combined to improve 
efficiency and ease of use. 

2.3      A key change to note is a reduction in the recommended secondary surplus from 6% to 
5%. Surplus places are school places that have not been filled. The recommended 
surplus for both primary and secondary is now 5%, this brings the surplus position of 
secondary provision in line with primary provision and is consistent with neighbouring 
authorities.

2.4 The focus for the Vision is to: 

 Acknowledge value for money in expanding schools, whilst noting that given the scale 
of recent expansion programmes, there are a limited number of remaining 
opportunities available within the existing school estate.

 Carefully manage the introduction of new provision within the City (Legislation 
dictates that, when considering the establishment of a new school, Free 
School/Academy proposals should be considered in the first instance and that 
Academy Trusts can apply directly to the Secretary of State to make significant 
changes to individual establishments).

 Demonstrate how the Vision fits within wider city housing regeneration strategies.

 Highlight that the Council is not in full control of all factors relating to the effective and 
timely supply of school places and therefore, successful partnership working is of 
paramount importance to ensure that the needs of the City’s communities can be met. 
The Regional Schools Commissioner is responsible for determining if academies can 
expand. 

Page 123



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2.5 The Vision for School Organisation in Wolverhampton 2018-2020; Wolverhampton 
Education Place Planning underwent an internal consultation from 5 March – 19 
March 2018 and by giving due regard to Purdah, the external consultation ran from 
10 May – 5 June 2018.

The external consultation sought to obtain the views and comments from the 
following interested parties. Over 250 emails were distributed to:

 The Headteachers of nurseries, Infant, Junior, Primary, Secondary, Pupil 
Referral Units and Special Schools in Wolverhampton

 The Chair of Governors of Infant, Junior, Primary, Secondary, Pupil 
Referral Units and Special Schools in Wolverhampton

 Diocesan Authorities
 The Academy Trusts
 Trade Unions
 All Councillors
 Schools Forum
 ConnectEd Directors
 Wolverhampton MP’s
 Changing our Lives (linked to Special Schools)
 Voices for Parents (linked to Special Schools)
 West Midlands School Organisation Group (this group includes School 

Organisation Officers from the Councils of Sandwell, Walsall, Birmingham, 
Dudley and Worcestershire)

 Schools were encouraged to share the document with parents 
 Regional Schools Commissioner 

3.0 Outcome of External Consultation

3.1 Thirteen responses were received in external consultation, seven of which gave 
feedback on The Vision for School Organisation in Wolverhampton 2018-2020; 
Wolverhampton Education Place Planning. Feedback from external consultation was 
varied and concerned itself with both content and style. Key points are summarised 
below, refer to Appendix 2 for full formal responses. 

 The distribution of excess surplus and the effect of increased Published 
Admission Number (PAN) in popular schools on under-subscribed schools in 
remote areas was questioned. The respondent highlighted that the Ofsted 
rating of their school had restricted them from increasing their PAN. A solution 
of capped PAN on popular schools rather than increased PAN was put 
forward, with a view to distributing excess surplus.

 A respondent noted the need to reference a method of communication and 
embedded change management practises with Governing Bodies in relation to 
school place planning proposals.

Page 124



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 A respondent noted the differences between Schools/Academies in primary 
and secondary phases.

 The strengthening of the narrative regarding Housing growth and implications 
on school places was commented upon and consideration of city growth.

 Two respondents referenced early years policy and a need to focus on Nursery 
School Provision.

 A respondent supported the strategies approach to SEND and specialist 
provision.

 The terminology and tone of the ‘Wolverhampton Context’ was questioned, 
specifically in relation to the wording used surrounding the superdiversity and 
the demographics of the City.

 In terms of those factors considered for expansion schemes, a respondent 
highlighted the need to define more specifically the position in terms of those 
schools that have selective criteria, including those that are faith based, to 
ensure fairness of investment for those children residing in the City of 
Wolverhampton.  

 
4.0 Responses to External Consultation

4.1 In response to the outcomes of consultation, representatives from the Education 
Department would like to make the following comments:

 The Council have the statutory duty to ensure there are sufficient school 
places but are not in full control of all the factors relating to the effective and 
timely supply of school places and Trusts can decide to admit above PAN. 

 Should there be increases in demand in-year, the Council may have to have 
dialogue with Schools/Trusts to admit above PAN in order to ensure sufficiency 
of provision.  Good quality additional places would need to be provided where 
demand dictates and aligned to parental preferences.

 The Council aims to have 5% surplus in order to cater for fluctuations in 
demand, however, due to parental preferences, popularity of schools and 
school standards this surplus is not spread evenly across the City. 

 Section 9 of the Vision states ‘We recommend that whenever the Headship of 
a school becomes vacant in an infant or junior school, the Council invites 
responsible bodies (e.g. Governing Bodies or Trusts) to consider their merger 
or amalgamation.’

 Section 4 of the Vision states ‘The Council is committed to ensuring the 
implementation of practical solutions to meet the basic need challenge and will 

Page 125



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

work closely with schools and Academy Trusts to develop appropriate schemes 
that consider pupils’ needs and support the effective delivery of the curriculum.’ 

 It is recognised that primary and secondary provision will differ.  The Council has a 
statutory duty to ensure the sufficiency of school places and the Vision provides 
the framework to support the supply of school places regardless of the phase of 
education. 

 The narrative of the Vision regarding Housing growth and implications on 
school places will be strengthened following further feedback from the 
consultation.

 The Strategies core focus is statutory school provision. Notwithstanding this, the 
Early Years section (chapter 8, p34-35) does reference the Early Years Strategy. 
The Early Years Strategy includes a breakdown of Early Years providers on p20 
and Nursery schools are specifically mentioned on page 19. Further information 
relating to nursery hours entitlement and provision is available in the Childcare 
Sufficiency Review which is also referenced.  

 The addition of a breakdown of nursery provision will be considered for the final 
version of the Vision.

 With reference to the terminology and tone of the ‘Wolverhampton Context’, 
the consultees comments have been considered and the wording used in this 
paragraph will be amended accordingly.

 Figure 2, p14 provides a breakdown of the different establishment types within 
Wolverhampton and highlights the diverse range of education provision. Each 
establishment has their own admissions criteria which is followed when allocating 
school places. When additional places are required the Vision supports the need 
to review all factors for prioritising potential expansion schemes, refer to section 4 
p 23. In the case of school expansions, relevant stakeholders are always 
consulted in accordance with statutory requirements and have the opportunity to 
raise any concerns. 

5.0 Questions for Scrutiny to consider

1. Has the vision document highlighted the need to plan for future anticipated demands 
for school places and the pivotal role of forecasting demand within the School 
Organisation Team?

2. Has the vision demonstrated how education place planning fits within the wider 
housing regeneration strategies?

3. Does the vision explain the opportunities and challenges in expanding the school 
estate within Wolverhampton?

4. Do you agree with the surplus reduction in secondary provision from 6% to 5% in 
line with primary provision and other local authorities?

Page 126

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=11544&p=0
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14604&p=0
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14604&p=0


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

6.0 Financial implications

6.1 Projected levels of demand suggest that further significant investment in additional 
school places will be required in the future in both the primary and secondary estates to 
ensure that supply can meet demand. 

6.2 This strategy outlines how the Council will meet its statutory responsibilities regarding 
providing sufficient school places. Central Government provide a level of capital funding 
through the Basic Need Formula. Historically, the amount received through Basic Need 
funding has been insufficient to cover the costs of expansion schemes. This has led to 
Council having to fund the balance, predominantly through borrowing. 

6.3    The introduction of additional school places funded mainly by the Council as detailed in 
6.2 places significant strain on both Capital and Revenue budgets. The continued 
increase in demand is likely to further impact on these budget pressures.

[Finance Code: DB/07062018/S]

7.0 Legal implications

7.1 Under sections 13 and 14 of the Education Act 1996 (as amended by the Education Acts 
2006 and 2011), a local education authority has a general statutory duty to ensure that 
there are sufficient school places available to meet the needs of the population in its 
area. The local authority must promote high educational standards, ensure fair access to 
educational opportunity and promote the fulfilment of every child’s educational potential. 
It must also ensure that there are sufficient school places in their area and promote
diversity and increase parental choice. To discharge this duty the local authority must 
undertake a planning function to ensure that the supply of school places balances the 
demand for them.

7.2 The Education and Inspections Act 2006 requires local authorities to promote choice and 
diversity when carrying out their strategic duties in relation to the provision of new school 
places.

[Legal Code: RB/06062018/A]

8.0 Equalities implications

8.1 As external consultation of The Vision for School Organisation 2018-2020; City of 
Wolverhampton Education Place Planning finished on 5 June 2018, a detailed equality 
analysis is being finalised and this will be available to Cabinet. The Vision focuses on the 
supply of sufficient high-quality school places for primary and secondary school pupils 
who may belong to groups with different characteristics protected by the Equality Act 
2010.

Page 127



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

9.0 Environmental implications

9.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.

10.0 Human resources implications

10.1 There are no direct HR implications arising from this report

11.0 Corporate landlord implications

11.1 To support the process Corporate Landlord will be required to work with those schools 
identified within the scope of the place planning exercise to establish the feasibility and 
likely cost of providing additional pupil capacity on those sites.  This process will require 
the support of a cross section of professionals including Surveyors, Engineers, Architects 
etc. allowing desk top information and initial sketch proposals to be considered. 
Corporate Landlord will also liaise with colleagues in Legal Services in the case of 
feasibility works on Academy, Church or Free School sites that are subject to lease 
agreements.  Corporate Landlord will be able to consider other potential solutions outside 
of the current traditional school estate if required. It must be noted Education will need to 
identify a budget prior to commissioning these initial feasibility works.

12.0 Schedule of background papers

 Strategic Executive Board Briefing Paper 24 April 2018
 Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny Panel Report 20 June 2018

Page 128



wolverhampton.gov.uk

A Place for
Every Child 

The Vision for School
Organisation in
Wolverhampton 2018-2020

Page 129



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk2

The City of Wolverhampton Place Planning

Page 130



Chapter 8
Early Years Provision

Chapter 9
Infant and Junior School
Provision

Chapter 10
Post-16 Provision

Chapter 11
Alternative Provision 

Chapter 12
Estate Management 

Chapter 13
Strategy Review  

Chapter 14
Resources

Appendices

Chapter 1
Executive summary

Chapter 2
Primary School
Organisation

Chapter 3
Secondary School
Organisation 

Chapter 4
The Introduction of
Additional School
Places

Chapter 5
Removal of 
Maintained Provision/
Discontinuance of
Maintained Provision 

Chapter 6
All-through Schools 

Chapter 7
Specialist Provision

4

18

20

22

27

30

31

34

36

37

39

40

41

42

43

wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Contents

3

CONTENTS

Page 131



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Executive Summary

4

1
Executive Summary

The main challenge that the City of Wolverhampton faces in relation to
the organisation of school provision, is ensuring that sufficient high-
quality school places are available to meet the needs of local
communities across the City. Driven by a 24% increase in births
between 2002 and 2016, levels of demand for school provision have
increased significantly in recent years. In excess of 3,000 additional
places have been commissioned since 2012 in primary schools and
since 2017 in secondary schools, to cater for the demographic uplift.
The recently witnessed increase in demand for primary provision in the
City, has already started to impact on the City’s secondary estate and
significant additional capacity will be required to cater for future cohorts.
This vision outlines anticipated levels of future demand and key policy
decisions adopted by the Council to guide the ongoing development of
the City’s primary and secondary school estate.

Page 132



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Executive Summary

5

1.1 Wolverhampton Context
One of Wolverhampton’s most remarkable characteristics is its
superdiversity and this is another factor that can influence demand for
school places. It is estimated that in recent years the number of non-UK
born residents in Wolverhampton has increased (Annual Population
Survey, Office for National Statistics (ONS)) and in 2016, 31.6% of births
to Wolverhampton residents were to non-UK born mothers (ONS 2016).
As stated by the ONS, ‘over a quarter (28.2%) of live births in England
and Wales in 2016 were to women born outside the UK, the highest
level on record’. Also ‘Despite an overall decline in the number of live
births in England and Wales between 2015 and 2016, births to women
born outside the UK increased by 2.1%’ (ONS 2016).

As illustrated by both Census data and published Ward Profiles
(available at www.wolverhamptoninprofile.org.uk) the ethnic composition
of communities varies significantly across the City. It should be noted
that the ethnic makeup of communities in Wolverhampton is dynamic,
analysis of Census information suggests that the proportion of White
British residents of the City fell by 10 percentage points between 2001
and 2011. In contrast, the proportion of Asian, Black, Mixed and Other
ethnic groups increased.

There are considerable challenges with regards to deprivation in the
City. In 2015 Wolverhampton was the 17th most deprived of 326
English Local Authorities, which meant it had worsened from 21st most
deprived in the prior Indices of Deprivation release from 2010. For the
purposes of measuring deprivation, Wolverhampton is split into 
158 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs). Of these 158, 1 is in the top
1% most deprived nationally, and a further 15 are in the top 5%
deprived band. The scale of the challenge with deprivation is illustrated
in Figure 1, which shows that of all the 0 to 15 year olds resident in
Wolverhampton in 2016, 61.8% of them live in an LSOA in the top 20%
most deprived nationally.

Page 133

http://www.wolverhamptoninprofile.org.uk


The health and wellbeing of our children is paramount to securing good
outcomes; unfortunately, the health and wellbeing of children in
Wolverhampton is worse than the England average. Despite a slight fall
in the rate in 2012-14 Wolverhampton remains one of the Local
Authorities with highest rates of infant mortality in England and Wales.
59% of the primary and secondary schools in Wolverhampton are in the
most deprived quintile nationally as defined by Ofsted. There are no
Wolverhampton schools classed as being in the least deprived category.
22% of all pupils are eligible for free school meals; for primary schools
(including reception) the figure is 20.5% (the national average is 14.5%)
and in secondary schools (including Academies) it is 19.7% (the national
average is 13.2%).1

Figure 1: Numbers of children aged 0-15 resident in a
deprived area, defined as top 20% most deprived
LSOA nationally

City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Executive Summary

6

61.8%
32,734 Children

Total
52,992 Children

38.2%
20,258 Children

1 City of Wolverhampton Council Early Years Strategy 2017 – 2021, p16Page 134



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Executive Summary

1.2 Strategic Context
This vision is a key feature of the City of Wolverhampton Council’s
approach to meeting its statutory duties as an advocate for parents and
families, supporting vulnerable children and championing educational
excellence. It offers a framework to guide the future development of the
school estate in the City.

Underpinning the Council’s Corporate Plan, Wolverhampton’s Children,
Young People and Families Plan 2015-2025 and the Joint Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy this document details the
basic need challenge facing the City and outlines the approach adopted
by the Council to meet this challenge.

The City of Wolverhampton Council’s Corporate Plan 2016 - 2019
“prioritises economic development and regeneration to bring jobs,
growth and opportunity to local people and businesses”.2 A significant
part of the City’s regeneration is the objective of directly delivering 1000
homes in the next five years which “will encourage more people to set
down their roots in the City, further contributing to economic growth”.3

The new homes that will be constructed across the City during 2018-
2020 and beyond will generate new pupils and have an impact on the
availability of places within the school estate. Potential housing
development sites and their estimated delivery timescales are subject to
on-going change. The School Organisation Team carefully monitor
anticipated future housing development on a quarterly basis to gauge
likely pupil yields in each Wolverhampton City Ward to ensure alignment
and inform annual pupil projections.

Over the longer term the City’s population is predicted to grow by 8.9%
by 2037, to 273,300, with residents aged 19 and below expected to
increase by 7%. Currently children and young people under the ages of
18 years make up 22.9% of the total population in Wolverhampton.4

Therefore pupil yield growth is likely to remain an issue in the medium to
longer term and this will be taken into account when making longer term
plans for housing development across the City.

7

2 City of Wolverhampton Council, Corporate Plan 2016 - 2019, p2
3 City of Wolverhampton Council, Corporate Plan 2016 - 2019, p4
4 City of Wolverhampton Council, Early Years Strategy 2017 - 2021, p14Page 135



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Executive Summary

We recognise the need for Wolverhampton’s school estate to continue
to develop to meet the changing needs of children in the City. This vision
recommends that a longer term, estate wide approach to school place
planning is adopted that both maximises the use of existing facilities and
develops flexible provision. The development of flexible provision and
facilities will ensure that the estate is ideally positioned to meet both
fluctuating demographic requirements and the changing needs of
students.

The Vision for School Organisation in Wolverhampton 2018-2020,
aligned with the Council’s School Improvement and Governance
Strategy, seeks to secure sufficient high-quality school places to
improve educational outcomes across the City. The vision recognises
the Council’s role in ensuring an appropriate number of school places
and in influencing the quality of education provided regardless of how
schools are organised or governed.  

8

Our key principles are

• The right of every child to fulfil their potential

• The needs of local communities

• The value of partnership working

• To respond effectively to the dynamic demographic position

• To consider the sustainability of the school estate

• To ensure resources are used efficiently

• To improve educational outcomes in order to support the longer term
development and prosperity of the City

• Promoting choice and diversity of provision.

Page 136



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Executive Summary

1.3 Key Statutory Duties
Councils are under a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient
school places in their area, promote high educational standards, ensure fair
access to educational opportunity and promote the fulfilment of every
child’s educational potential. The Schools Admissions Code states that
“Parents may seek a place for their child outside of their normal age group,
for example, if the child is gifted and talented or has experienced problems
such as ill health”5. They must also ensure that there are sufficient schools
in their area, promote diversity and increase parental choice.

The Local Authority, in fulfilling its statutory obligation6, writes to
parents/carers of children in Year 9 attending a school in the City of
Wolverhampton annually to inform them of the opportunities available
in relation to schools with atypical points of admission. 
The correspondence encourages parents/carers to consider the
options available to their child as they move into Year 10, providing
guidance on the type of schools and context, specifically in relation to
University Technical Colleges (UTCs) and Studio Schools. The letter
informs parents on how to apply for a place at schools with atypical
admission points that are within a reasonable travelling distance of the
City of Wolverhampton, this includes West Midlands UTC and Health 
Futures UTC.

9

Primary Context

There is a legal requirement that any class containing infant aged
children (five, six and seven year olds) will not exceed a maximum of 30
pupils with a single class teacher, other than when an additional pupil
admitted fits the criteria for an ‘excepted’ pupil (as defined in the School
Admissions Code).

In September 2015, the Department for Education (DfE) announced
their intention to give summer-born children the right to start in
Reception at the age of 5. Children usually start school in the
September after they turn 4 but parents of summer-born children (born
between 1 April and 31 August) can ask to delay entry into school for a
year, they can also ask for early admission or delayed transfer to school
(admission outside of normal age group).

6 School Information Regulations 2017
5 Department of Education, Schools Admissions Code December 2014, (p. 25 para. 2.17)

Page 137



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Executive Summary

10

Secondary Context

In 2015, Central Government raised the age of participation to 18. 
Local Authorities are required to develop a local strategy against the
following criteria:

• To work with schools, colleges, training providers and employers to
ensure a sufficient local curriculum offer

• To provide careers advice from year 8 to year 13 – minimal statutory
role focussing on supporting vulnerable learners

• To track and record young people’s progression from education 
and training

• To identify numbers of NEET (young people not in education,
employment or training) or “unknowns” on local Client Caseload
Information Systems

• To provide additional support for young people with special needs
(age 25); those in care; young offenders; young parents or those 
with specific support needs including mental health and 
substance misuse.

The Department for Education monitors progress against the above
criteria and evaluates performance against national targets.

Aspiration

We will continue existing, and further expand, collaboration
arrangements with educational establishments in the City including
secondary schools/academies, the University of Wolverhampton and
the City of Wolverhampton College

Page 138



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Executive Summary

1.4 Partnership Working

The Council recognises the value of sustaining an effective partnership
with all schools regardless of their status or governance arrangements
and we have established a strong working partnership with Free
Schools, Academies, Trusts, the Department for Education, the
Education Funding Agency, the Regional Schools Commissioner for the
West Midlands, neighbouring Local Authorities, private sector partners
and local Diocesan Authorities. 

The City of Wolverhampton Council encourages partnership working
across education in the City in order to provide the broadest curriculum
possible. This can be achieved through the co-commissioning of Post
16 provision and the strengthening of other provision such as the
curriculum offer from the West Midlands UTC.

Opportunity

Since 2013 four Free Schools have opened in Wolverhampton and have
become part of the school community. We have embraced
opportunities for Free Schools to expand in the City to meet basic need;
however, introducing additional Free School provision in geographically
appropriate locations and in a timely manner presents a significant
challenge. To ensure that the needs of families and students in
Wolverhampton can continue to be met effectively it may, on occasion,
be necessary for the Council to adopt a more responsive approach to
school place planning and to develop contingency plans to cater for
external influences on the supply of school places.

Aspiration

We will:

• Work closely with Diocesan Authorities to ensure that an appropriate
balance of denominational and community places are available

• Avoid the need for compulsory redundancy, where possible

• Promote equal opportunities and that particular groups of children
are not disadvantaged.

11

Page 139



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Executive Summary

1.5 School Size

We recommend that primary schools in the City provide a minimum of
30 places per year group (one form entry) and a maximum of 90 places
per year group (three form entry). This will ensure the efficient use of
resources, whilst avoiding the loss of a more personal primary ethos.

Admission limits will be managed in accordance with Infant Class Size
Regulations and to promote the most efficient use of resources. This
vision recommends that admission limits, which exceed a form of entry
(i.e. 30 pupils), are either set as full forms of entry (multiples of 30) or half
forms of entry (multiples of 15).

Larger primary schools (2 form entry and above) can potentially offer: 

• greater opportunity for specialism

• a workforce that has a wider spectrum of experience and expertise

• increased opportunity to offer a broad and balanced curriculum

• greater flexibility to cover staff absence

• increased potential to provide strategic leadership succession
opportunities

• the opportunity to use resources more efficiently

• an increased ability to respond to change more readily. 

We recommend that to ensure the efficient use of resources and to
support the longer-term viability of individual establishments, secondary
schools in the City offer a minimum of 150 places per year group 
(Year 7 to 11).

12

Page 140



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Executive Summary

Larger secondary schools can potentially offer: 

• an increased opportunity to respond effectively to change

• greater flexibility to cover staff absence

• increased opportunity to provide leadership succession opportunities

• increased opportunity to use resources more efficiently. 

Opportunity

The Vision for School Organisation in Wolverhampton 2018-2020
supports the development of larger primary or secondary schools,
where appropriate.

13

Page 141



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Executive Summary

1.6 The Autonomous School System
Central Government policy initiatives, including the establishment of
Free Schools and University Technical Colleges coupled with the
conversion of schools to academy status, have recently changed the
landscape in which education and the Council’s statutory responsibilities
are delivered. Figure 2 illustrates the diverse range of education
provision in Wolverhampton.

Figure 2: Provision of establishment types 
within Wolverhampton

14

SECONDARY
Establishment Type Number

Academy - Secondary 13

Community - Secondary 3

Free School - Secondary 1

University Technical College 1

Voluntary Aided - Secondary 1

Total 19

SPECIAL SCHOOL
Establishment Type Number

Academy - Special School 3

Community - Special School 4

Free School - Special School 1

Total 8

PUPIL REFERRAL UNIT
Establishment Type Number

Academy - Pupil Referral Unit 1

Community - Pupil Referral Unit 3

Total 4

PRIMARY
Establishment Type Number

Infant School - Community 2

Infant School - Voluntary Controlled 1

Infant School - Academy 1

Junior School - Community 2

Junior School - Voluntary Controlled 1

Junior School - Academy 1

Primary Academy 29

Primary Community School 23

Primary Free School 2

Primary - Voluntary Aided 6

Primary - Voluntary Controlled 5

Total 73

Source: City of Wolverhampton Council, List of Educational Establishments February 2018
Please note The Royal School Wolverhampton is a free all through school.Page 142



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Executive Summary

15

Legislation dictates that, when considering the establishment of a new
school, Free School/Academy proposals should be considered in the first
instance and that Academy Trusts can apply directly to the Secretary of
State to make significant changes to individual establishments.

To enable a localised approach when developing solutions and reporting
upon school organisation, the City has been divided into four planning areas
for the primary estate (see Appendix A) and three planning areas for the
secondary estate (see Appendix B). This approach allows the School
Organisation Team to recognise the differing pressures facing local
communities across the City. It should be noted that given the significant
variations in both localised demand and the popularity of individual
establishments, balancing levels of surplus across all schools is a significant
challenge; adopting a planned, strategic approach to school place planning
maximises opportunities to meet localised demand for school places and for
individual establishments’ positions to be considered.

1.7 Surplus Place Position
Surplus places are school places that have not been filled. A level of
surplus is essential to offer increased opportunity for parental preference
to be reflected in allocations, to allow for fluctuations in demand, to offer
flexibility to cater for mid-year entrants and offers a level of protection to
less popular schools. Too few surplus places can result in reduced
opportunity for parental choice, increased travel times, and increased
class sizes. However, too many surplus places can lead to the inefficient
use of resources. 

Aspiration

We aspire to offer pupils a school place within their local community.
In order to facilitate this, we recommend a minimum level of surplus
within each year group of 5% (against admission number) is available at
a citywide level.

We recommend that a school place is available within a maximum
walking distance of two miles (for a child under 8 years old) and up to a
maximum of three miles (for a child over 8). To ensure that pupils can
access a local school and that travel times are reasonable. 

An annual dialogue will be established between representatives of
Education and Transportation to review school access routes and
citywide transportation requirements.

Page 143



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Executive Summary

1.8 Cross Border Movement
One of the key factors influencing demand for secondary school places
in the City, particularly in secondary schools, is the cross-border
movement of students. It is essential that we monitor trends in the
number of pupils educated in Wolverhampton residing outside of the
City (imports) against those pupils educated outside of the City residing
in Wolverhampton (exports).

Over the last two years in Wolverhampton the difference between
imports and exports to the City has narrowed. Although the City of
Wolverhampton has remained a net exporter of pupils, the number of
imports into the City has increased against a decreasing number of
exports. This indicates that schools within Wolverhampton have
become increasingly popular with pupils residing both within the 
City and outside of its borders. This shift is particularly prevalent within
the secondary sector, with a significant reduction in the net exports
since 2015. 

In terms of the primary sector, between 2007 and 2015 the gap
between pupil imports to the City and exports out of the City increased
significantly, however more recently this trend has reversed with a 16%
reduction in the gap in imports and exports from 2015 to 2017. 
In January 2017, the City had 812 primary pupil imports and 1293
exports, remaining a net exporter with a difference of -481 (-2.1% of
school population). 

Overall, in terms of the secondary sector, from 2007 to 2015 the gap
between pupil imports to the City and exports out of the City has
gradually reduced, however since 2015 to 2017 this gap has grossly
reduced by a significant 52%. In January 2017, the City had 1,670
secondary pupil imports and 2341 exports, remaining a net exporter
with a difference of -671 (-4.7% of school population). 

16

Page 144



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Executive Summary

Figure 3: Difference between Imports and Exports by
National Curriculum Year as a percentage of the
school population (January 2017)

17

0

-1

-2

-3

-4

-5

-6

-7

-8

-9

-10

R         Y1        Y2        Y3       Y4        Y5        Y6        Y7        Y8        Y9       Y10      Y11

-1.4      -1.6      
-1.0

      
-1.9

      

-2.6

      

-3.1

     

-2.6

      

-3.1

     -1.5      

-6.2

      

-5.2

      

-8.6

Di
ffe

re
nc

e 
(%

)

Primary Secondary

Source: Department for Education (2017)

Figure 3 illustrates the City’s net exports per National Curriculum Year.
The graph clearly indicates the narrowing of the gap between imports to
the City and exports out of the City in the primary phase of education
compared to the secondary phase. In January 2017, the City had a net
export of -1.4 as a percentage of the total school population for the
Reception phase and -2.6 for Year 6. However, in the secondary phase
the gap between the imports and exports is significantly wider, with a
net export of -3.1 as a percentage of the total school population in Year
7 and -8.6 in Year 11. This trend indicates less fluidity of movement out
of the City during the primary phase. 

If the difference between those imports into the City and exports out of
the City continue to follow this trend, then levels of demand for school
places within the City will increase the strain on resources and additional
capacity would be required to cater for the demand.   

Page 145



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Primary School Organisation

18

Levels of demand for primary school provision across the City have
increased significantly in recent years, as illustrated in Figure 4. This
upsurge has been primarily driven by an increase of 24% in the number of
births to Wolverhampton residents between 2002 and 2016.7

To meet demand, the Council has recently invested heavily in the provision
of additional primary school places in a number of areas of high demand
across the City. Recent expansion schemes have been funded through a
combination of both central capital funding and constrained Council
resources. Since September 2012, Primary School Expansion
Programmes have introduced an additional 2,715 additional primary
school places across 21 existing primary schools. In addition, two Free
Schools have opened, (Nishkam Primary School Wolverhampton in
September 2013 and The Royal School Wolverhampton in September
2016). There remains uncertainty in respect of future central government
capital funding allocations to meet basic need in the medium term.

Figure 4: 2017 Projected Citywide Reception Cohorts 

2
Primary School Organisation

3,500

3,480

3,460

3,440

3,420

3,400

3,380

3,360

3,340

3,320

3,300

3,371

3,479

3,446

3,481 3,481

Reception Start Date

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
nu

m
be

r o
f p

up
ils

2017/18               2018/19              2019/20               2020/21             2021/22

Source: City of Wolverhampton Council, School Organisation Forecasts 2017
7 Office for National Statistics

Page 146



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Primary School Organisation

19

As demand has increased, the number of surplus school places has
reduced and levels of surplus within some primary year groups are now
constrained. Surplus places are school places that have not been filled.

Figure 5 illustrates levels of surplus in each national curriculum year
group on a Planning Area and citywide level, and Appendix C highlights
recent fluctuations in the size of individual cohorts. Levels of in-year
growth have accelerated in recent years; anecdotal evidence suggests
that this growth is also being experienced by neighbouring Local
Authorities and is likely to be the consequence of migration rates.

Figure 5: Primary Surplus by National Curriculum
Year Group (with Planning Area level)

* Please note that in order to meet levels of demand in specific hotspots that a minority of primary
schools in the City have introduced additional capacity by agreeing to admit significantly above their
admission limits.

R 3338 26 38 49 84 197 (5.6%)

1 3547 23 12 29 62 126 (3.4%)

2 3644 15 14 31 33 93 (2.5%)

3* 3417 21 10 15 52 98 (2.8%)

4* 3291 18 30 20 60 128 (3.8%)

5* 3320 14 18 9 35 76 (2.3%)

6* 3248 10 12 5 19 46 (1.4%)

National 
Curriculum
Year Group
(2017/18)

Number on
Roll (Spring
2018
Census)

Planning
Area 1

Planning
Area 2

Planning
Area 3

Planning
Area 4

Citywide Surplus
Places Against
Admissions Limits
(Percentage)

Page 147



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Secondary School Organisation

20

3

Levels of demand for secondary school provision in Wolverhampton are
expected to increase significantly in the future as the bulge in pupil
numbers in the City’s primary schools moves through to the secondary
estate. The Secondary School Expansion Programme 2017-2019 will
provide 470 permanent Year 7 places and 114 temporary Year 7 places.
In addition the all-through school, The Royal Wolverhampton, opened in
September 2016 and the West Midlands University Technical College
opened in September 2015. The City faces a considerable challenge to
ensure that sufficient high quality school places are available to meet the
needs of local communities. 

The recently observed growth in the size of younger secondary cohorts
is expected to accelerate in the short to medium term and projections
suggest that between 2017/18 and 2022/23 Year 7 cohorts are likely to
grow by 23%.

Secondary School Organisation

3,097
3,337 3,451 3,416

3,546
3,801 3,689

2017/18      2018/19       2019/20      2020/21       2021/22      2022/23       2023/24

4,000

3,5000

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
nu

m
be

r o
f p

up
ils

Source: City of Wolverhampton Council, School Organisation Forecasts 2017

Figure 6: Projected Citywide Year 7 Cohorts 

Page 148



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Secondary School Organisation

As evident in Wolverhampton’s primary school estate, the City has
recently experienced an acceleration in the in-year growth of some
existing secondary cohorts (see Appendix D). Council representatives
are closely monitoring fluctuations in the size of existing cohorts to
ensure that incoming students can access educational provision within
a reasonable distance of their home address. 

As shown by Figure 7, currently the level of surplus in secondary
schools remains above the 5% that this strategy recommends for
secondary schools, however the number of surplus places varies
considerably across year groups. It should be noted that in the coming
years surplus places are expected to be constrained as existing primary
cohorts progress through the education system.

21

7 3,068 49 151 N/A 200 (6.2%)

8 3,007 48 150 N/A 198 (6.3%)

9 2,932 87 124 N/A 211 (6.7%)

10 2,791 114 125 88 327 (10.6%)

11 2,608 236 185 89 510 (16.4%)

National 
Curriculum
Year Group
(2017/18)

Number on
Roll (Spring
2018
Census)

Planning
Area 1

Planning
Area 2

Planning
Area 3

Citywide Surplus
Places Against
Admissions Limits
(Percentage)

Figure 7: Secondary Surplus by National Curriculum
Year Group (with Planning Area level)

Page 149



City of Wolverhampton Council

The Introduction of Additional School Places

22

4

To meet rising demand for school places the Council will continue to
consider, where feasible, the expansion of existing schools across the
City. To safeguard the sustainability of the school estate, the expansion
of existing schools will be investigated in the first instance, prior to
considering the introduction of new provision.

However, it should be noted that, given the scale of recent expansion
programmes, there are a limited number of remaining opportunities
available within the existing school estate. Based on this we would need
to consider the cost effectiveness of expanding existing schools against
the introduction of new schools.

All new schools or new refurbishments and expansions will be compliant
with the Disability Discrimination Act 2005. Any planning for school
expansions or new schools will take account of the need to continue to
align and balance planned housing development and future school
place planning.

The Introduction of 
Additional School Places 

Page 150



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

The Introduction of Additional School Places

23

Factors we consider when prioritising potential school
expansion schemes:

• Parental Preference - schools which are most popular with parents 

• School Performance - schools judged as ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ 
by Ofsted 

• Attainment - schools whose results consistently exceed floor
standards 

• School Leadership - schools with stable and proven leadership

• Location - schools located within areas of high demand, taking into
account local regeneration and housing development priorities

• Viability for expansion - schemes which can be most easily and
efficiently implemented.

The Council is committed to ensuring the implementation of practical
solutions to meet the basic need challenge and will work closely with
schools and Academy Trusts to develop appropriate schemes that
consider pupils’ needs and support the effective delivery of the
curriculum. When an expanding school is in the process of converting to
academy status, the Council will seek to ensure that legal mechanisms
are employed to ensure that the needs of the City are fulfilled and any
approved investment is secured for the future. The Council’s legal
representatives will seek to include reference to the enlarged capacity
within relevant Commercial Transfer Agreements and representations will
be made to the DfE to request that Funding Agreements reflect the
capacity post-expansion.

Page 151



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

The Introduction of Additional School Places

24

The expansion of a school can present challenges for schools and a
school may require additional support from the School Improvement
Team. This support will be reflected in the school categorisation and the
time allocated to each school.

Parental Preference and Expansions

The Council’s policy of prioritising popular and successful schools for
expansion has proved successful. 

Despite the significant growth in demand in 2017/18

• Primary 86% of on time applicants were offered a Reception place in
their first preference school and 96% were offered a place in one of
the preferred schools

• Secondary 78% of on time applicants were offered a Year 7 place in
their first preference school and 96% were offered a place in one of
the preferred schools.

4.1 The Growth Fund
To support the needs of students in expanding schools and in line with
the Education Funding Agency’s recommended approach, the Council
will seek continued support from Schools’ Forum for a Growth Fund to
support resultant revenue needs of schools which are required to
provide extra places to meet basic need. 

Schools currently qualify for funding through the Growth Fund in the
following circumstances:

• The school or academy has agreed with the LA to permanently
increase its admission limit to meet basic need

• The school or academy has agreed with the LA to provide a bulge
class to meet basic need

• The school or academy has agreed with the LA to expand in-year to
meet basic need.

Page 152



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

The Introduction of Additional School Places

It should be noted that secondary schools have not previously 
required support via the Growth Fund.  Due to the need to introduce
additional secondary school places in the City, there will be a 
demand for the Growth Fund as a result of the 2018-19 Secondary
Expansion Programme.  

It is recognised that school funding is currently under review by Central
Government and that at present there remains uncertainty regarding
future funding mechanisms. 

Aspiration

We recognise the need for expanding schools to receive appropriate
funding, in a timely manner, to meet students’ needs.

4.2 Bulge Classes 
In specific circumstances, where local demand is predicted to rise and
then fall within a short period of time, the Council will consider the
introduction of bulge classes. These are time limited expansions of the
capacity of individual year groups within a school, for example, a
temporary increase of a school’s admission limit by one form of entry in
an individual year group to meet demand. Bulge classes will only be
considered when the permanent expansion of a school to meet demand
would not be sustainable.

4.3 Additional Capacity in Existing Cohorts
As illustrated in Figures 5 and 7 some existing school cohorts have
grown significantly and demonstrated in-year fluctuations, resulting in
reduced levels of surplus. It is recognised that as demand increases and
levels of surplus reduce, that the introduction of additional capacity into
existing cohorts may need to be considered in the future. To ensure that
pupils can access school provision within a reasonable distance of their
home address, the Council has worked closely with schools to
introduce additional capacity into existing cohorts to cater for rising
demand as required. 

25

Page 153



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

The Introduction of Additional School Places

26

We recommend that the introduction of additional capacity into
existing cohorts is only considered in response to significant
demographic challenges and to support the needs of local
communities. We recognise that introducing additional capacity, at
points other than standard years of entry, can potentially destabilise
both individual cohorts and the wider school estate.

To support the needs of pupils in schools that introduce additional
capacity into existing cohorts, the Council will seek continued approval
from Schools’ Forum through the Growth Fund to support the resultant
revenue needs of schools.

4.4 Vertical Grouping
Vertical Grouping (or the employment of mixed age classes) is most
commonly employed in primary schools with intakes of 45 or 75 and
works successfully in many schools across the City. However, the use of
this structure can increase the complexity of planning and delivering the
curriculum. 

When an opportunity or need arises consultation will be conducted with
Headteachers and Governors to consider increasing or reducing
admission limits in schools with existing 45 or 75 admission limits.

We recommend that the introduction of additional 45 or 75 
admission limits only be considered once other practical solutions 
have been exhausted.  

4.5 Temporary Accommodation
Across the school estate in the City a small proportion of schools’
schedules of accommodation include temporary facilities. Whilst it is
recognised that the quality of temporary accommodation has improved
significantly in recent years, this strategy requires that the replacement
of temporary accommodation is prioritised, where appropriate.

Page 154



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Removal of Maintained Provision / Discontinuance of Maintained Provision

27

In certain circumstances the Council will consider the removal of
maintained provision.

We will consider the closure of a school if the school meets two or more
of the following criteria:

• The school is judged Inadequate by Ofsted

• The performance of pupils at the school is unacceptably low

• The school has a significant number of surplus places

• There are significant suitability issues in respect of the school’s
accommodation and/or site

• Closure could be effected without denying any pupils access to at
least one alternative school with available places within a maximum
of two miles or 3 miles (walking distance of primary and secondary
respectively) of their home

• The substantive Headteacher has left or is leaving.

Prior to initiating any statutory processes to close a school, the Council
will consult with the school’s Headteacher and the Chair of the school’s
Governing Board to discuss how the criteria may apply to their school. 

As part of this process the Council will review and consult with schools’
Governing Boards regarding:

• The likely impact of a school’s closure on other schools in the local
area, taking account of numbers on roll and the capacity of schools
to enhance provision for children and families

• Projected levels of future demand

• The importance of the school to the wider community

• The condition, suitability and sufficiency of school facilities.

5
Removal of Maintained Provision /
Discontinuance of Maintained Provision

Page 155



City of Wolverhampton Council

Removal of Maintained Provision / Discontinuance of Maintained Provision

5.1 Intervention 
The Council will consider proposing the adoption of structural solutions
(including both federation and sponsored academy status) to improve
standards in underperforming schools (federations only in primary). 

5.2 Change Management
It is recognised that making significant changes to individual
establishments can have a disruptive effect on the delivery of education.
This vision requires that any school reorganisation or development
scheme seeks to minimise disruption and avoid any longer-term
detriment to students.

28

Page 156



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Removal of Maintained Provision / Discontinuance of Maintained Provision

5.3 Federations
Federations offer schools the opportunity to share best practice and
support one another. The term federation is used to describe the
creation of formal shared governance structures, which enable schools
to raise standards and enhance provision by sharing resources, staff,
expertise and facilities. There are a variety of federation models that
allow schools to choose which model best suits their needs. 

Regardless of the federation model adopted, individual schools retain
their identity, continue to receive individual school budgets, have
separate Ofsted inspections and report on performance individually.

Federating schools can have many benefits, including:

• Providing a structured way for schools to learn from each other and
share best practice

• Offering opportunities for improved teaching and learning through
increased specialism

• Building capacity across the federation

• Saving on planning and administration time

• Offering better support and development opportunities for 
School Governors

• Providing broader career opportunities across the federation

• Extending curriculum entitlement.

5.4 Sponsored Academies
In certain circumstances, the Council will facilitate the sponsorship of
schools to become academies or support eligible schools to convert to
academy status. Such steps will only be taken to support the overall
improvement of education in the City, including the raising of pupils’
attainment and progress.

Where appropriate, the Council will work with other agencies to identify
locally sourced sponsors to support the conversion of schools.

We recommend the adoption of structural solutions (including federations
and sponsored academy status) and seek to influence the implementation
of effective governance arrangements that promote school improvement
and advance the quality of education across the City.

29

Page 157



An ‘All-through school’ is a school which provides both primary and
secondary education. 

Opportunity

To improve the diversity of the school estate in Wolverhampton the
introduction of all-through schools will be explored, where appropriate.

Successful all-through schools can offer many benefits including:

• Reducing the number of transitions children face and reducing the
risk of delayed learning at the start of secondary school

• Extending opportunities available to primary pupils; all-through
schools can offer primary age pupils early access to specialist
subject teaching and facilities

• Providing an additional opportunity to fully utilise the whole school
estate to meet the anticipated future primary basic need challenge

• Providing school staff with wider career development opportunities

• Offering cost savings through economies of scale.

The introduction of all-through provision will only be considered where
there is a demonstrable need for additional capacity in the local area
and all-though provision would be an appropriate solution.

All-through Schools

6

City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

All-through Schools

30

Page 158



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Specialist Provision

31

7
Specialist Provision

In January 2018, there were eight special schools in Wolverhampton:

Establishment

Broadmeadow

Special School 

Green Park School

Northern House

School (City of

Wolverhampton)

Penn Fields 

Special School

Penn Hall School

Tettenhall Wood

School

Westcroft School

Wolverhampton

Vocational Training

Centre

School Type

Academy

Community

Academy

Community

Community

Community

Academy

Free School

Age

Range

2-7

3-19

7-16

5-19

3-19

5-19

5-19

16-18

SEND Designation

Physical Disability 

Severe Learning Difficulty

Severe Learning Difficulty

Profound and Multiple Learning Difficulty

Speech, Language and Communication

Social, Emotional and Mental Health

Physical Disability

Moderate Learning Difficulty

Specific Learning Difficulty

Speech, Language and Communication

Autistic Spectrum Disorder

Moderate Learning Difficulty

Severe Learning Difficulty

Physical Difficulty

Autistic Spectrum Disorder

Moderate Learning Difficulty

Severe Learning Difficulty

Specific Learning Difficulty

Visual Impairment

Hearing Impairment

Speech, Language and Communication

Autistic Spectrum Disorder

Social, Emotional and Mental Health

Moderate Learning Difficulty

Severe Learning Difficulty

Page 159



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Specialist Provision

In January 2018, there were eleven mainstream schools with resource
base provision:

32

Establishment

Aldersley High School

Bilston Nursery School

Castlecroft Primary School

Colton Hills 

Community School

East Park Academy

Low Hill Nursery School

Palmers Cross Primary School

Springdale Primary School

Smestow School

St Matthias School

Windsor Nursery School

School Type

Academy

LA Nursery

Community

Community

Academy

LA Nursery

Academy

Community

Academy

Community

LA Nursery

SEND Designation

Speech, Language and Communication

Severe/Complex Needs

Significant Difficulties

Visual Impairment

Physical Disability

Hearing Impaired

Severe/Complex Needs

Significant Difficulties

Speech, Language and Communication

Speech, Language and Communication

Visual Impairment

Hearing Impairment

Severe/Complex Needs

Significant Difficulties

Page 160



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Specialist Provision

33

Local Authorities are required to keep their local offer of services and
provision for children and young people with Special Educational Needs
and/or Disabilities (SEND) under review, in consultation with parents,
young people, schools and other institutions. The Council recommends
that the commissioning of specialist educational provision is informed by
the production of an annual SEND Commissioning Intentions document
which outlines both the current and anticipated future needs of students
with Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND). This needs
analysis will provide increased transparency and be used to inform the
development of an effective graduated response. The timely
determination and publication of commissioning requirements will
support providers to effectively plan and meet students’ needs.

We recommend that the development of provision for students with
SEND is guided by the following principles:

• Local solutions are developed to support a reduction in the required
number of out of City placements.

• The number of transitions experienced by children with SEND should
be minimised wherever possible.

• Solutions should be developed to offer opportunities for students
with SEND to attend mainstream provision, unless doing so 
would be incompatible with the provision of efficient education for
other children.

Page 161



Early Years provision has a legal duty to generate a report on Childcare
Sufficiency Assessment and is organised into four localities, split into
eight areas, detailing current supply and demand of registered childcare.
The Local Authority offers support, advice and guidance to registered
childcare providers who work within the Early Years Statutory
Framework. The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) provides details
of legislation on welfare requirements and learning and development.
Support is also offered to families through programmes such as Home
learning, Bookstart and the Parent Champion programme8. 

City of Wolverhampton Council have published an Early Years Strategy
for parents and professionals. The strategy is based on the assumption
that parents are the first educator and to ensure that there is a robust
system in place to support them in this vital role. The Local Authority is
committed to: 

• Putting the best interests of the child at the heart of decision making 

• Taking a holistic approach to the wellbeing of a child 

• Working with children, young people and their families on ways to
improve wellbeing 

• Advocating preventative work and early intervention to support
young children and their families ensuring they are appropriately
safeguarded 

• Believing professionals must work together in the best interests 
of the child. 

City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Early Years Provision

34

Early Years Provision

8

8City of Wolverhampton Council, Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2017

Page 162



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Early Years Provision

35

The Early Years Strategy has four work plans; Parental Engagement,
Workforce Development, High Quality Education and Good Family
Health. These are live documents that highlight areas of development to
support in providing good quality experiences for families across the
City, contributing to improving children’s outcomes for learning. An
identified key area for development is to ensure children are ready for
school, to support this, a school readiness definition has been agreed9:

The Early Years Strategy states that “as a child starts full time schooling
within Wolverhampton, there is an expectation that children feel
prepared and ready to start school socially, emotionally and physically.
Children will be able to express their needs, feelings and wants. 
A school will ensure that children feel heard and understood by 
their practitioners. Leading to children being excited, enthused and
demonstrate a curiosity to learn both inside and outside of 
the classroom.”

The City continues through the work of the Early Intervention Service,
School Improvement and Standards team to strive to ensure that
schools, settings, childminders and all early year’s providers are
delivering high quality early years experiences. The Ofsted ratings for the
city continue to rise annually; the figures for all providers within the City
demonstrate this10.

9City of Wolverhampton Council, Early Years Strategy 2017-2021, p.9
10City of Wolverhampton Council, Early Years Strategy 2017-2021

Page 163



We recommend that whenever the Headship of a school becomes
vacant in an infant or junior school, the Council invites responsible
bodies (e.g. Governing Bodies or Trusts) to consider their merger or
amalgamation. For merger to be considered, the leadership of the
establishment that is proposed for expansion must be at least ‘Good’.

Bringing infant and junior schools together offers many 
advantages, including:

• Reducing the number of major transitions that pupils face

• Reducing the likelihood of lost learning at the beginning of 
Key Stage 2

• Increasing the opportunity for specialist teachers to work with 
a wider range of pupils

• Providing the opportunity for a consistent approach to the 
curriculum to be adopted

• Ensuring the continuity of teaching, learning and achievement

• Cost savings through economies of scale.

Please note that, in this context:

• The ‘merger’ of infant and junior schools is the process of joining the
schools together by discontinuing one establishment and expanding
and altering the age range of the other

• The term amalgamation relates to the process of joining the
schools together by discontinuing both establishments and creating
a new school.

City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Infant and Junior School Provision

36

Infant and Junior School Provision

9

Page 164



10.1 Current Places and Funding
Across the City of Wolverhampton there are a variety of post-16
providers, offering a mixture of qualifications to 16-19 year olds. 

In 2017-18 there were 5,475 funded Education Skills Funding Agency
(ESFA) places within the City. Post-16 provision varies significantly from
the secondary education phase due to a breadth of provision offered by
specialist academic and technical providers.  

Post 16 provision is based on lagged, (historic) learner numbers, 
the current allocation does not include capacity to grow or infrastructure
development of existing settings.

Effective collaboration between schools and City of Wolverhampton
College will be key to successful implementation of the governments
skills plan. The vision for School Organisation recognises the aspirations
of schools to have efficient and successful 6th form provision, and the
need to balance provision and its success between 6th forms and City
of Wolverhampton College. With regard to this, the impact of co-
commissioning of post 16 courses and any rationalisation of available
space will be considered when exploring any future secondary school
place planning activities.

10.2 Cross Border Movement
In Key Stage 4 and 5 the City exports more learners than we import.
The table below shows that in the academic year 2016-17 more
Wolverhampton residents aged (16-19) left the City compared to the
numbers from neighbouring Local Authority who travelled into
Wolverhampton. In this academic year there was a net loss of 
628 learners.

wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Post-16 Provision

37

10
Post-16
Provision

49%
School 6th forms

33%
City of 

Wolverhampton
College

13%
Vocational/technical provision
including apprenticeship and

16-19 study programmes
at training providers

5%
Other provision

The Post 16 landscape is made up of 24 organisations; 

Page 165



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Post-16 Provision

38

1,733

2,361

-628

Into Wolverhampton Out of Wolverhampton Net travel to learn

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

-500

-1,000

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
nu

m
be

r o
f p

up
ils

Figure 8: Post 16 Cross Border Movement 2016-17

Figure 9: Post 16 Cross Border Movement of pupils
to Wolverhampton from neighbouring Local
Authorities

Sufficiency needs are currently met in Wolverhampton due to the
number of learners exported and capacity within the existing Post 16
settings. However due to the forecasted bulge in Year 7 from 2016-17
to 2023-24 and a projected future growth in Post 16 numbers as a
consequence, the City could have a shortage in capacity of around
1,855 young people in 2028-2029.

Source: DFE ESFA Data Sets

Local Authority Export Import +/- migration

Dudley 933 208 -725 

Sandwell 244 159 -85 

Staffordshire 300 355 +55 

Walsall 382 315 -67 

Page 166



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Alternative Provision

39

11
Alternative Provision

Alternative provision is recognised by the Department for Education as,

“…education arranged by Local Authorities for pupils who,
because of exclusion, illness or other reasons, would not
otherwise receive suitable education; education arranged by
schools for pupils on a fixed period exclusion; and pupils being
directed by schools to off-site provision to improve their
behaviour.” (DfE 2013).

In January 2018, there were four Pupil Referral Units in Wolverhampton:

This strategy recognises the invaluable support that pupil referral units
provide to vulnerable students.  

A review of alternative provision is currently being undertaken which will
inform the development of an appropriate continuum of provision,
coupled with effective supporting practices.

Establishment Age Range

Midpoint Centre (Key Stage 4 PRU) 14-16

Northern House School 4-11
(City of Wolverhampton) Primary PRU

The Braybrook Centre (Key Stage 3 PRU) 11-13

The Orchard Centre (Home and Hospital PRU) 5-16

Page 167



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Estate Management

40

12
Estate Management

We recommend a long term approach to the management of
educational assets in order to ensure that fluctuations in demand can be
effectively and efficiently catered for.  Where appropriate, sites should be
reserved as contingency to cater for anticipated increases in demand,
such as that resulting from new housing developments.  

However, it should be recognised that adopting a longer-term approach
will result in short-term budgetary pressures for Corporate Landlord as
sites must be secured and maintained.

Any reserved sites that are included on the Council’s Disposal
Programme will impact on the Council’s ability to achieve its capital
receipt target.

Where circumstances arise that present the opportunity to use existing
school accommodation in different ways, this strategy would require
that priority is given to the provision of statutory school places.

Page 168



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Strategy Review

41

The strategy is subject to review on a biennial basis.

13
Strategy Review

Page 169



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Resources

42

City of Wolverhampton Council, Corporate Plan 2016 - 2019
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=10312&p=0

City of Wolverhampton Council, Early Years Strategy 2017 – 2021
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=11544&p=0 

City of Wolverhampton Council, Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2017
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14604&p=0 

Department of Education, Schools Admissions Code December 2014
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/up
loads/attachment_data/file/389388/School_Admissions_Code_2014_-
_19_Dec.pdf

14
Resources

Page 170

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=10312&p=0
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=11544&p=0
http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=14604&p=0
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/389388/School_Admissions_Code_2014_-_19_Dec.pdf


wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Appendix A

43

Appendix A:

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

Woden Primary

Manor Primary

Uplands Junior

Westacre Infant

Loxdale Primary

Bantock Primary

Nishkam Primary

Wood End Primary

Villiers Primary

Stowlawn Primary

Rakegate Primary

Wilkinson Primary

Whitgreave Junior
Whitgreave Infant

West Park Primary

Warstones Primary

Parkfield Primary

Merridale Primary

Graiseley Primary

Eastfield Primary

East Park Academy

Dovecotes Primary

Claregate Primary

Woodthorne Primary Trinity CE Primary

Stow Heath Primary

Springdale Primary

Perry Hall Primary

Oak Meadow Primary

Lanesfield Primary

Field View Primary

D'Eyncourt Primary

Bilston CE Primary

Berrybrook Primary

Wodensfield Primary

Spring Vale Primary

Long Knowle Primary

Hill Avenue Academy

Elston Hall Primary

Castlecroft Primary

St Paul's CE Primary

St Luke's CE Primary

St Thomas' CE Primary

St Alban's CE Primary

Palmers Cross Primary

Fallings Park Primary

Dunstall Hill Primary

Bushbury Lane Academy

Bushbury Hill Primary

St Martin's CE Primary

St Andrew's CE Primary

Northwood Park Primary

Goldthorn Park Primary

St Stephen's CE Primary

St Michael's CE Primary
Christ Church CE Junior

Christ Church CE Infant

Edward the Elder Primary

St Bartholomew's CE Primary

St Jude's CE Primary Academy

St Patrick's Catholic Primary

St Anthony's Catholic Primary

Holy Trinity Catholic Primary

The Royal School Wolverhampton

St Mary's Catholic Primary Academy

Woodfield Infant & Woodfield Junior

St Teresa's Catholic Primary Academy

Holy Rosary Catholic Primary Academy

Corpus Christi Catholic Primary Academy

St Michael's Catholic Primary Academy and Nursery

SS Peter and Paul Catholic Primary Academy and Nursery

Grove Primary & SS Mary & John's Catholic Primary Academy

Park

Oxley

Penn

Ettingshall

East Park

Bilston East

St.Peter's

Blakenhall

Bushbury North

Tettenhall Regis

Merry Hill

Heath Town

Graiseley

Spring Vale

Wednesfield South

Fallings Park

Tettenhall Wightwick

Bilston North

Bushbury South & Low Hill

Wednesfield North

Reproduced with the permission of Geographer's A-Z for the internal business use of Wolverhampton 
City Council. Licence CO218.

School Organisation (City of Wolverhampton Council) - January 2018

Legend
! Primary School Locations

Planning Area 1

Planning Area 2

Planning Area 3

Planning Area 4

Primary Provision Planning Areas 2018

N

Appendicies

Page 171



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Appendix B

Appendix B: 
Secondary Provision Planning Areas 2018

44

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

Heath Park

Moseley Park

Moreton School

St Matthias School

Ormiston SWB AcademyColton Hills Community School

Coppice Performing Arts School

The Khalsa Academy Wolverhampton

Our Lady & St Chad Catholic Academy

Wednesfield High Specialist Engineering Academy

West Midlands  UTC

Smestow School

Highfields School

Ormiston NEW Academy

Aldersley High School

Wolverhampton Girls' High

St Edmund's Catholic Academy

The Royal School Wolverhampton

The King's Church of England School

S. Peter's Collegiate School, A Church of England Academy

Park

Oxley

Penn

Ettingshall

East Park

Bilston East

St.Peter's

Blakenhall

Bushbury North

Tettenhall Regis

Merry Hill

Heath Town

Graiseley

Spring Vale

Wednesfield South

Fallings Park

Tettenhall Wightwick

Bilston North

Bushbury South & Low Hill

Wednesfield North

Reproduced with the permission of Geographer's
A-Z for the internal business use of Wolverhampton 
City Council. Licence CO218.

West Midlands UTC draws students from a wide 
area including out of City and therefore does not 
feature in a geographical planning area.

Please note: The Khalsa Academy Wolverhampton 
is shown at it's permanent site (due to be 
operational from September 2018)

School Organisation (City of Wolverhampton 
Council) - April 2018

Legend
Secondary Planning Area 1 East

Secondary Planning Area 2 West

! Secondary Planning Area 3 UTC

Wards

N

Page 172



wolverhampton.gov.uk A Place for Every Child

Appendix C

45

Appendix C:

Nu
m

be
r o

n 
Ro

ll (
M

ain
st

re
am

)

Current NCY

6 S
um

mer

6 S
pri

ng

6 A
utu

mn

5 S
um

mer

5 S
pri

ng

5 A
utu

mn

4 S
um

mer

4 S
pri

ng

4 A
utu

mn

3 S
um

mer

3 S
pri

ng

3 A
utu

mn

2 S
um

mer

2 S
pri

ng

2 A
utu

mn

1 S
um

mer

1 S
pri

ng

1 A
utu

mn

R Sum
mer

R Spri
ng

R Autu
mn

3,750

3,650

3,550

3,450

3,350

3,250

3,150

3,050

2,950

2,850

Year 1

Year 2
Reception

Year 3
Year 4

Year 5

Year 6

Primary Cohort Fluctuations 
(Autumn, Spring and Summer census data)

Page 173



City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Appendix D

46

Appendix D: 
Secondary Cohort Fluctuations 
(Autumn, Spring and Summer census data)

11
 Sum

mer

11
 Spri

ng

11
 Autu

mn

10
 Sum

mer

10
 Spri

ng

10
 Autu

mn

9 S
um

mer

9 S
pri

ng

9 A
utu

mn

8 S
um

mer

8 S
pri

ng

8 A
utu

mn

7S
um

mer

7S
pri

ng

7A
utu

mn

3,100

3,000

2,900

2,800

2,700

2,600

2,500

2,400

2,300

Nu
m

be
r o

n 
Ro

ll (
M

ain
st

re
am

)

Current NCY

Year 7

Year 8

Year 9

Year 10

Year 11

Page 174



@WolvesCouncil WolverhamptonTodayWolverhamptonToday

wolverhampton.gov.uk   01902 551155

City of Wolverhampton Council, Civic Centre, St. Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton  WV1 1SH

You can get this information 
in large print, Braille, audio or in another 
language by calling 01902 551155 
or order online here.

W
CC

 1
68

9 
05

.1
8

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2
EXTERNAL CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting ( 11 April 2018 )
	5 Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny Panel - draft work programme
	6 Children and Young People's Improvement Plan: 2017-2018
	Appendix 1 for Children and Young people's Improvement Plan
	Appendix 2 for Children and Young people's Improvement Plan
	Appendix 3 for Children and Young people's Improvement Plan
	Appendix 4 for Children and Young people's Improvement Plan

	7 The Vision For School Organisation in Wolverhampton 2018-2020
	DRAFT Vision for School Organisation Wolverhampton 2018 20
	APPENDIX 2 External Consultation Responses




